

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

# **Cultural-Centric Globalization Strategies for Increasing** Companies' Profitability

YAO KOSSI Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons, and the Cultural Resource Management and Policy Analysis

Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

#### Yao Kossi

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Matthew Knight, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Richard Johnson, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Neil Mathur, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

#### Abstract

Cultural-Centric Globalization Strategies for Increasing Companies' Profitability

by

Yao Kossi

BS, Metropolitan States University, 2011

MBA, Hamline University, 2013

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

#### Abstract

Contemporary business leaders require suitable leadership strategies, skills, capabilities, and competencies to lead individuals with culturally diverse backgrounds effectively. Local retail business executives have experienced complex leadership challenges leading international and intercultural teams when expanding business operations into global markets. The objective of this multiple case study was to explore leadership strategies local retail business leaders used to lead a global workforce. The target population included 3 local retail business leaders from Minnesota who had 6 to 8 years of global leadership experience. The composite conceptual framework that grounded this study was leadership and transformational leadership. Data were collected from semistructured, face-to-face interviews and organizational documents. Member checking was used to ensure trustworthiness of findings. The data analysis followed Yin's 5-phase process: compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding. Three themes emerged from the data analysis: cross-cultural awareness, cross-cultural challenges and competence, and cross-cultural leadership strategies. The findings from the study might contribute to positive social change by encouraging business leaders to explore business opportunities locally and globally, resulting in an understanding of cross-cultural differences, enhanced quality of cross-cultural work environments, increased job creation, and improved living standards for communities' citizens.

# Cultural-Centric Globalization Strategies for Increasing Companies' Profitability

by

## Yao Kossi

BS, Metropolitan States University, 2011

MBA, Hamline University, 2013

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

#### Dedication

My dedication goes to my sweetheart and wife Sibi Anna Lawson who supported and consistently encouraged me during the entire Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) process. You are not just a wife; you are my inspiration, my aspiration, my advocate, my best friend, my goal achiever, my life, and the pillars of my accomplishments. The DBA program was one of the most extended programs in my educational journey. The program took longer than anticipated because of unpredictable circumstances. I could not have completed the DBA program without your consistent and enthusiastic encouragement words which always positively reinforce my ability to regain courage and confidence.

My dedication also goes to my late father Koffi Kossi who helped build the foundation of this journey many years ago. I love you, dad. Even though I lost you when I needed you the most, I could not have finished high school if you did not leave money and resources behind. I also dedicate this study to my unknown late sweet mother Woevi Dilan who died 2 years after I was born. Hello mother, I always feel your presence every day, everywhere, and at all the time. I finally extended my appreciations to my two children, Shalom Kossi and Grace Kossi who helped their mother during my busy educational schedule.

## Acknowledgments

My gratitude goes to the chair, Dr. Matthew Knight for his unparalleled guidance, support, and professionalism during the DBA program. Dr. Matthew Knight has been the best institutional leader I encountered during my educational journey. Your patience, understanding, multicultural leadership competencies, recommendations, and positive attitude inspired me to overcome many struggles throughout this journey. My appreciation also goes to the second committee member Dr. Boyd Johnson for his directional support and timely feedback. Finally, I would like to thank my URR Dr. Neil Mathur and the program director Dr. Susan Davis for their valuable influence on my study.

## **Table of Contents**

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem.	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	3
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	6
	Operational Definitions	8
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
	Assumptions	9
	Limitations	10
	Delimitations	10
	Significance of the Study	10
	Contribution to Business Practice	11
	Implications for Social Change	11
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	13
	Globalization and Cross-Cultural Leadership	15
	Cross-Cultural Differences and Leadership	22
	Globalization and Ethical Leadership	29
	Leadership	31

Leadership Theories	33
Leadership and Organizational Culture	37
Transformational and Transactional Leadership	39
Charismatic and Transformational Leadership	42
The Importance of Effective Leadership in Business	44
Culture: History, Definition, and Impacts on Leadership	46
Culture and Leadership	51
Ethnocentrism, Prejudice, and Impacts on Leadership	54
Hofstede's Dimensions of Culture and Leadership Implications	55
Individualism-Collectivism	59
Masculinity-Femininity	60
Transition and Summary	60
Section 2: The Project	62
Purpose Statement	62
Role of the Researcher	63
Participants	65
Research Method and Design	66
Research Method	67
Research Design	69
Population and Sampling	73
Ethical Research	75
Data Collection Instruments	78

Data Collection Technique81	
Data Organization Technique84	
Data Analysis85	
Reliability and Validity89	
Reliability90	
Validity92	
Credibility93	
Transferability95	
Confirmability96	
Transition and Summary96	
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change98	
Introduction98	
Presentation of the Findings	
Theme 1: Cross-Cultural Awareness	
Theme 2: Cross-cultural challenges and competence	
Theme 3: Cross-Cultural Leadership Strategies	
Applications to Professional Practice	
Implications for Social Change	
Recommendations for Action	
Recommendations for Further Research	
Reflections	
Conclusion	

References	. 136
Appendix A: Interview Questions	. 181
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	. 182
Appendix C: Email Invitation to Participants	. 184

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Globalization is influencing leadership across the boundaries of the world because of cross-cultural differences (Kappagomtula, 2017). Organizational leaders' lack of awareness of cross-cultural leadership can influence and affect employees' motivation and their performance (Mital, 2015). Developing a global mindset and global leadership awareness because of the rise of globalization leading to cross-cultural differences is essential for global leaders of multinational companies (Bird & Mendenhall, 2016). In this study, I addressed interconnectedness of globalization and strategies for cross-cultural leadership for addressing global perspectives in the global business marketplace.

Organizational leaders with appropriate transformational leadership styles are essential to the growth and development of employees and the organization (Pradhan & Jena, 2019). The need for global leadership development and cross-cultural leadership training appears evident for multinational companies (Ardichvili, Natt och Dag, & Manderscheid, 2016; Miska & Öner, 2015; Volz-Peacock, Carson, & Marquardt, 2016). In this study, I explored leadership and perceptions of leadership.

#### **Background of the Problem**

As multinational companies expand globally, leadership challenges have been reported because of the unfamiliarity of cross-cultural differences in the host countries (Bird & Mendenhall, 2016; Buck, 2018; Hodges, & Howieson, 2017). Cross-cultural leadership issues are among the most central and most persistent factors that influence global business activities (Bird & Mendenhall, 2016). Kappagomtula (2017) characterized globalization as a need for organizational leaders to understand social

characteristics to enable efficient operations in different countries which has resulted in greater interest in cross-cultural leadership studies.

Researchers found that organizational leaders in multinational companies continued to lose business opportunities in the global market because of the lack of experience regarding the realities of cross-cultural responsiveness (Cleveland, Rojas-Méndez, Laroche, & Papadopoulos, 2016; Kauder & Potrafke, 2015; Mehrabanfar, 2015; Potrafke, 2015). Operating globally, company leaders face numerous cross-cultural challenges, such as understanding differences in communication patterns and styles, values, principles, organizational structures, preferences for leadership approach, management practices, and different paths of decision-making (Bird & Mendenhall, 2016). Unaddressed challenges of cross-cultural differences are causing leadership underperformance, and negatively affecting multinational organizations' forecasted profitability in the world market (Lakshman & Estay, 2016).

#### **Problem Statement**

As of 2014, approximately 39% of the United States organizational leaders failed to develop global business opportunities because of cross-cultural unawareness (Shirley, Fujiao, & Ben, 2014). Ekelund and Adl (2015) found that of more than 1,700 organizations in over 20 industries across 6 continents, 69% of these organizations implemented global leadership development initiatives to address cross-cultural perspectives. Circumstances such as cross-cultural differences, globalization, lack of cross-cultural leadership's competencies, skills, and capabilities, global leadership unawareness, and diversity affect multinational organizations' effectiveness

(Choromides, 2018; Mehrabanfar, 2015; Mital, 2015; Sukanya, 2015). The general business problem is that U.S. company leaders experience loss of revenue opportunities when their leaders lack cross-cultural leadership competencies, skills, and capabilities. The specific business problem is that some local retail business leaders lack cross-cultural strategies to expand business operations into global markets.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore cross-cultural leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to expand business operations into global markets. The target population of this study included leaders of three multinational companies located in Minnesota with successful experience growing companies internationally through leading employees with culturally diverse backgrounds. I focused on leaders who have developed cross-cultural leadership strategies leading culturally diverse employees at both local and global locations. Through semistructured, face-to-face interviews and companies' progress reports and financial records, I identified and explored cross-cultural strategies local retail business leaders developed and used to successfully lead culturally diverse employees at both local and global locations.

The implications for positive social change include improving local and global employees' job conditions, which may enhance community business sustainability. The findings of this research could positively support organizational leaders in sustainability efforts in job creation, promoting the dignity of global employees with diverse cultural backgrounds, increasing sales for businesses, improving the economy, and developing labor movement programs. The results of this study may contribute to social change by

helping local retail companies create employment opportunities, which could improve employees' living standards.

### **Nature of the Study**

I used a qualitative method for this study. Researchers use qualitative methods to explore the what, who, how, and why of phenomena and ask open-ended questions (Choromides, 2018; Enosh & Ben-Ari, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Quantitative researchers test hypotheses for examining numerical data and explaining relationships among variables (Basias & Pollalis, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Park & Park, 2016; Ritchie & Ormoston, 2014; Yin, 2018). I did not select the quantitative method because testing any predetermined hypotheses about variables' relationships was not applicable for this study's purpose. The intent of qualitative research is to provide a close-up view, a deeper and richer understanding within a specific context, which is not the focus of quantitative research (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). The mixed-methods methodology is a combination of both qualitative and quantitative research methods (Yin, 2018). The mixed method was not appropriate for this study as there was no quantitative element. The qualitative method was appropriate because I explored the cross-cultural leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to expand business operations into global markets.

Qualitative researchers can select from several research designs, including phenomenological, ethnographic, and case study. A case study design is useful for research within a defined space and timeframe, thereby providing a detailed and intensive analysis of a particular event, situation, organization, or social unit (Ridder, 2017; Yin,

2018). The researcher can use a multiple case study design to study various organizations' experiences regarding a particular business problem (Yin, 2018). Phenomenology encompasses exploring the essence of the personal meanings of participants experiencing phenomena (Kruth, 2015). In ethnography design, researchers attempt to understand human culture (Government Service Design Manual, 2014). Exploring the unique nature of participants' knowledge through phenomenological or ethnography design would not address the research question. A multiple case study was appropriate for this study because I sought to identify information regarding crosscultural leadership strategies local retail leaders use to lead culturally diverse employees at local and international workplaces to expand their businesses globally.

#### **Research Question**

What cross-cultural leadership strategies do local retail business leaders use to expand their business operations into global markets?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What are the major cross-cultural leadership challenges you faced leading employees from culturally diverse backgrounds when expanding into global markets?
- 2. What key barriers have you faced when leading employees from various culturally backgrounds when expanding into global markets?
- 3. What cross-cultural leadership strategies do you use to overcome these key barriers when expanding into global markets?

- 4. What cross-cultural leadership strategies do you use to motivate employees with diverse cross-cultural backgrounds in your company when expanding into global markets?
- 5. How do you measure the effectiveness of your motivation strategies?
- 6. What cross-cultural leadership strategies did you use to address the key risk factors that could affect the success of employees with diverse cultural backgrounds when expanding into global markets?
- 7. What other aspects, which were not mentioned in the questions above, do you consider important to mention?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

Leadership and transformational leadership theories comprised the conceptual framework for my study. Leadership expert and presidential biographer Burns (1978) initially introduced the concept of transformational leadership theory (Cherry, 2019). Burns's transformational leadership theory appeals to the "high road" in developing social values and individual purpose (Cherry, 2019).

Leadership is one of the most explored issues for understanding employee well-being and performance (Ghasabeh, Reaiche, & Soosay, 2015; A. Lee, Martin, Thomas, Guillaume, & Maio, 2015; Thill & Bovée, 2015). A. Lee et al. (2015) noted that leadership theories provide a means for assessing the leader's leadership style by asking followers whether their leader acts in a way that represents that style of leadership. For decades, leadership theories have been the source of numerous studies (Cherry, 2019).

Bass (1985) extended Burns's (1978) transformational leadership theory, and identified four components of transformational leadership behavior: (a) individualized consideration (leaders appreciate individuals' ideas and viewpoints, and pay close attention to the needs of the employees); (b) intellectual stimulation (leaders present anticipated future for both the employees and the organization); (c) idealized influence (leaders act as role model); and (d) inspirational motivation (leaders articulate vision for both the employees and the organization). The four components of transformational leadership may affect the creative self-efficacy of employees as they provide certainty to the followers to change already developed viewpoints and systems (Ramsey, Rutti, Lorenz, Barakat, & Sant'anna, 2017).

Burns (1978) stated that leaders are a particular kind of power holder. Bass and Avolio (1990) indicated that transformational leaders elevate the desires of followers for achievement and self-development while promoting the development of groups and organizations" (Avolio, 1990, p. 22). The incorrect understanding and the inappropriate handling of cultural differences can usually cause organizational conflicts and may cause severe inefficiencies and competitive disadvantages (Bird & Mendenhall, 2016; Saulton, Bülthoff, de la Rosa, & Dodds, 2017; Thompson, Kirby, & Smith, 2016). Burns and Bass's (1985) leadership theories provided a lens for understanding leadership strategies the participating company leaders used to expand business operations internationally through identifying and addressing cross-cultural differences.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Cross-cultural competence: Greene Sands and Greene-Sands (2014) defined cross-cultural competence as referring to "knowledge, skills and abilities to operating in diverse environments" (p. 357-358) with diverse individuals.

*Diversity*: NCATE (2014) defined diversity as "differences among groups of people and individuals based on race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, gender, language, exceptionalities, religion, sexual orientation, and geographic region in which they live".

Global leaders: The emerging class of professionals who are adept at operating in international and multicultural contexts (Bird & Mendenhall, 2016).

Globalization: The worldwide movement toward economic, financial, trade, and communications integration. Globalization implies the opening of local and nationalistic perspectives to a broader outlook of an interconnected and interdependent world with free transfer of capital, goods, and services across national frontiers (Globalization, 2014).

Individualism/Collectivism. Individualism is independent and takes into consideration only the needs or interests of the individual and immediate family members (Hofstede Center, 2014). Collectivism is the opposite of individualism. A collectivist society is one that focuses on and gives value to group norms and goals. Throughout a person's life span, this society offers protection to close-knit in-groups, which display sincere loyalty in return (Hofstede Center, 2014).

Leadership. The capability to provide direction, influence, motivate and optimize productivity through others. It is an activity involving groups, not a solitary activity and at its most basic leaders have to have followers (Thomas & Rowland, 2014).

*Masculinity*. The distribution of emotional roles between the genders, which is another fundamental issue for any society to which a range of solutions found (Hofstede, 2014).

*Transactional leadership*. A leadership that recognizes the constituents of associates' satisfaction arising from their activities and then encourages subordinates to achieve those goals by offering rewards and sanctions (Quintana, Park, & Cabrera, 2015).

*Transformational leadership*. The process by which, leaders and followers cause each other to reach to higher levels of morality and motivation (Khuong, Linh, & Duc, 2015).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

### **Assumptions**

An assumption is an idea formed without evidence (Stern, 2013). The first assumption was that global leaders are professionals whose intercultural competence and capabilities are essential for the success of their companies. The second assumption in this study was that participants were available and provided honest, straight, and fair feedback to issues directly related to challenges of cross-cultural issues of local retail business leaders around the world. The assumptions that cross-cultural training helped global leaders on their leadership assignments were not necessarily realistic. The third and final assumption was that since the participants in this study included global leaders, the findings might not be broadly applicable to others, and as such, a further study may be necessary to show universal application.

#### Limitations

Limitations refer to the potential weaknesses and circumstances not within researchers' control (Yin, 2018). The first limitation was the possibility of dishonesty from the participants. I collected data from people from various organizations, because of the possibility that some participants were not honest enough to provide full needed information to achieve the purpose for the study. The second limitation involved participants' reluctance to share companies' progress records and financial and administrative documents as evidence to support the findings.

#### **Delimitations**

Researchers use delimitations to define a study's boundaries and propositions for defining the domain of the investigation (Yin, 2018). The findings from this study are not applicable to other populations. The geographical delimitation of this study was that the participating organizations were all operating in Minnesota. I collected data from only successful leaders leading in culturally diverse environments from different background in Minnesota.

## Significance of the Study

Global businesses face increasing challenges and changes, including leadership issues because of the rapid rise of globalization and cultural differences. Organizational leaders, who comprehend cross-cultural leadership strategies for effectively leading their teams, can provide greater benefits to their organizations (Ramsey et al., 2017). Global retail leaders need new and fresh leadership skills to lead employees from diverse workforce effectively (Mital, 2015).

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

The results of the study could help contribute to business practice by providing awareness for local retail business leaders, and CEOs seeking to expand business operations internationally, increase productivity, through effectively leading employees with diverse cultural backgrounds. As multinational companies move aggressively into the emerging global markets, cultural differences have become alarming challenges that affect leaders' performance. Previous researchers revealed the harmful effects of crosscultural differences on multinational businesses (Buck, 2018; Mathew & Rakesh, 2016; Normore, Hamdan, & Esposito, 2019; Walker, 2018). The effects include leadership underperformance, intercultural communication, reduced profitability, and misunderstanding between leaders, and employees leading to declining productivity and loss of business opportunities (J. Kim & McLean, 2015; Shirley et al., 2014). Lack of knowledge on cross-cultural leadership causes major issues for businesses that desire to expand their operations globally. Multinational companies are expanding globally, but many organizational leaders are facing challenges because of the existence of cultural differences in the host countries.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

This study's results might bring positive social impact to societies and the communities at large. Because of the rise of globalization, leaders in multinational companies may rely on a diverse group of people to continue to grow in the global marketplace and promote beneficial social change for both employees and the communities. A leader may be able to make a social impact, such as positive

contributions to society and communities, by creating a pleasant and intelligently inspirational work environment that directly affects employees and their families' well-being. Leading and valuing employees from the culturally diverse backgrounds is an essential focus in this study. Therefore, a researcher needs to anticipate the impact of cultural change and learn more about the individuals who are creating and applying ideas to discover the current state of social change around the world (R. Mittal, 2015).

Organizational leaders need to review their leadership practices and policies while developing new and creative approaches to lead employees from culturally diverse backgrounds. Employees could bring fresh new ideas to support business efforts that can benefit communities (Stern, 2013). The results of this study could contribute to social change by decreasing unemployment rates and enhancing the living standards for communities' residents.

The findings of this research could positively support labor movements, organizational leaders in sustainability efforts in creating jobs, promote the dignity of local and global employees with diverse cultural backgrounds, increase sales for businesses, improve the economy, and develop labor movement programs. The results of this research may have an impact on business owners, communities, and employees, and may guide local and global leaders to addressing cross-cultural differences more effectively. In this study, I identified leadership practices in cross-cultural perspectives and provided solutions for appropriate effective leadership, which can have positive social impacts locally and globally by improving quality cross-cultural work environments that may lead to better living standards for employees and their families.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore cross-cultural leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to expand business operations into global markets. My goal was to identify the participants' strategies for addressing conceptual connections among cross-cultural differences, leadership performance, and profitability for Minnesota multinational organizations. I explored globalization, effective leadership strategies for global leaders in cross-cultural perspectives, and leadership strategies for companies' productivity using a qualitative exploratory case study by exploring global leaders of three international companies based in Minnesota.

The objective of this study was to explore intercultural leadership strategies for global leaders, cross-cultural learning development, transcultural competencies, and capabilities of effective global leaders. Herd, Alagaraja, and Cumberland (2016) noted that developing global leadership competencies is an important topic in human resource development. The purposes of the literature review are to: (a) explore previous research to determine best business practices, (b) identify essential elements of a topic, (c) synthesize ideas, (d) understand the problem, and (e) understand research techniques (Trochim, Donnelly, & Arora, 2015). The objectives of the academic and professional literature review are to compare and contrast related topics that addressed leadership underperformance leading to underproduction and less profitability for multinational businesses because of globalization and cross-cultural issues.

Exploring past research enables researchers to understand a topic more thoroughly, identify gaps in research, and to develop questions that guide future research

(Trochim et al., 2015). I conducted a comprehensive literature review on the topic using peer-reviewed articles, journals, dissertations, government reports, websites, and books. The review of the litterature provided insights in the historical and current research concerning the issues of cross-cultural leadership in the globally diverse workplaces. In the literature review, I explored the issues of cross-cultural differences, cross-cultural leadership at workplaces because of the rise of globalization (Andresen & Bergdolt, 2017).

Primary research libraries and databases for this study included the Walden University Library, ProQuest, Google Scholar, CrossRef, Sage, EBSCO Primary, and Emerald Insight search. I used 292 references in this study, 252 (86%) of which were published within the last 5 years (after 2014), 39 (14%) were published before 2015, and 257 (88%) were peer-reviewed articles. I used 135 peer-reviewed articles in the literature review. The number of references I used by category was: (a) 13 books, (b) 268 journal articles, (c) five dissertations, (d) two government and corporate reports, and (e) four websites. I used the articles published before 2015 to explain and define the history of globalization, culture, cross-cultural differences and the reasons why the need for developing global leadership awareness is critical. I searched the topic of globalization and cross-cultural diversity, cross-cultural differences, global leadership awareness, culture, organizational culture, ethnocentrism, prejudice, leadership, organizational culture, and diversity.

Lisak and Erez (2015) noted that team members search for a leader or potential leader who displays confidence in the complex global environment, who seems well adjusted and capable of communicating with the entire team, and who helps to further the creation of shared understanding and trust among team members. Concomitantly, leaders and human resources professionals are constantly looking for better ways of how to improve the process and effectively manage the work of the people so that their effort results in staff satisfaction and successful progress of the organization (Milota, Mária, & Jozef, 2015).

The full force of globalization has affected 21st century organizations, and it is clear that there are many cultural and human problems because of the rise of globalization (Marinescu, 2018). Globalization has many ramifications, not the least of which is the search for leadership concepts universally relevant and efficient across various cultures, environments, settings, and populations (Lakshman & Estay, 2016).

#### Globalization and Cross-Cultural Leadership

Since World War II, globalization has been advancing throughout the world (Northouse, 2013, p. 383). Ekelund and Adl (2015) noted that globalization presents tremendous opportunities as well as increasing complexities for organizations worldwide. Increased globalization has created many challenges, including the need to design effective multinational organizations, to identify and select appropriate leaders for the entities, and to lead groups with culturally diverse employees (Northouse, 2013, p. 383).

Ekelund and Adl (2015) noted that multinational organizations face a myriad of challenges as the world interconnects through the process of globalization. The increased

global interconnectivity accentuates complexity and interdependence while increased competition fortifies dynamism and uncertainty (Yadong & Qinqin, 2016). Global leaders must learn to be socially responsible for their global leadership role and develop interpersonal understandings of ethical implications to fulfill organizational vision in the global perspective (Williams & Turnbull, 2015). Global leaders must understand the linkage between corporate social responsibilities and governance systems in the global perspectives and the interrelationships of institutional drivers and behavioral norms (Preuss, Barkemeyer, & Glavas, 2016).

One of the biggest challenges accompanying globalization and affecting businesses around the world is requiring employees to interact effectively with coworkers, suppliers, and customers from many different cultural backgrounds (Reichard et al., 2015). Leading workers from multiple cultural backgrounds requires greater understanding, experience, and cross-cultural leadership competencies and capabilities. Ghasabeh et al. (2015) noted that the globalized nature of competitiveness is placing more pressure on organizational leaders to employ effective leaders capable of developing a global vision for the organizations. The need for developing global leaders capable of leading workers from various cultural backgrounds is important.

As global competition intensifies, companies are turning to business executives with the leadership skills and global vision to create and sustain a strategic advantage (Sugiyama, Cavanagh, van Esch, Bilimoria, & Brown, 2016). The globalized markets have an impact on the roles of leaders in organizations operating in this modern environment (Ghasabeh et al., 2015). The role of leadership in an organization is to

ensure that the business runs efficiently, that resources are available, is profitable, and contributes to society to assist in the growth and development of the community (Williams & Turnbull, 2015). There is a need for developing strategies for global leaders and CEOs operating in cross-cultural environments to be able to lead effectively; achieve their goals, vision, mission; and yield anticipated profitability.

The business marketplace is rapidly changing and becoming more competitive because of globalization (Mathew & Rakesh, 2016). Because of globalization, workforces are becoming increasingly multicultural (Sukanya, 2015). Business leaders of multinational companies face leadership challenges because of cross-cultural differences at workplaces causing loss of profitability (Reichard et al., 2015). Outdated business models, old leadership practices, and traditional thinking did not propel growth in the 21st century ever-changing and highly perplexing transnational marketplace (Castelli, 2016).

Adler and Bartholomew (1992) pointed out that transnational firms need transnational human resources management systems to achieve national competitiveness. As contended by Adler and Bartholomew, Northouse (2013) emphasized the need for global leaders to develop five cross-cultural competencies. First, global leaders need to understand business, political, and cultural environments worldwide. Second, global leaders need to learn the perspectives, tastes, trends, and technologies of other cultures. Third, global leaders need to be able to work simultaneously with people from many cultures. Fourth, global leaders must be able to adapt to living and communicating in

other cultures. Fifth, global leaders need to learn to relate to people from other cultures from a position of equality rather than cultural superiority (Northouse, 2013, p. 384).

Minkov et al. (2013) perceived globalization as a force obliterating national cultures and turning the world into a culturally homogeneous global village. Walker (2018) identified globalization as changing the nature of societies and linking groups of people from around the world to interact directly or indirectly in business transactions. Therefore, developing cross-cultural competencies and capabilities is essential for global leaders to lead workers from culturally diverse backgrounds effectively.

Globalization is evident in contemporary daily life (J. Kim & McLean, 2015).

Northouse (2013) defined globalization as the increased interdependence (economic, social, technical, and political) between nations (Northouse, 2013, p. 383). Globalization has caused organizational leaders to look for ways to compete more efficiently on a worldwide scale (Castelli, 2016). Conversely, interrelationships and interdependencies among countries have increased steadily because of globalization (J. Kim & McLean, 2015).

The growing interconnectedness among peoples, places, and lifestyles (otherwise known as globalization) requires not only shifting production to other countries but also increasing knowledge of distant cultures and people (Magu, 2015). Kappagomtula (2017) raised the issues of global leadership and the requirements of leading in a global environment as perceived by the leaders participating, as well as the way these leaders learn and develop their global mindset. Developing a global leadership mindset has been

the key to success for leaders that are accepting worldwide assignments (Mattheus, Cristiane, Maria, Vania, & Dusan, 2016).

Globalization is a complex issue that encompasses political, economic, technological, and social factors (Cleveland et al., 2016; Mehrabanfar, 2015; Kauder & Potrafke, 2015; Potrafke, 2015). Cleveland et al. (2016) noted that globalization embodies a complicated process of intertwined cultural movements. Globalization has shaped and transformed the face of global project management and the flow of global labor between and amongst countries (Nguyen & Nguyen, 2018). The growing interconnectedness between peoples, places, and lifestyles (otherwise known as globalization) requires not only shifting production to other countries but also increasing knowledge of distant cultures and people (Magu, 2015).

Since the 1980s, there has been a growing realization that a researcher of crosscultural differences in leadership practices needs to study and understand the proper
conduct of cross-border businesses (R. Mittal, 2015). Abugre (2018) identified cultural
differences as essential challenges for leaders of multinational corporations doing
business in other countries because of the variations of culture patterns that people from
different countries observe. Globalization influences leaders of global companies to be
globally energetic and be successful. Global business, political, public, and nonprofit
leaders need to recognize and understand the rise of globalization and manage the
complexity of the changing world (Bird & Mendenhall, 2016). The scope of many
previous studies was limited to cross-cultural differences, cross-cultural communication,
and their effects on leadership without alarming leadership underperformance and

profitability issues. Kappagomtula (2017) noted that globalization had created a need to understand how cultural differences affect leadership performance, and the need for leaders to become competent in cross-cultural practices.

Globalization, beyond socioeconomic and political discourse, is transforming conceptions of culture and cultural studies, and changing and restructuring spaces, global, national and personal interactions and relationships (Magu, 2015; Mehrabanfar, 2015). The second characteristic of globalization is that multinational companies are expanding globally at an unprecedented rate, and their profitability is increasing year after year, because of the rise of globalization. The rise of multinational corporations had introduced many benefits such as the creation of local jobs, the economic development of impoverished nations, and advances in production and technological capabilities (Ogrean & Herciu, 2016). This situation is creating direct obligations for global business owners to develop new ways of enlightening global leaders regarding the realities of crosscultural issues that may negatively affect their performances and reduce their companies' productivity.

Iovitu, Balu, and Bodislav (2016) noted that globalization is the result of a long historical and irreversible evolution. Third world countries use globalization to have access to the Internet, e-learning, and distance learning; promote gender equality; have better wages; and perform other international business transactions without having to be physically present (Grier, 2017; Walker, 2018). As many companies expand globally, leaders must develop global leadership competencies and capabilities, and more

importantly, knowledge and fundamental understanding of cross-cultural differences to lead effectively in the global business marketplace.

Global business leaders acknowledged the intensification of challenges and opportunities because of the rise of globalization (Minkov et al., 2013). In a context of the global workforce, leaders of multinational companies are faced with the challenge of integrating a more heterogeneous workforce (Davis, Frolova, & Callahan, 2016; Kirton, Robertson, & Avdelidou-Fischer, 2016; Ravasi, Salamin, & Davoine, 2015; Stone & Deadrick, 2015). Stone and Deadrick (2015) noted that globalization presents many challenges to business practice. One of the most important challenges is acknowledging and appreciating cultural values, practices, and subtleties in different parts of the world (Des Autels, Berthon, Caruana, & Pitt, 2015; Minkov et al., 2013). While leaders of some corporations compete successfully in the global marketplace, others have failed to sustain their competitive advantage because of cultural imperialism or inadequate acculturation of their leaders on global assignment (Leavy, 2016; Reichard et al., 2015). Globalization, offshore outsourcing, global value chain, and global division of labor have led business firms to globalize their activities addressing cultural diversity an important issue in leading the contemporary worldwide workplaces (Miska & Öner, 2015).

Despite the benefit of previous studies to global business owners, additional research is essential to demonstrate the unprecedented effects of cross-cultural differences on multinational corporations regarding leadership deficit, weak profitability, and possible loss of companies' brand image. Minkov et al. (2013) indicated that experts in global business agree that, leaders need the flexibility to respond positively and more

efficiently to practices and values that may be drastically different from what they are accustomed. Correspondingly, the dual forces of work that increasingly spans international boundaries and a rapidly diversifying domestic workforce require workers to develop skills, to negotiate the nuances and complexities inherent in cross-cultural interactions (Reichard et al., 2015). Knowledge is a power resource pivotal to the sustainability of organizations (Beauregard, Lemyre, & Barrette, 2015).

As leadership varies across countries, critical leadership behaviors for effective leadership across various national or cultural boundaries changed (Koohang, Paliszkiewicz, & Goluchowski, 2017; Lakshman & Estay, 2016). Many scholars of crosscultural studies suggest that culture can influence leadership concepts, styles, and practices (Lakshman & Estay, 2016). In this heading, I described literature related to the study of cross-cultural differences and its effects on leadership and company's profitability. The introduction of the Internet, for instance, has revolutionized how the world does business (Belleflamme, Lambert, & Schwienbacher, 2014). Accelerating, intensifying, and deepening social, economic, cultural, religious, and recreational interconnections characterize the world we live in between one geographic and cultural area of one people to another. These interconnections have led to and been marked by, a recapitalization and restructuring of human relations occasioned and supported by rapid developments in technology, communication, and language (Magu, 2015).

#### **Cross-Cultural Differences and Leadership**

The effects of cultural differences on leadership evolved since World War II (Yin, 2018). Countries are rarely homogeneous societies with a unified culture (Dabić, Tipurić,

& Podrug, 2015). Since World War II, there has been a dramatic increase in globalization throughout the world (Northouse, 2013, p. 420). Therefore, leadership implications of cross-cultural leadership appeared to be an ensuing challenge for global firms extending their businesses because of the rapid pace of globalization (Bird & Mendenhall, 2016).

Because of the rise of globalization, global business leaders have developed a greater understanding of cultural differences and increased competencies in cross-cultural communication and practice (Northouse, 2013, p. 420). In the environment in which leaders ignore or show little understanding, knowledge, and ability to integrate customs, norms and the values that distinguish them from other cultural behaviors, some employees may feel mistreated, leading to negative profitability. Variations of cultural patterns affect both leaders and followers (Abugre, 2018). Therefore, global leaders must develop a high-level cultural intelligence for creating awareness and understanding workers from diverse cultural backgrounds.

Cultural intelligence is an individual's capability to address culturally diverse settings effectively (Lisak & Erez, 2015). Cultural intelligence contains a multidimensional framework of intelligence (Presbitero, 2016; Schlägel & Sarstedt, 2016). Understanding workers from diverse cultural backgrounds and developing effective leadership capabilities depend on the level of competence of the leader on crosscultural intelligence and skills (Abugre, 2018).

When organizational leaders operate inefficiently, they realize less profitability, and their contribution to society is less applicable in areas such as employment, community sponsored programs, and payment of company taxes (Stern, 2013). The study

on cross-cultural differences leading to multinational corporations' leadership underperformance is significant because of its negative impact on employees and communities. Poor leadership because of lack of cross-cultural competence could affect employees' job performance and job satisfaction, leading to under productiveness (Buck, 2018).

Global business leaders have created a need to understand how cultural differences affect leadership performance because of globalization (Northouse, 2013, p. 383). The global cultural changes and the undermined boundaries of cultures are the consequences of globalization (Mehrabanfar, 2015). Although leaders from many multinational corporations are becoming aware of the impending effects of cross-cultural unfamiliarity on their businesses, leaders may lack intercultural competence necessary to lead their staffs.

Cultural diversity is not new (Çelik, Storme, & Forthmann, 2016; S. J. Han & Beyerlein, 2016; Mishra, Devarakonda, & Kumar, 2015). Defining cultural diversity based on this multilevel understanding of culture helps to identify the different concepts of cultural diversity analytically (Galbraith, 2017; Romainville, 2016). Cultural diversity can refer, firstly, to a general statement of facts: the multiplicity of humanity (Galbraith, 2017; Romainville, 2016). At the second level, cultural diversity includes an anthropological viewpoint, which then refers to the variety of societies (Galbraith, 2017; Romainville, 2016). Mishra et al. (2015) acknowledged awareness of efficient management of diversity as a critical success factor of organization performance and its operations.

Globalization became progressively prominent in the early 21st century as many U.S-based companies look to grow by expanding their marketplace in other countries (Teoh & Yazdanifard, 2015). Previous researchers (Gupta & Bhaskar, 2016; Teoh & Yazdanifard, 2015) acknowledged the issues of cross-cultural differences and demonstrated a conceptual understanding of the effects of cross-cultural leadership specifically when two different groups interact with each other. Diversity refers to the existence of different cultures or ethnicity within a group or an organization (Northouse, 2013). For example, exposure to diversity can promote enhanced creativity and perspective taking (Berry, 2016; Strategic Direction, 2016). Alternately, exposure to diversity can foster greater conflict, diminished cohesion and lower productivity (Berry, 2016).

There is a need to understand diversity and the importance of the need for multicultural workforces to ensure better human resource management (Sukanya, 2015). Current leadership theories acknowledge and promote diversity as a benefit and identify in which way leadership principles shape inclusive climates in organizations, which value, affirm, and support diversity (Strategic Direction, 2016). Human resource development professionals need to know what knowledge, skills, and attitudes are essential to develop global leaders (J. Kim & McLean, 2015).

Lack of cross-cultural competence could cause leadership issues in the environment of diverse cultural backgrounds (Minkov et al., 2013). Therefore, to avoid inefficiency an underproduction, leaders must demonstrate knowledge and responsibilities of leading in the environment of multiple cultural backgrounds before

being assigned leadership roles. The characteristics of responsible leadership in crosscultural perspectives include considerable challenges, pressure, and complexities, and
emphasized the importance of responsible leadership given current economic
developments, globalization, and increased business interconnectedness (Waldman &
Balven, 2015). It has become a necessity for global leaders to take this challenge by full
utilization of the potential capabilities of the multicultural workforce to achieve
organizational effectiveness (Miska & Öner, 2015). Effective global leaders understand
how to lead and communicate with their employees and customers from different cultures
with diverse backgrounds and build relationships with the neighboring communities
including the labor movement groups that defend employees' wellness (Leavy, 2016;
Tsai, Carr, Qiao, & Supprakit, 2019).

Ekelund and Adl (2015) noted that global leadership development would become more critical to an organization's success as the pace of globalization continues to accelerate. Business leaders are expanding businesses globally, the need to develop global leadership skills and capabilities for leaders, leading to a fundamental understanding of cross-cultural differences has become unavoidable (Sugiyama et al., 2016). The growing interest in the leadership of cultural diversity research is predictable because of the concurrent organizational challenges (Miska & Öner, 2015).

Previous research on cross-cultural leadership examined the effects of leadership-society resemblance without explaining how positive outcomes might result between leadership and societal culture and via which mechanisms the consequences of such similarities are transmitted (Glinkowska, 2017; Jönsson, Muhonen, Denti, & Chen,

2015). Global business leaders have provided business opportunities for organizations, and at the same time, have transformed the working environment into a highly multicultural setup because of the rise of globalization (Tsai et al., 2019). Accordingly, the issue of understanding and handling multiculturalism effectively is gaining importance in organizations (Tsai et al., 2019).

Previous researchers (Cumberland, Herd, Alagaraja, & Kerrick, 2016; Herd et al., 2016; Nasomboon, 2014) have demonstrated the urgent need for leaders to develop crosscultural leadership competencies and the understanding of intercultural communication because of the rise of globalization. Developing global leadership skills and capabilities for global leaders capable of leading diverse cultural workforce is important (Cumberland et al., 2016; Herd et al., 2016). Nasomboon (2014) suggested that global leaders become knowledgeable about the importance of cross-cultural differences and leadership differences from country to country, and from one culture to another.

Global leadership competencies encompass personality traits, knowledge, and skills, as well as behaviors (Cumberland et al., 2016). Global leaders have the ultimate responsibility to understand the ramifications and implications of cross-cultural unawareness by developing competencies and capabilities capable of engaging followers with diverse cultural backgrounds and producing profitable results for their companies. Walker (2018) stated that global companies might not have enough leaders in their growth markets or leaders with the required global competencies in their headquarters. Developing global leadership initiatives is important in creating awareness for leaders leading diversity.

J. Kim and McLean (2015) defined global leadership as the universal and contingent characteristics consisting of underlying competencies that influence the attitudes, thinking, behaviors, and capacities of a global company to achieve its common goals in the globalized context. Despite the universality and the characteristics that define global leaders' skills, knowledge, competencies, and capabilities, global leaders must be culturally competent and able to use effective strategies that could positively influence followers' performance. Lau Chin, Desormeaux, and Sawyer (2016) defined cultural competence as the ability to work with and across diverse cultures and groups.

Yao and Huang (2018) noted that leaders use different behaviors in work environments, and those practices directly affect employee job performance and outcomes. It is a competency in which, a leader promotes inclusiveness of all groups and values and respects differences (Lau Chin et al., 2016). These global leadership practices according to Miska and Öner (2015) are robust and multifaceted resources for educators, students, and practitioners capable of stimulating multifold and reflective thinking about global leadership and cultural differences.

Despite multiple studies conducted on the issues of globalization and cross-cultural differences, previous researchers (Reichard et al., 2015; Schoefer, Wäppling, Heirati, & Blut, 2019; Tsai et al., 2019) have discounted its effects on leadership performance and how it positively affect social change. Ekelund and Adl (2015) suggested that multinational corporations must move beyond the traditional approach, but they provided little information on the immediate influence of cross-cultural unawareness, leadership underperformance and its effect on company's profitability.

Enlightening global leaders on basic cross-cultural understanding and capabilities is fundamental for businesses that are expanding globally. There is a clear distinction among leaders, which arises in the execution of organizational tasks (Rowley, Oh, & Jang, 2019). Leaders influence employees so that they are willing to accomplish objectives. They lead by example and demonstrate personal traits that instill a desire in others to follow. In other words, leaders provide purpose, direction, and motivation. Managers, on the other hand, administer the organization's resources. They create budgets, authorize expenditures, and hire employees (Rowley et al., 2019).

#### **Globalization and Ethical Leadership**

Previous researchers have demonstrated the importance of culture on cognitive development, in transformational leadership, ethical implications and generalization (Kasemsap, 2015; S. Kim & Shin, 2019; Rodriguez, Green, Sun, & Baggerly, 2017; Wang & Hackett, 2016). Consequently, the needs of developing global ethical leaders with cross-cultural competencies and capabilities are important undertakings for human resource management professionals (Kasemsap, 2015; Ko, Haney, & Lee, 2018; Wang & Hackett, 2016). Historically, characteristics and capabilities of leaders have long been a topic of interest in leadership studies (Besnoy, Maddin, Steele, & Eisenhardt, 2015). Cross-cultural unawareness and the nonunderstanding of the veracities of intercultural communication continued to influence leaders' performance as well as reducing multinational corporation's profitability.

Global leaders are ethically responsible for the contentment of their followers at workplaces. Ethics encompass values and morals an individual or a society finds

desirable or appropriate (Northouse, 2013, p. 484). Cultural diversity has become a growing concern regarding universal ethics, values, and norms because of globalization (Romainville, 2016). Organizational leaders need to have a precise knowledge about cross-cultural and cross-sectorial commonalities as well as differences in defining ethical leadership, and unethical leadership (Ahmad, 2018; Pasricha, Singh, & Verma, 2017). By role modeling moral behavior, leaders have the opportunity to enhance the overall ethical climate in their organizations while simultaneously improving the overall wellbeing of employees (Wang & Hackett, 2016).

Accordingly, the contemporary discussion of the significance of virtues in guiding leader behaviors appears mainly in the ethics literature, particularly within virtue ethics (Wang & Hackett, 2016). Organizational ethical climate is the employees' perception of what constitutes ethically right or wrong (Kasemsap, 2015). Wang and Hackett (2016) described a virtuous leader as a leader-follower relationship wherein a leader's situational appropriate expression of virtues triggers follower perceptions of leader virtuousness, worthy of emulation. Wang and Hackett compared the virtuousness of leadership to the ethical decision-making of a leader, which is important for global leaders. Northouse (2013) noted that ethics encompass the virtuousness of individuals and their motives (Northouse, 2013, p. 424).

Developing appropriate ethical codes for global intercultural leaders is important. Pasricha et al. (2017) noted the importance of business ethics and organizational leaders are aware of the influence ethics can have on organizations' performance. As a result, ethical leadership is critical as it affects the employees profoundly. Accordingly, when

both ethical leaders and employees know their expectations and ethical actions are supported with rewards and punishments, it strengthens the ethical organizational culture and its ethical climate (Kasemsap, 2015). Kasemsap (2015) noted that business leaders could change and develop the existing organizational culture by establishing moral codes, providing training to recognize ethical dilemmas, for informing suitable ethical behavior.

#### Leadership

Leadership is a significant aspect of management (Management Study Guide, 2016). Leadership is a process whereby an individual influences a group of people to achieve a common goal (Northouse, 2013, p. 5). Leadership is one of the widely studied and ever-advancing concepts (Sudha, Shahnawaz, & Farhat, 2016). It is important for a leader to be excellent and effective to ensure the success of the organization (Blomqvist, Agrell, & Sandahl, 2016; Management Study Guide, 2016).

The term "leadership" has different meanings depending on the geographical locations of its application (Cherry, 2019). For example, centuries ago, kings and queens ruled various parts of the earth using different kinds of leadership styles, powers, norms, beliefs systems, values, and theories to overcome challenges and to achieve the mission, vision, and personal ambitions of their kingdoms. Some societies have kings and hierarchies while others reach consensus among equals (Hofstede, 1983). Some societies defined different gender roles while other societies have the side-by-side collaboration of women and men on the same tasks (Hofstede, 1983). Conclusively, in the past century, numerous theories, empirical data, and practical insight have generated leadership

performance requirements, including skills, roles, and characteristics that are required of leaders, and how this knowledge is disseminated (Laud, Arevalo, & Johnson, 2016).

The role of a leader is indispensable to the success of the business (Söderhjelm, Larsson, Sandahl, Björklund, & Palm, 2018). Sudha et al. (2016) noted that leadership effectiveness is a significant concept in the area of leadership. Even though leadership plays an important role in the context of cross-cultural perspectives, Bird and Mendenhall (2016) noted that leadership is not only the key driving force for changing employees' behavior but also a fundamental force that shapes a work environment and organizational culture. Leaders promote change and challenge the norm (Choromides, 2018). An efficient and real leader is one who does not put them self before others, is humble, deferential, and altruistic (Management Study Guide, 2016).

In an ever-changing world with the rise of globalization along with technological advances doubling almost yearly, company executives need new ideas using their leadership skills to lead employees from diverse cultural backgrounds (Minkov et al., 2013; Sugiyama et al., 2016). These executives must position themselves as examples of innovation, as well as corporate leaders in workplace culture despite their differences in leadership roles respectively. Leaders must learn how to make the desired future during volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity (Johansen, 2009, p. 1).

A successful leader who has organizational skills is a team player and a motivator using various intrinsic and extrinsic reward systems to promote and encourage team members with varying cultural backgrounds. Leaders cannot predict, but they can prepare (Johansen, 2009, p. 15). Leadership has always benefited from preparedness, but the

demand for preparedness is greater in a world of increasing uncertainty (Johansen, 2009, p. 15). While leaders can learn about how to lead followers effectively, the most impactful leader has the inherent qualities to become successful naturally (Stern, 2013).

Leaders need new skills to make the desired future (Johansen, 2009, p. 1).

Conversely, Grobler and Du Plessis (2016) noted that in a faster-moving world, a leader is a change agent who needs to be not only flexible but also ready to act on short notice to stay competitive in the market. When leading in a global or multicultural workplace, practical use of relationship behaviors is critical to success in that environment (Söderhjelm et al., 2018). Johansen (2009) stated that being a leader is much more difficult than just studying leadership (Johansen, p. 14). Developing global leadership awareness on cross-cultural capabilities is important (Grier, 2017; Ju, & Shoham, 2017; Minkov et al., 2013). Ekelund and Adl (2015) noted that more leading organizational leaders are discovering the value of deploying consistent, high-effect leadership development on a global basis.

# **Leadership Theories**

Early leadership theories focused on what qualities distinguished leaders from followers, while subsequent theories addressed other variables such as situational factors and skill levels (Cherry, 2019). Researchers demonstrated interest in leadership throughout human history, but several formal leadership theories emerged during the 19th century. Interest in leadership increased during the early part of the 20th century (Cherry, 2019). Many theories on leadership evolved in the 19th century, such as the great man

theory, trait theory, behavioral theories, contingency theories, transactional theories, and transformational theories.

The great man theory (1840s). The great man theory of leadership states that a leader is born with some gifted leadership skills and capabilities capable of accomplishing goals despite difficulties, criticisms, and negative probabilities from followers. The great man theory of leadership became popular during the 19th century (Cherry, 2019). The great man theory assumes that the traits of leadership are intrinsic (Cherry, 2019). That simply means that great leaders are born. This theory sees great leaders as those who are destined by birth to become a leader (Cherry, 2019).

Cherry (2019) noted that the mythology behind some of the world's most famous leaders such as Abraham Lincoln, Julius Caesar, Mahatma Gandhi and Alexander the Great helped contribute to the notion that great leaders are born and not made. The philosophy of the great man theory contradicts the purpose of this study in which I developed and trained cross-cultural leaders through teaching and awareness to lead workers from diverse cultural backgrounds effectively. To meet the demand for the 21st century because of the rise of globalization, effective leaders have to possess intercultural competencies, which most global leaders acquired through a comprehensive learning process and experience. In many examples with the great man theory, it appears as if the right man for the job seems to emerge almost magically to take control of a situation and lead a group of people into safety or success (Cherry, 2019), which is not the concept in this study.

The trait theory (1930s and 1940s). The trait theory evolved in the 1930s. The trait theory denied the inheritance ideologies of the great man theory and suggested a common or universal attribute among effective and ineffective leaders. The trait leadership theory indicates that either people are born, or people have certain qualities that make them excel in leadership roles. Certain qualities such as intelligence, sense of responsibility, creativity, and other values put anyone in the shoes of a good leader (Cherry, 2019). Traits such as extraversion, self-confidence, and courage are all traits linked to great leaders (Cherry, 2019).

Many studies (Chaudhry, Yuan, Hu, & Cooke, 2016; Cherry, 2019) analyzed the traits among existing leaders in the hope of uncovering the traits responsible for one's leadership abilities. The only characteristics identified were among these individuals were those that were slightly taller and slightly more intelligent (Cherry, 2019). Successful leaders have interests, abilities, and personality traits that are different from those of the less effective leaders (Management Study Guide, 2016). However, through many types of research conducted in the last three decades of the 20th century, successful leaders have identified a set of core traits. These traits are not responsible solely for determining whether a person is a successful leader or not, but they are essentially seen as preconditions that endow people with leadership potential (Management Study Guide, 2016).

**Behavioral theories (1940s and 1950s).** Cherry (2019) noted that behavioral theories of leadership contain the belief that great leaders are made, not born. The behavioral theory focuses on the behaviors of the leaders as opposed to their mental,

physical, or social characteristics (Cherry, 2019). The conceptual belief of the behavioral theories is that an individual can become a leader through a learning process as opposed to the great man and the trait theories. According to this theory, people can *learn* to become leaders through teaching and observation (Chaimongkonrojna & Steane, 2015; Cherry, 2019), which aligns with the scope of this study.

Contingency leadership theory (1960s). The conceptual belief of contingency leadership theory scholars is that no leadership style is useful in all situations. Each situation is unique, and the ideal leader-led situation is unique as well (Cherry, 2019). Cherry (2019) noted that success depends on some variables, including the leadership style, qualities of the followers and aspects of the situation (Cherry, 2019). According to the contingency leadership theory, there is no single way of leading and that every leadership style on certain situations signifies that there are certain people who perform at the maximum level in certain places, but at minimal performance when taken out of their element (Cherry, 2019).

Transactional leadership theories (1970s). Weber described the transactional style of leadership in 1947 and Bernard Bass in 1981 (Management Study Guide, 2016). Transactional leadership is the exchange between the leader and the follower (Prasad & Junni, 2016). Transactional leaders are most effective when they develop a mutual reinforcing environment, for which the individual and the organizational goals are in harmony (Cherry, 2019). Transactional leadership focuses on the basic management process of controlling, organizing, and short-term planning (Management Study Guide, 2016).

Transformational leadership theories (1970s). Burns (1979) first introduced the concept of transformational leadership and extended by Bass (1985). Transformational leadership theory is the process by which a person interacts with others and can create a solid relationship (Cherry, 2019). The essence of transformational leadership theories is that leaders transform their followers through their inspirational nature and charismatic personalities (Cherry, 2019). In contrast to the traditional forms of leadership that build on an exchange relationship such as transactional leadership, transformational leadership aims to address the intrinsic needs of followers (Andersen, Bjørnholt, Bro, & Holm-Petersen, 2018; Prasad & Junni, 2016). Transformational leaders challenge the status quo and lead us to the future. Transformational leaders inspire their followers, which is foundational to engagement (Breevaart & Bakker, 2018; Raso, 2016).

# **Leadership and Organizational Culture**

Organizational culture includes essential instruments for organizations and the national development process (Walker, 2018). The characteristics or the components that define leadership styles and theories within a particular organization differ from one another based on the organizational culture of the specific company. When the members of organizations understand and internalize the organizational culture, it enables them to choose strategy and behavior that fit with their personality as well as organizational activities (Chaudhry et al., 2016).

The primary tool of a true leader to accomplish his/her goal, the company's vision, and mission is the understanding of the culture, the values, ethics, and the beliefs systems that defined the organization (Northouse, 2013, p. 200). Leaders develop their

the organization's effectiveness (Kattman, 2014). Kattman (2014) noted that organizational culture is dominant over one's national culture, and the influence of leadership within the organization drives the impact of continuous improvement.

Nasomboon (2014) stated that an increasing behavior of a leader who commits to staying with their company, working toward organizations' target success, focusing on achieving goals, and working toward the success of organizational change appears to influence the value of leadership performance as well as the engagement levels of employees.

Outwardly, organizational cultures may have visible attributes, or hidden meanings, such as one's business attire, or communication styles, or even management methods (Kattman, 2014). With the rise of the technological development, changes in organizational culture including cross-cultural communication, globalization, and employees growing concerns, companies' executives face multiple organizational challenges. These challenges require leaders, and CEOs to understand basics beliefs systems, and values of their organizations, promote a healthy organizational culture, possess transactional, relationship, behavioral, transformational leadership skills, personalities, and attitudes to effectively manage their day-to-day activities in workplaces and be successful. It is worth emphasizing that the aim of organizational culture is to ensure that there is an agreed and uniform way of doing things in organizations to minimize all possible conflicts because of cultural differences (Saulton et al., 2017)

# **Transformational and Transactional Leadership**

The success of businesses operating either locally or globally because of the rise of globalization depends on the effectiveness, and the competence of the companies' leaders in cross-cultural leadership (Ewest, 2015; Van Dierendonck, Sousa, Gunnarsdóttir, Bobbio, Hakanen, Verdorfer, Rodriguez-Carvajal, 2017). Transactional leadership refers to the bulk of leadership models, which focus on the exchanges that occur between leaders and their followers (Deichmann & Stam, 2015; Gross, 2016; Northouse, 2013, p. 186). Transactional and transformational leadership were ranked as the best leadership styles in the 1980s (Bass, 1997).

Research revealed that transactional leaders clarify for their employees the tasks that must be accomplished and their responsibilities, reward employees for achieving the specified performance levels, and take corrective action when necessary (Bass, 1985). Conversely, Jiang and Probst (2016) noted that transformational leaders motivate employees to do more than what implied in the employment contract and focus on employees' higher-order needs. Bodenhausen and Curtis (2016) indicated that transformational leadership has a significant influence on some aspects of employee's involvement in the workplace. Transformational leaders provide vision and a sense of mission, gain respect and trust, and act as role models (Jiang & Probst, 2016).

Transformational leaders make followers more aware of the importance and value of their work, thereby inducing them to transcend self-interest for the sake of the organization (Geier, 2016; R. Mittal, 2015). Research conducted revealed that transformational leadership style is a dominant predictor of followers' performance in a

standard context (Geier, 2016). Conversely, transactional leadership emphasizes traditional instrumental exchange, which means providing employee salary and position according to their contribution and performance (Jensen et al., 2019). The ability of leaders to implement transformational style may strongly invoke perceptions of procedural justice; transactional style may strongly increase perceptions of distributive justice, and both leadership styles may lead to higher trust in the leaders (Caillier & Sa, 2017; Kailasapathy & Jayakody, 2018).

Presbitero (2016) noted that leaders who have a higher level of cultural intelligence exhibit a higher level of transformational leadership style, which suggests that individuals with high-cultural intelligence can lead and manage more efficiently in multicultural environments. Multicultural implies an approach or a system that takes more than one culture into account (Northouse, 2013). In a transformational leadership, leaders tend to socialize formally with employees, build trust, and have confidence in them (Northouse, 2013, p. 200).

Transactional leadership, which is result-oriented, is only concerned about the short-term goals of the organization (Jensen et al., 2019; Kark, Van Dijk, & Vashdi, 2018). Transactional style of leadership results in high productivity of employees. Transformational leadership, which is process-oriented, improves employees' development, commitment through constructing a vision, trust, expectation, and suggestion (Bass, 1996). Creating awareness of cross-cultural leadership is essential for transformational leaders operating in culturally diverse environments.

Among the different styles of leadership, transformational leadership has gained most attention from organizational researchers and academics (Bodenhausen & Curtis, 2016; S. Mittal & Dhar, 2015). Transformational leaders regard employees as "social men" who have loyalty, independence, self-confidence, and potential desire to change and realize themselves (Afsar, Badir, Saeed, & Hafeez, 2017; Jensen et al., 2019). Even though numerous researchers defined it as a leadership theory and leadership style, the concept of transformational leadership according to many leaders, is still difficult to understand. Jensen et al. (2019) described transformational leadership as changing behavior to comply with the situation or current circumstances, to be flexible and adaptive. Transactional leadership refers to the bulk of leadership models, which focus on the exchanges that occur between leaders and their followers (Northouse, 2013, p.186).

Transformational leaders can produce significant organizational change and results because this form of leadership fosters higher levels of intrinsic motivation, trust, commitment, and loyalty from followers than does transactional leadership (Kreitner & Kinicki, 2008, Northouse, 2013, p. 479). In contrast to transactional leadership, transformational leadership is the process whereby a person engages with others and creates a connection that raises the level of motivation and morality in both the leader and the follower (Northouse, 2013, p. 186). Transformational leaders foster a climate of trust and motivate employees to transcend self-interest for the sake of the organization.

Transformational leaders articulate ambitious' collective goals, encourage followers to accept and strive to achieve them (Jiang & Probst, 2016; Middleton, Harvey, & Esaki, 2015; Paolucci, Dimas, Zappalà, Lourenço, & Rebelo, 2018). Therefore,

understanding the definition of transformational and transactional definition is necessary for local and global leaders to appreciate its context. Transformational leaders have the following characteristics: (a) idealized influence (being the role model for followers); (b) inspirational motivation (inspiring and motivating followers); (c) individualized consideration (showing genuine concern for the needs and feelings of followers); and (d) intellectual stimulation (challenging followers to be creative and innovative) (Dimitrov, 2015; Fazzi & Zamaro, 2016). In summary, transactional and transformational leadership are both expected to have positive relationships with followers' performance even in extreme events (Geier, 2016).

# **Charismatic and Transformational Leadership**

Charismatic leadership is another leadership style that shaped the attention of many researchers (Bass, 1985). Charismatic leadership originated with Weber in the early 20th century (Jamal, & Bakar, 2017; Sacavém, Martinez, da Cunha, Abreu, & Johnson, 2017). Charismatic leaders arouse enthusiasm and commitment in followers by articulating a compelling vision and increasing follower confidence about achieving it (Gebert, Heinitz, & Buengeler, 2016; R. Mittal, 2015). Charismatic leaders can motivate employees by functioning as an obvious, ideal point of reference, and by engaging in transparent communications processes that mobilize followers to action (Horn, Mathis, Robinson, & Randle, 2015).

Northouse (2013) displayed five personality characteristics types of behavior charismatic leaders demonstrate in their leadership. First, charismatic leaders are strong role models for the beliefs and values they want their followers to adopt. Second,

charismatic leaders appear competent to followers, articulate ideological goals that have moral overtones. Third charismatic leaders communicate high expectations for followers, and they exhibit confidence in followers' abilities to meet these expectations. Fourth, charismatic leaders arouse task-relevant motives in followers that may include affiliation, power, or esteem (Northouse, 2013, p. 189).

Bass (1985) uses the terms charismatic leadership and transformational leadership interchangeably, perhaps (R. Mittal, 2015) because both leadership styles are similar regarding outcomes, that of performance beyond expectations. R. Mittal (2015) noted that charismatic leadership should be the preferred leadership style in individualistic and loose societies, whereas transformational leadership style should be more acceptable in collectivistic and stable societies. The charismatic components of transformational leadership may transform followers' views of their work by demonstrating the purpose of work and by showing behavior that is in line with the organization's mission and vision (Deichmann & Stam, 2015; Xu, Caldwell, Glasper, & Guevara, 2015).

Presbitero (2016) found that leaders who have adapted to their multicultural environments might be able to lead in a more transformational style whereas an individual who is struggling to adapt may have to devote more cognitive resources to adaptation and fewer resources to transformational leadership. R. Mittal (2015) believed that charismatic and transformational theories of leadership are two theories which explain how leaders influence followers to make self-sacrifices and put the needs of the mission or organization above their materialistic self-interests.

## The Importance of Effective Leadership in Business

The success or failure of an organization depends on the competence and the effectiveness of its leadership (Ghasabeh et al., 2015; Johnson, & Pak, 2018; Nasomboon, 2014; Vértesy, 2017). Nasomboon (2014) noted that organizational leaders are vital ingredients that contribute to the success of the organization. Leaders have the ultimate responsibilities to make their organizations succeed using skills, competence, knowledge, power, and influence on their followers.

Despite the multitude conceptualizations of leadership, (a) leadership is a process, (b) leadership involves influence, (c) leadership occurs in groups, and (d) leadership involves common goals (Northouse, 2013, p. 5). A leader must be able to influence followers to achieve these common goals (Northouse, 2013, p. 5). Influence is the sine qua non-of leadership, and without influence, leadership does not exist (Northouse, 2013, p. 5). Leaders must develop a profound understanding of the organizational culture, and proper definition and historical explanation of the beliefs systems and leadership to comprehend the conceptualization of leadership.

Effective leaders inspire and engage their followers using a style of leadership that is rewarding, shared and charismatic (R. Mittal, 2015). Even though compassion, kindness, and grace may have its values in today's contemporary business world (Thomas & Rowland, 2014) more importantly in leadership, it is not enough to fulfill the ideological responsibilities of organizational culture. Nevertheless, when a leader shows sensitivity to the needs and feelings of organizational members and sets inspirational strategic and organizational goals, employees are likely to display citizenship behavior

(Wong & Berntzen, 2019). Jamal and Bakar (2017) noted that when charismatic leaders play a facilitating role for employees to establish positive and helpful relationships, employees willingly help one other.

The style of leadership promotes motivation and high productivity (Stern, 2013). The competitiveness of the 21st century business market requires the ability to function properly in various geographical business environments with professional leaders capable of leading followers from different backgrounds. When there is alignment in organizations' values, employees become motivated to realize the shared values (Stern, 2013). Proper use of the knowledge of these environments directly influences productivity within a business market or amongst professionals from different backgrounds. Other scholars view leadership as a transformational process that moves followers to accomplish more than expected of them (Northouse, 2013, p. 5). The level of productivity is usually a reflection on the leaders' ability to ensure that followers are successfully completing their goals.

Globalization's impact, beyond the socioeconomic and political discourses, is affecting conceptions of culture and cultural studies, and changing and restructuring spaces, global, national and personal interactions and relationships (Magu, 2015). Beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors of people change slowly (Mehrabanfar, 2015). When in the second half of 20th century, globalization significantly widespread, they started reforming promptly (Mehrabanfar, 2015). Workplace environments in the United States and globally are more diverse in the 21st century than in the 20th century. These

workplaces require effective leaders who are aware of cultural diversity and at the same time understand the need for integrity, situational awareness, and flexibility.

There are significant cultural differences in decision-making styles, and complex decisions are particularly affected by individuals' social and cultural values (Dabić et al., 2015). Making decisions in the midst of cultural diversity is complex, and requires exceptional competence, knowledge, experience, and capabilities. Elbanna and Fadol (2016) noted decision-makers deal with strategic issues that vary in their urgency and the seriousness of their consequences. However, it is critical that leaders recognize that diverse employees can bring value to decision making (Wyrick, 2015). Miska and Öner (2015) explained how leaders make decisions based on their global perspectives and emphasized the importance of responsible leadership given current economic developments, globalization, and increased business interconnectedness.

### **Culture: History, Definition, and Impacts on Leadership**

The meaning of "culture" is different in various contexts and environments (Ullah & Murad, 2016). Tsai et al. (2019) defined culture as the cumulative deposit of knowledge, experience, values, attitudes, meanings, notions of time, roles, spatial relations, concepts of the universe, and material objects and possessions acquired by a group of people in the course of generations through individual and group striving.

Culture is an unchanging (regardless of context), subjective, trans-situational "value" (McSweeney, 2016). There are varieties of cultural theories (McSweeney, 2016). Culture in the United States is different from the cultures in Europe and the rest of the world (Pasricha, Singh, & Verma, 2017).

A leader's cultural background influences leadership (R. Mittal, 2015). Besnoy et al. (2015) noted that leaders' effectiveness and success is largely dependent on the ability to adjust to the various cultural contexts. Leaders need abilities to adapt to a variety of cultural situations, these abilities are called cultural intelligence (Besnoy et al., 2015). Cultural intelligence is essential to effective leadership in multicultural environments (Presbitero, 2016; Schlägel & Sarstedt, 2016). Developing and evaluating cross-cultural intelligence is challenging (Nunes, Felix, & Prates, 2017; Presbitero & Toledano, 2018). Besnoy et al. noted that cultural intelligence offers leaders an overall selection and perspective that can be applied to a numerous of cultural situations.

The focus on culture might have emerged in the 18th century in Europe where it meant a process of cultivation or improvement, as in agriculture or horticulture (Ullah & Murad, 2016). In the 19th century, culture referred to the betterment or refinement of the individual, mainly through education, and then to the fulfillment of national aspirations or ideals. In the mid-19th century, some scientists used the term "culture" to refer to a global human capacity (Ullah & Murad, 2016). The interconnectedness of global businesses (globalization), civilization, and the new methods of effective leadership in the environments of diversity embrace the ideologies of the 21st century's generation from various geographical locations including impacts on leaders, followers, and organizations.

Cultural bias is real (Thompson et al., 2016). Identifying cultural biases is important for global leaders for effective leadership specifically in the environment of diversity. Despite the presence of cultural differences in organizational leadership,

cultural biases can be problematic to global leadership. The amplifying effects of culture can allow weak cognitive biases to have significant population-level consequences, radically increasing the evolving of weak, defeasible inductive biases (Thompson et al., 2016). Conversely, the emergence of a strong cultural universal does not imply, nor lead to, nor require strong innate constraints (Lam et al., 2016; Thompson et al., 2016).

Northouse (2013) defined culture as learned beliefs, values, rules, norms, symbols, and traditions that are common to a group of people (Northouse, 2013, p. 383). Magu (2015) defined culture as a dynamic, adaptive concept and practice, liberally from ideological and technological innovations of other cultures and integrating these borrowed aspects into the construction and modification of culture across spatial and geographical divides to ensure particular cultures' survival. The above definitions viewed culture as shared values, ideas, traditions, and principles, mostly social, political, and religious characterized by different behaviors from various environments (Miska & Öner, 2015).

On a smaller scale, organizations have their cultures and their prevalent value systems (Hofstede, 1985). However, understanding culture can equip a person for the challenges of contemporary international business even within the national context (Dabić et al., 2015). More importantly, culture has become an essential ingredient in the economic development strategies of many cities (Collins & Loukaitou-Sideris, 2016). Therefore, cross-cultural research in leadership serves the purpose of creating unique and new insights and of generating broader concepts, rather than simple comparisons (Dabić et al., 2015).

There is a need for multidimensional analysis and an in-depth understanding of cross-cultural leadership for leaders, and CEOs that are leading multicultural organizations across the world. The impacts of globalization have introduced a higher level of diversity in various multicultural industries (Stern, 2013). Diversity in multinational companies is real. Casey, Riseborough, and Krauss (2015) noted that the growing international trade and globalization are increasing the cultural diversity of the modern workforce, which often results in migrants working under the management of foreign leadership. As a result, immigration enhances cultural diversity and has recently been a contentious issue in many countries such as the United States of America, France, and the United Kingdom (Berry, 2016).

It is essential to understand that there must be both cultural diversity and equity in social participation for true multiculturalism to exist (Berry, 2016). In culturally diverse social contexts, virtually every person' experiences intercultural contact daily (Berry, 2016). The core notion of the multiculturalism hypothesis is that only when people are secure in their identities, they are in a position to accept those who differ from them (Lebedeva & Galyapina, 2016).

In organizational settings, there can be positive and negative consequences (Berry, 2016). The positive and the negative impacts of globalization on multinational companies because of cultural differences are tangible factors that leaders should comprehend. The advent of globalization further intensifies the need for an effective approach leader may deploy when assessing the long-term consequences of their actions and decisions (Castelli, 2016). Because of globalization, it is vital that leaders become

aware of the values espoused within their organization as well as among their business partners and contemporaries, which may facilitate cross-national business interaction and leader effectiveness (Castelli, 2016; Tsai et al., 2019).

The most dynamic changes occurring in the 21st century are results of globalization (Evans, 2016). It is imperative that planners develop the skills necessary to communicate and collaborate internationally (Evans, 2016) to meet the demands of an increasingly globalized world. These skills must include competence and capabilities for leaders to lead efficiently and professionally in the environment of employees with diverse backgrounds.

Despite a few criticisms on cross-cultural differences and its negative implications on effective leadership (Yang, 2016), Kattman (2014) assumed that having diversity present in organizations would facilitate growth and productivity through the uniqueness and creativity presented through differing experiences, cultures, personalities, and talents. Cross-cultural differences could create severe negative consequences over an extended period (Emuwa & Fields, 2017; B. Lee. & Kelly, 2019). B. Lee and Kelly (2019) noted that leading cross-cultural differences and diversity in organizations requires effective leaders who are more versatile than leaders in organizations without cross-cultural differences. Strategies organizational leaders need to handle leadership issues in the environment of employees with diverse cultural backgrounds are within the scope of this project.

# **Culture and Leadership**

Leadership across cultures is an important topic in both the academic literature and in practice (Fan, 2018; Houghton, Carnes, & Ellison, 2014; Hwang et al., 2015). Culture has been the focus of many studies across a variety of disciplines (Northouse, 2013, p. 386). The notion of culture, as recognized in the scientific community, has been around for a while (Vaiman & Brewster, 2015). Culture signifies the fundamental values and belief systems of the individuals that expected to impact leadership mechanisms (R. Mittal, 2015). Culture is a pervasive construct (R. Mittal & Elias, 2016). Additionally, the term "culture" has been defined in many ways, each one claiming a meaningful understanding of the construct (R. Mittal & Elias, 2016).

Culture is the mental programming of the human spirit that allows distinguishing the members of one category in comparison with the members of another category (Hofstede, 1984). The definition Hofstede (1984) provided implies differences in human beliefs system, depending on its geographic, environmental, and social classifications. Culture affects all facets of life by influencing values, attitudes, and behaviors of society (Flatten, Adams, & Brettel, 2015). Therefore, the conceptualization of culture and leadership is critical to understand the scope of this project.

All over the world, companies find themselves in cultures different from the companies' parent country cultures (Dartey-Baah, 2013). Woods, Paulus, Atkins, & Macklin (2015) stated that globalization creates an uncertain environment characterized by diversity wherein multicultural corporations seek to gain a clear competitive advantage, in part by developing an aware cultural workforce. Nevertheless, leading

diversity could be complex (Berry, 2016). Berry (2016) noted that multiculturalism is a complex concept encompassing many dimensions and meanings. Conversely, the topic of leadership and culture extend to how leaders manage diversity (Stern, 2013).

Developing a culturally aware workforce requires the need to determine factors influencing the effectiveness of learning from cross-cultural experiences (Hannachi, 2015; Wood et al., 2015), an understanding of culture and effective leadership, and strategies for leaders to lead effectively in the environment of diverse cultural backgrounds. Leadership is crucial because it has an enormous impact on the condition of the organization (Chow Tong, Salley, & Ismail, 2017; Nasomboon, 2014). Nasomboon (2014) noted that leadership commitment directly affects organizational performance and employee engagement. Northouse (2013) suggested that an experienced leader should find a way to negotiate with followers from various backgrounds (Northouse, 2013, p. 386). It is important, even essential, for global business leaders to understand cultural differences at workplaces specifically when leading workers from multiple cultural backgrounds (Kattman, 2014).

Previous studies on cross-cultural leadership (J. Kim & McLean, 2015) have concluded that some leadership behaviors appear to be universally effective across culture. Other leadership behaviors and preferred leadership styles vary considerably from one culture to another (Hwang et al., 2015). Despite the universality of cross-cultural leadership (Minelgaite & Littrell, 2018), global leaders need to develop transcultural competencies, skills, and capabilities, and be able to adapt to followers with different cultural beliefs rather than their cultures or beliefs system. Culture's influence

on leadership processes is accepted (R. Mittal, 2015). Cultural context affects the leadership style of organizational leaders (R. Mittal, 2015).

Stern (2013) suggested that leaders should be able to identify with the styles their organizations could use to identify leaders and provide support to leadership development. Leaders must have the ability to apply precise leadership styles (transactional, behavioral, transformational or charismatic) on followers depending on particular cultural context. Organizational leaders and businesses traditionally looked for modern leaders with specific leadership styles and competencies capable of leading in multinational environments (Jönsson et al., 2015; Rana, Ardichvili, & Polesello, 2016; Seidle, Fernandez, & Perry, 2016). The argument that Westernization or Americanization is impacting foreign cultures in a way that aims to change and heavily influence foreign cultures is shown to carry some weight, but people in cultures are selective of processes they adapt (Magu, 2015).

In a multicultural setting, Kopelman, Hardin, Myers, and Tost (2016) suggested that the culture of the high-power person is likely to influence a low-power individual's expectations. For example, American culture could be more likely to influence other countries culture because of the high-low power concept in between them. Kopelman et al. proposed that in a situation of low power, leaders from cultures relatively attuned to power asymmetry and with a collective orientation might be more likely to adjust their behavior based on the culture of the person in high power. Since culture addresses the basic values and belief systems of an individual, according to R. Mittal and Elias (2016), it is evident that culture would influence the effectiveness of leadership processes (e.g.

the ability to influence others). It is important that cultural issues provide the needed attention if multinational companies are to succeed particularly in a competitive business environment (Dartey-Baah, 2013).

#### Ethnocentrism, Prejudice, and Impacts on Leadership

Ethnocentrism and prejudice are two important concepts that could influence the effectiveness and performance of leadership (Northouse, 2013, p. 384) if the leader fails to comprehend their meanings and effects. Ethnocentrism refers to one's discriminatory attitude towards cross-cultural differences (Barbuto, Beenen, & Tran, 2015).

Ethnocentrism is the tendency for individuals to place their group (ethnic, racial, or cultural) at the center of their observations of others and the world (Northouse, 2013, p. 385). These ideologies of racial superiority dominated the 19st century (Darian-Smith, 2016). Some Americans think that the democratic principles of the United States are superior to the political beliefs of other cultures; Americans often fail to understand the complexity of other cultures (Northouse, 2013, p. 385). Placing one's culture, ideology or belief at the center of observations of others could weaken leadership effectiveness in the environment of diverse cultural backgrounds.

Ethnocentrism can be a major obstacle to effective leadership because it prevents people from fully understanding or respecting the viewpoints of others (Northouse, 2013, p. 385). Northouse (2013) noted that ethnocentrism is a universal tendency, and each of us is ethnocentric to some degree. Ethnocentricity risks damage to diversity initiatives (C. M. Han & Won, 2018; Reilly, 2015). Ethnocentrism is problematic for leaders because it prevents them from fully understanding the world of others (J. Lee, Crawford, Weber, &

Dennison, 2018; Northouse, 2013, p. 420). Conversely, cultural security negatively correlated with ethnocentrism, and positively correlated with multicultural ideology and with the perceived consequences of multiculturalism (Barbuto et al., 2015; Lebedeva & Galyapina, 2016). A skilled leader cannot avoid the issues related to ethnocentrism (Northouse, 2013, p. 385).

Prejudice refers to judgments about others on previous decisions or experiences (Northouse, 2013, p. 385), which are culturally sensitive. Since the conceptualization of leadership revolves around influence and influencing, it is inherently culture sensitive (R. Mittal, 2015). When people feel threatened, they develop prejudice and engage in discrimination (Lebedeva & Galyapina, 2016).

Lebedeva & Galyapina (2016) suggested that negative attitudes held by one group toward another cause lack of knowledge about that group. Lebedeva and Galyapina noted that when individuals of two groups come into positive, personal, and cooperative contact with each other, they get to know each other, and by doing so leads to the elimination or reduction of prejudice. Both ethnocentrism and prejudice interfere with the ability to understand and appreciate the human experience of others (Northouse, 2013, p. 386).

### Hofstede's Dimensions of Culture and Leadership Implications

Many researchers have focused their studies on various identifying dimensions of culture (Northouse, 2013). Hofstede (1983) identified four major dimensions to characterize cultural differences, which include: (a) power distance, (b) uncertain avoidance, (c) individualism-collectivism, (d) masculinity-femininity, and (e) long-term-short-term orientation. Hofstede (1983) studied industrial employees from 50 countries

using 116,000 questionnaires to measure cultural dimensions. These cultural dimensions represent universal categories for characterizing national societies offering a framework for developing hypotheses in cross-cultural organization studies (Hofstede, 1983).

Exploration of national cultures includes nine dimensions: performance orientation, future orientation, assertiveness, power distance, humane orientation, institutional collectivism, in-group collectivism, uncertainty avoidance, and gender egalitarianism (Hofstede, 1983). Different societies have found different answers to Hofstede's (1983) four dimensions of culture related to very fundamental problems human societies face. As a result, Hofstede's four dimensions to explain (1) different ways of structuring organizations, (2) different motivations of people within organizations, and (3) different issues people and organizations face within society (Hofstede, 1983).

Power distance. Power distance is the extent to which the members of a society accept that power in institutions and organizations is distributed unequally (Hofstede, 1985). Power distance has implications in multicultural organizations. Ji, Zhou, Li, and Yan (2015) noted that power distance orientation had a significantly negative impact on employees' instrumental and emotional help seeking as well as their trust in the supervisor. Global leaders must develop concrete leadership capabilities and understandings to deal with the immediate implications of power distance on their leaderships.

Even though workers have the ultimate responsibilities to understand the organizational culture of their companies, differences between high power distance and

low power distance could cause cross-cultural leadership issues. Dartey-Baah (2013) stated that managers in high power distance societies tend to believe in giving subordinates detailed instructions with little room for interpretation. R. Mittal and Elias (2016) noted that people in high power distance societies accept a hierarchical order in which everybody has a place, and no justification is required for power inequalities. Subordinates are supposed to respect the authority and superiority of upper management (Dartey-Baah, 2013). In a low power distance environment, people believe in a decentralized system where communication flows horizontally, as opposed to in a high-power distance community in which people tends to believe in a centralized leadership system where communication flows from the top down.

Power distance is concerned with the way cultures stratified, thus creating levels between people based on power, authority, prestige, status, wealth, and material possessions (Northouse, 2013). Power distance is the extent to which less powerful members of a society accept the fact that power is distributed unequally (Besbes, Legohérel, Kucukusta, & Law, 2016; Sukanya, 2015). In systems in which superiors maintain a great power distance, subordinates tend to polarize toward dependence or counter-dependence (Hofstede, 1983).

Members of cultures having a lower power distance may feel sympathetic with egalitarian ideas and be more critical of corporate hierarchies (Deephouse, Newburry, & Soleimani, 2016). Conversely, in a culture where superiors maintain less power distance, subordinates tend to prefer the consultative decision style, which can be interpreted as a compromise solution, an interdependence of superior and subordinate (Hofstede, 1983).

Dartey-Baah (2013) noted that in cultures with high power distance, loyalty and obedience to those in a higher authority are required, and, in fact, are the norm.

Uncertainty avoidance. Uncertainty avoidance is the degree to which the members of society feel uncomfortable with uncertainty and ambiguity (Besbes et al., 2016; R. Mittal & Elias, 2016), which leads them to support beliefs promising certainly and to maintain institutions protecting conformity (Hofstede, 1985). Leaders in high uncertain avoidance environment are reluctant to change because of organizational strict rules and regulations they use to control existing work processing. Conversely, leaders in low uncertainty avoidance are open to change, open to innovate, and ready to take risks.

Hofstede (1984) stated that cultures with strong uncertainty avoidance are active, aggressive, emotional, security seeking and intolerant, while cultures with weak uncertainty avoidance are contemplative, less aggressive, unemotional, accepting of personal risk, and relatively tolerant. In cultures of strong uncertainty avoidance, there is a need for rules and formality to structure life and competence is a strong value resulting in belief in experts. In weak uncertainty avoidance cultures, there is a strong belief in the generalist (Besbes et al., 2016).

Hofstede's study conducted in 1980 revealed that the United States has a higher level of uncertainty avoidance than the United Kingdom (Zorn, Bellman, Robinson, & Varan, 2016). Uncertainty avoiding cultures try to reduce uncertainty with laws, rules, procedures, etc. (Deephouse et al., 2016). Even though Hofstede's study was conducted in the 1980s, later studies conducted on cross-cultural leadership confirmed the differences in uncertainty avoidance between the United States and the United Kingdom

caused by culture (Deephouse et al., 2016; Zorn et al., 2016). People in a low uncertainty avoidance society are more willing to take risks and appreciate flexibility and informality in the workplace. In contrast, people in a high uncertainty avoidance society tend to be risk-averse and favor rigid, formal decision-making processes in the workplace (Dartey-Baah, 2013).

Individualism-Collectivism. Individualism stands for a preference for a loosely-knit social framework in society in which individuals are supposed to take care of themselves and their immediate families only (Hofstede, 1985; Krassner et al., 2017; Obal & Kunz, 2016). Collectivism stands for a preference for a tightly knit social framework in which individuals can expect their relatives, clan or other in-group to look after them, in exchange for unquestioning loyalty (R. Mittal & Elias, 2016). In individualist cultures, people look after themselves and their immediate family only (Besbe et al., 2016; Krassner et al., 2017; Obal & Kunz, 2016). However, in collectivist cultures, people belong to groups that look after them in exchange for loyalty (Besbe et al., 2016). In many organizations with collectivistic cultural value, an individual wants to belong and enjoy being part of the group (Chen, Zhang, Zhang, & Xu, 2016).

Wong, Wyer, and Robert (2016) found that people with an individualistic orientation consider themselves independent from others, whereas those with a collectivistic orientation are more inclined to think of themselves as part of a group or collective to which they belong. In individualistic societies, employees are provided with a great deal of personal freedom and autonomy (Dartey-Baah, 2013). Conversely, collective cultures do not usually allow the freedom and independence necessary for

organizational members to think creatively and, thereby, fail to cultivate an environment that fosters an innovative spirit (Dartey-Baah, 2013).

**Masculinity-Femininity.** Masculinity stands for a preference for achievement, heroism, assertiveness, and material success (R. Mittal & Elias, 2016), as opposed to femininity, which stands for a preference for relationships, modesty, caring for the weak, and quality of life (Hofstede, 1985). In a masculine society, even the women prefer assertiveness (at least in men); in a feminine society, even the men prefer modesty (Hofstede, 1985). Assertiveness refers to the degree to which people in a culture are determined, confrontational, and aggressive in their social relationships (Northouse, 2013). Assertiveness is concerned with how much culture or society encourages people to be forceful, aggressive, and tough, as opposed to encouraging them to be timid, submissive, and tender in social relationships (Northouse, 2013). In feminine cultures, people tend to emphasize the quality of the "whole" life rather than money, success, and social status, which are easier to quantify (Dartey-Baah, 2013). Top management positions in masculinity cultures are usually filled with men who tend to display characteristics of dominance and assertiveness, which tend to be discouraged among women by societal gender norms (Dartey-Baah, 2013).

# **Transition and Summary**

In Section 1, I discussed the foundation of the study, the problem statement, the purpose statement, the research question, the conceptual framework, operational definitions, and the significance of the study, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and a review of the professional and academic literature. In Section 2, I define the study's key

components including the role of the researcher. I also discuss the research method and design, present a detailed description of the population sampling, and ethical research. I include discussions of data collection, organization, and analysis, and approaches for assuring the study's validity and reliability. In Section 3, I present results from the interviews, the study's conclusions, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for future research and conclusions.

# Section 2: The Project

In this section, I reiterate the purpose statement and describe my role as the researcher. I then describe the study's method, design, population and sampling; data collection instruments and techniques; and the data analysis process. Additional components of Section 2 include the actions I took to assure my conclusions' reliability and validity. This section concludes with a description of the foundation of the study, and transition into Section 3, which includes data results from the interviews, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations, and conclusions.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore cross-cultural leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to expand business operations into global markets. The target population of this study included leaders of three multinational companies located in Minnesota with successful experience growing companies internationally through leading employees with culturally diverse backgrounds. I focused on leaders who have developed cross-cultural leadership strategies leading culturally diverse employees at both local and global locations. Through semistructured, face-to-face interviews and companies' progress reports and financial records, I identified and explored cross-cultural strategies local retail business leaders developed and used to successfully lead culturally diverse employees at both local and global locations.

The implications for positive social change include improving local and global employees' job conditions, which may enhance community business sustainability. The findings of this research could positively support organizational leaders in sustainability

efforts in job creation, promoting the dignity of global employees with diverse cultural backgrounds, increasing sales for businesses, improving the economy, and developing labor movement programs. The results of this study may contribute to social change by helping local retail companies create employment opportunities, which could improve employees' living standards.

#### Role of the Researcher

The researcher of a study has ultimate responsibility to ensure that the research follows certain guidelines, rules, and principles (Yin, 2018). Besides following guidelines, rules, and principles, my responsibilities included collecting data from local retail business leaders, providing a complete analysis of the data, and comparing my assessment with recently published peer-reviewed articles. The researcher is the primary data collector in qualitative research, whose interaction can influence the data deliberately or inadvertently (Yin, 2018). I collected data using face-to-face semistructured interviews supported by companies' additional documents.

Over time, individuals accumulate attitudes, biases, and values (Lehman, 2016). It takes a lifelong, evolving process to develop awareness, knowledge, and skills for multicultural competence while minimizing attitudes, and biases; this process is not achievable during a one-time event (Lehman, 2016; Orange, 2016). My assumptions, conceptions, and judgments are that poor leadership in the environment of cultural diversity could lead to inefficiencies. To mitigate the possible effects of personal biases, I followed the interview protocol and had participants describe their experiences leading employees with diverse cultural backgrounds.

Yin (2018) suggested testing one's tolerance to contrary findings to remove bias. Noble and Smith (2015) suggested mitigating bias by using various sources to gather and analyze data including notetaking, audio recording, observation, member checking with participants, and peer review. I avoided asking closed questions and allusive interruptions during the interviews to minimize the effect of my biases. Petronytė-Kvedarauskienė and Gudaitė (2016) recommended avoiding any form of narcissism by allowing participants to illustrate their viewpoints and experiences rather than projecting researchers' assumptions for the study and allow criticism to get relevant information from the participants.

The Belmont Report included three basic ethical principles that should underlie all research involving human participants (HHS, 2014). These principles are beneficence, justice, and respect for participants that directly or indirectly participate in the study (Schneider, 2012). As the researcher must follow ethical procedures (Greenwood, 2016), as discussed in the Ethical Assurances subheading, I followed ethical standards by respecting participants and demonstrating justice. These ethical codes of conduct guide researchers during data collecting and analyses processes, the interpretation of the data, and the writing of the research paper.

Yin (2018) proposed using interview protocols to ensure the protection of the participants. The interview protocol for this study (see Appendix B) contains a complete description of the interview process including discussing and the objectives of the research study. The interview protocol included: (a) an introduction reiterating the confidentiality nature of the interview to the participants, (b) a permission to conduct the

interview at a convenient location selected by the participants, (c) a clarification of member-checking follow-up interview, and (d) a presentation of appreciation to the participants for accepting the invitation to participate the study. The rationale of semistructured interview protocol was to allow participants to express their opinions, knowledge, ideas, and experiences. The combination of interviews and data from archival documents review represents a model for case study research and triangulation of data (Yin, 2018).

#### **Participants**

The participants of a research study are volunteers who provided information related to the study (Kornbluh, 2015; Palinkas, Horwitz, Green, Wisdom, Duan, & Hoagwood, 2015). I selected the participants based on their personal experience or knowledge of the topic under study. The participants included leaders of culturally diverse businesses operating both locally and globally. The participants in this study had recent and relevant cross-cultural leadership experience and were leading employees with different cultural backgrounds. Yin (2018) stated that experience with a phenomenon was a prerequisite for participants in a qualitative case study. Knowledge of research participants' experiences, opinions, and perceptions can inform the way research studies, and their informed consent processes are designed for the protection of human subjects (Kornbluh, 2015).

Yin (2018) suggested that participants' recruitments to be subjectively selected. I used a list of the top largest multinational companies operating in the United States, specifically in Minnesota to identify companies with prospective participants. I adopted

purposive sampling to recruit participants and conducted the interviews outside the participants' workplaces. Castillo-Montoya (2016) noted that participants became more relaxed when they met at a convenient location. I used purposeful sampling to select participants with successful experience leading culturally diverse individuals both locally and globally.

I used LinkedIn to locate professional email addresses for the top leaders, including CEOs, operating these multinational companies. Claybaugh and Haseman (2013) determined that LinkedIn was useful as a professional networking site to locate executive email information. Upon IRB approval, I initiated and established email and telephone conversations with the selected top leaders and CEOs (see appendix C).

Participants of a research study must sign an informed consent form allowing the researcher to conduct interviews or surveys (HHS, 2014). Voluntary consent included the right of the person to refuse to participate in the study or to stop the participation at any time during the study without fear of any negative consequences (Schneider, 2012). Palinkas (2015) suggested using purposive sampling to identify participants. I used purposive sampling strategies to select the participants. The role of the participants was to provide information for addressing the research question.

### **Research Method and Design**

I adopted a qualitative research methodology and multiple case study research design. Qualitative researchers typically collect information on one topic, phenomena, or experience to enrich their desired understanding (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Matching the goals of research and answering the research question can be guiding factors for

selecting a research method and design (Garg, 2016). My goal for this research was to explore effective leadership strategies for local and global leaders based on cross-cultural perspectives. My intent was to understand what leadership strategies local retail and global leaders used to enhance work performance and profitability for becoming multinational companies through leading employees with culturally diverse backgrounds.

#### **Research Method**

The qualitative method was the research approach for this study to explore leadership strategies and experience based on cross-cultural perspectives as well as managerial and personal viewpoints. Researchers use the qualitative method to explore problems and ask open-ended questions rather than testing preconceived hypotheses (Choromides, 2018; Enosh & Ben-Ari, 2016). Using the qualitative research method requires a plan for engaging in a systematic inquiry to bring about a better understanding of the phenomenon and, increasingly, to change problematic social circumstances (Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, & Fontenot, 2015). Researchers use a qualitative study to gain an understanding of underlying reasons, opinions, and motivations (Babbie, 2015; Yin, 2018). Qualitative researchers use formless data collection methods—such as observations or documents—to discover reasons, feelings, behaviors, attitudes, and meanings of situations, and to inform business leaders' understandings of a specific topic of research (Yin, 2018).

Researchers use the qualitative research method to explore a variety of data types and sources (Babbie, 2015; Cruz & Tantia, 2017). A qualitative research methodology provides the opportunity for face-to-face interaction or telephone interviews to explore

the 'what' (Bowden & Galindo-Gonzalez, 2015) of cross-cultural understanding for leaders in the global perspectives. The qualitative method is appropriate if the study is exploratory and the researcher seeks to interpret a phenomenon, or the researcher has control over the interpretation of the data (Babbie, 2015; Yin, 2018). The qualitative method was appropriate because I explored the requirements of leadership in a global environment as experienced by the leaders participating in this study as well as the way these leaders learned and developed their global mindsets. The purpose of qualitative research is not to generalize to other subjects or settings, but to explore deeply a specific phenomenon or experience on which to build further knowledge or to develop practical strategies that are sensitive to the research participants (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011).

Studies of human experiences are not approachable through quantitative methods' focus on measurements and explanations of variables' relationships (Moustakas, 1994).

The nature of this study aligned with the qualitative research method versus the quantitative and mixed methods because the framework of the research was mainly exploratory. Because of the explorative nature of my research, a mixed method was not appropriate for addressing the research question. The qualitative method was appropriate for this study because the primary purpose of this research was to explore successful international leadership strategies in the cross-cultural environments, and not for testing preconceived hypothesis for quantitative or mixed methods studies.

Researchers use the qualitative method to investigate the *what*, *how*, *who*, and *why* of the issues, affording them the ability to draw rich descriptive explanations and

conclusions (Kruth, 2015). I choose the qualitative method over quantitative and mixed methods because the qualitative method uses open-ended questions, which could give participants adequate opportunities to provide answers in their words, rather than urging them to choose from list of limited responses. Because the purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore strategies global leaders use to lead domestic and international employees from diverse backgrounds effectively, qualitative research methodology was appropriate for this study.

Mixed-methods research methodology is a combination of qualitative and quantitative research methods (Van Cauter, Verlet, Snoeck, & Crompvoets, 2017). Using the mixed method requires the strengths and weaknesses of qualitative and quantitative research (Van Cauter et al., 2017). The mixed methods approach was not appropriate for this study because the quantitative portion of the mixed method was not suitable to answer the research question of this study.

### **Research Design**

I selected exploratory multiple case study as the research design to explore leadership strategies local and global leaders use to successfully lead culturally diverse employees both locally and internationally. A case study design was particularly appropriate to answer how and why questions or to describe a phenomenon and the real-life context in which it occurred. A case study consists of a complete set of interpretive material practices used to explore concrete issues, and to gain an understanding and insights for addressing research questions. Researchers use case study design for in-depth analysis of a phenomenon in a real-life context (Willgens et al., 2016). I used the case

study design to explore dimensions of local and global cross-cultural leadership strategies from different cases.

An exploratory multiple case study includes procedures central to all types of research issues, such as protecting against threats to validity, maintaining a chain of evidence, and investigating and testing rival explanations (Yin, 2018). I used the exploratory multiple case study to identify and explore strategic, ethical, and personal issues into the qualitative resource process because it addresses the purpose of this study. A benefit of case study research is that it allows the researcher's personal interaction with participants to determine perceptions and interpretations to questions (Yin, 2018). An additional benefit of case study research is that it is triangulated research (Yin, 2018) where researchers use multiple data types and sources such as interviews, documents, site visits, and general observations from which data are collected (Yin, 2018). Triangulation can decrease the limitations of a single case strategy and increase the possibility of convergence of findings (Varaki, Floden, & Kalatehjafarabadi, 2015; Yin, 2018).

The emphasis of a case study research is on identifying and summarizing of the principles and lessons learned in a particular instance, and their application to other cases or situations, thereby leading to potential transferability (Willgens et al., 2016).

Researchers use the exploratory case study design to integrate the different components of the study such as methods, tools, data collection instruments, techniques, and population sampling coherently and logically, for addressing the research problem (Ridder, 2017; Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) identified six origins for collecting data in qualitative case studies: (a) documentation, (b) archival records, (c) interviews, (d) direct

observation, (e) participant observation, and (f) physical artifacts. Qualitative researchers collect data from natural set up of events (Boddy, 2016).

I collected data using field interviews, observation of participants, and an assortment of archive documents directly related to cross-cultural leadership strategies local and global leaders use to lead culturally diverse individuals. Preventing unwillingness to share information from the participants regarding the results of the study is important (Smith, 2015). A key feature of this study was interviewing those who have experienced the phenomenon (Bowden & Galindo-Gonzalez, 2015). Participants included leaders who have experienced challenges of cross-cultural differences and demonstrated success in addressing the issues.

Qualitative studies can take a form of a case study, phenomenological, or ethnography (Yin, 2018). Phenomenology refers to understanding the lived or shared experiences of groups or individuals (Smith, 2015). The phenomenology approach was not appropriate for this study as the study's focus was not on exploring the personal meanings of individuals' experiencing a phenomenon.

Ethnographic designs are for the study of human culture in which the researcher connects to participants in hopes of understanding the culture (Government Service Design Manual, 2014). Ethnography design was not appropriate for this study because I did not connect participants' hope of understanding different culture sharing the same ideologies; instead, this study is about discovering strategies for global leaders for effective leadership in cross-cultural perspectives.

In this exploratory multiple case study, I explored the interactions and relationships among cross-cultural perspectives, and the interconnectedness of cross-cultural differences in both national and global standpoints, leadership performance, global leadership awareness, and the profitability of a company. For data organization purposes, Yin (2014) proposed different types of structures, such as linear analytic structure, comparative structure, chronological structure, theory-building structure, suspense structure, and sequenced structure. I arranged the study using a linear analytic structure. Explicit questions explored the variability of cross-cultural differences and its implications on leadership performance within environments. The driving force in this case study design of research was to assure objectivity, validity, and the reliability of the study.

Reaching the data saturation point for hematic analysis is important to validity in qualitative studies (Palinkas et al., 2015). Data saturation has been a debatable issue for some qualitative researchers (Marshall et al., 2015). Achieving data saturation should determine relevant sample size in a research study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The depth of participants' responses leads to data saturation (Tran, Porcher, Falissard, & Ravaud, 2016). The sample for the study included leaders from multinational companies operating in Minnesota. I continued interviewing leaders who experienced and addressed cross-cultural challenges until sampling became redundant with repetitive sample responses and the lack of new themes. Redundancy of responses from the participants demonstrates data saturation (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014).

## **Population and Sampling**

Because of the rise of globalization, some multinational companies and business leaders employ workers from diverse cultural backgrounds. Within the global business field, some leaders are facing challenges of cross-cultural differences. Qualitative research can traverse a range of information gathering and analysis methods, which have an impact on how participants are selected and when data collection should stop (Cleary et al., 2014). Cleary et al. (2014) suggested that participant selection must be congruent with the conceptual framework to evaluate qualitative research approaches.

I identified strategies global leaders use to lead workers from diverse backgrounds efficiently and meet their companies' goals. Participant familiarity with the research topic is an important consideration (Barratt, Ferris, & Lenton, 2015). Purposeful random sampling and snowball sampling are necessary for a research study to improve the credibility of the samples (Gentles, Charles, Ploeg, & McKibbon, 2015; Palinkas et al., 2015). The selection of participants took place through purposeful sampling and snowball sampling. Yin (2014) proposed six participants for reaching data saturation. Marshall et al. (2015) suggested that 15 to 30 participants could be the most appropriate number of participants in qualitative research. The number of participants depends on reaching data saturation. Gentles et al. (2015) noted that researchers use purposeful samples to focus on study topics relevant to participants creating an increased understanding of a phenomenon. I reached data saturation when I interviewed the third participant within each of the 3 companies.

Researchers use the snowball sampling method to identify participants relevant to the study and then ask each participant to refer another individual who will be relevant to the study (Gentles et al., 2015; Patton, 2015). Waters (2015) noted that snowball sampling is a highly effective sampling technique for researchers to reach hidden populations. Snowball sampling is a valuable tool for the study of particularly sensitive or private matters (Waters, 2015).

I used a list of the top multinational 500 companies and LinkedIn to identify and contact leaders operating in diverse cultural companies in the United States specifically in Minnesota. Identification of the participants was through purposeful sampling to ensure acceptable data quality. The selection and the interview of participants depended on particular characteristics of the population. These characteristics included countries of origin, the company they worked for, and the type of leadership used to lead intercultural teams.

It is important that qualitative researchers justify the sample size on the grounds of quality data, something that should reflect in the presentation of the study's findings (Cleary et al., 2014). Selecting the right sample size is a significant component for the researcher in the process of addressing the research questions (Marshall et al., 2015). Historically, researchers demonstrate little rigor in justifying sample size in qualitative research (Marshall et al., 2015). Nevertheless, it is unrealistic to conduct interviews with a whole population, and therefore the issue of what is a suitable and sufficient sample size emerges (Palinkas et al., 2015).

Case studies can suffice with a small sample size because researchers use multiple types and sources of evidence (Cleary et al., 2014). Moustakas (1994) noted that the use of a small sample size in a qualitative study allows researchers to conduct more in-depth research on a phenomenon. I continued collecting data until the information from the responses became redundant and no new themes emerged. Ensuring data saturation is important (Cleary et al., 2014). Data saturation occurs when no additional new data emerge during the data collection process for answering the research question in a qualitative, exploratory, multiple case study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). Data saturation entails bringing new participants into the study until the data are complete as indicated by redundancy or replication of information (Marshall et al., 2015), and stopping information gathering is dependent on 'redundancy' of information or 'saturation' (Cleary et al., 2014).

### **Ethical Research**

There are some general ethical implications and issues that I needed to consider when conducting the research. These ethical implications and issues included (a) participants' protection (b) misrepresentation of results, (c) confidentiality, and (d) the participants' right to withdraw from the research without any penalty or consequences. Confidentiality of the participants and misrepresentation of results are ethical misconduct researchers have to avoid (Patton, 2015). Walden University IRB approval number for this study was 12-21-17-0474161. I avoided any form of misrepresentation of results, which could be subject to a rejection, and a delay of the research by the IRB. Mitigating biases is achieved through using various sources to collect and analyze multiple types of

data, including notetaking, interview recording, and member checking, is important (Noble & Smith, 2015).

Ethical protection. Participants' protection is necessary for academic research to ensure that it is ethical (Haines, 2017). I stimulated transparency with the participants, developed trust with them in the process of the research, and promoted the integrity of the research by granting informed consent to them. Obtaining IRB formal permission and informed written consent is essential before proceeding with research (Gelling, 2015). IRB approval is essential because ethical issues may arise when research involves human participants (Tsan & Tsan, 2015).

When providing evidence of developing and implementing protections for research participants, researchers provide data that indicate evidence and effectiveness of such protections (Gelling, 2015; Kornbluh, 2015). I performed the interviews of the participants by IRB requirements and standards. Before the interviews, each participant read and signed the consent form.

Informed consent process and incentives. Informed consent should include specific study details (Gelling, 2015). Participants must receive a copy of the signed informed consent and the original kept in a file (Gelling, 2015). Gelling (2015) advised participants to sign the consent forms before interviews. Participants signed a consent form, demonstrated willingness to participate, and provided requested information needed for a successful project. I emailed the consent forms to the participants.

Enhancement of ethical procedures can occur through participant informed consent and appraisement of the intent, risks, and benefits associated with this study

(Greenwood, 2016). I used the consent form to inform the participants about the purpose of the study. The consent form included information on the participants' right to participate in or to withdraw from the study at any time without consequences. As the potential benefits of the research can serve as an incentive (Palinkas et al., 2015), there were no monetary incentives offered to participants.

Withdrawal. Participants could withdraw from participating in the study anytime, before, during, or after the interview process. I ensured that participants understood the voluntary nature of the study. Explaining the content of the consent form to the participants for better understanding was important. Protecting human subjects includes making sure that they know that they are in control of the process (Burkett, & Morris, 2015; Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Participants could have withdrawn from the study without any penalty by contacting me via email, phone, or in person. None of the participants withdrew from the study.

Confidentiality and data protection. Tsan and Tsan (2015) posited that confidentiality of participants is significant in any study. Ensuring participants' confidentiality by securing all interview data sheets containing identifiers, such as names and addresses, with password-protection is imperative. Allowing participants to check and confirm personal data of their interviews ensures ethical adequacy and accuracy (Morse, 2015). Participants verified and authenticated the interpretation of the data to ensure uniformity and accuracy of the information they provided during the interviews. I asked the participants to give consent to have the interview recorded. Participants received a signed copy of the consent form.

Participants need autonomy to make decisions about interview logistics (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Participant's convenience is important to decide the site and the time of the interviews. In addition, the setting must be comfortable and provide each participant with a sense of control (Morse, 2015). Participants choose interview locations of their convenience. Establishing a relationally safe space is important for methodological and ethical reasons, as well as offering support when intense feelings are present during the interview (Burkett, & Morris, 2015). I informed the participants that the data collected will be saved and remain encrypted for 5 years.

All data, including the informed consent form, electronic data, hard copies of the research data, and the transcript linked to participants and organizations participating in the study are password protected on a thumb drive and stored in a secure place for 5 years. After the 5 years, I will destroy the information by shredding the paper documents and erasing the e-data from the thumb drive. To ensure participants' identities remain confidential, I did not use their actual names in the transcripts or the doctoral study.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

The primary data collection instrument of research is the researcher (McDonald, 2015; Yin, 2018). I was the primary data collection instrument. Using effective means of data collection in research is imperative to ensure that the data collected in the process of the research are credible, accurate, and valid. Semistructured interviews offer a flexible medium of communication between the researcher and the participants (Bryman & Bell, 2015).

The use of interviews serves as a framework, allowing participants to speak freely (McIntosh, & Morse, 2015). Bryman and Bell (2015) noted that the use of semistructured interview creates rich depth meaning associated with a phenomenon. Semistructured interviews included questions prepared in advance but provide the investigator with the flexibility to probe based on participant's response (Castillo & Montoya, 2016; Yin, 2018). Using semistructured interviews allow the researcher to ask open-ended questions without predetermined answers (McIntosh & Morse, 2015; Yin, 2018). I collected data through face-to-face or Skype semistructured interviews. I also used a data collection instrument to record my observations and document findings from additional data to assure the validity and reliability of the study. Observation is a form of data collection instrument useful to understand participants' actions, roles, and behaviors (Salmon, 2015). Salmon (2015) noted that observational research methods are important for understanding people's actions, roles, and behaviors.

Participants' understanding of the consent form is necessary (Winterbottom, Boon, Mior, & Caulfield, 2014). I explained the content of the consent form to the participants for proper understanding before the beginning of each interview. The consent form included details and comprehensive clarifications regarding: (a) procedures, (b) the voluntary nature of the study, (c) conflicts of interest, (d) risks and benefits, (e) compensation, (f) privacy and confidentiality, and (g) contact information. Winterbottom et al. (2014) suggested that participants should read and sign the consent form before the interviews. Participants read and signed the consent form before the beginning of each interview.

I used documents to assure the validity and reliability of the data collected from participants. Yin (2014) noted that documentary information is likely to be relevant to every case study topic. Documentation provides evidence for data triangulation, increases the reliability of the research data, creates resourceful means of understanding a problem, and offers a richer understanding of the research phenomenon (Yin, 2018).

Documentation provides access to a variety of events and settings using stable documents

Documentation provides access to a variety of events and settings using stable documents that contained specific references and details of events that researchers can frequently review (Yin, 2018).

I input the data collected into NVivo. NVivo is a secure system with advanced technology reliable for assuring data validity for both qualitative and mixed-methods research methods. I used the computerized text analysis from NVivo in the process of coding, analyzing, categorizing data, and mitigating bias in the interpretation of the results. Accurate data collection is essential in enhancing the ability to answer the research question (Yin, 2018).

To ensure rigor in a qualitative study, researchers recommend strategies, such as prolonged engagement and persistent observation, triangulation, peer debriefing, member checking, audit trail, reflexivity, and thick descriptions (Houghton et al., 2014).

Researchers assure the reliability and validity of the research findings through member checking (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). Member checking is the process that allows participants to confirm researcher interpretations of their responses, add new information as needed, or make corrections to their responses (Morse, 2015). I used member checking to assure reliability and validity of the study. Member checking is

convenient to develop codes and identify themes (Birt et al., 2016; Vaismoradi, Jones, Turunen, & Snelgrove, 2016).

Ozertugrul (2015) suggested that participant validation of transcripts might increase trustworthiness. Researchers have to promote a climate of trust and communication that allows good explanation of the project, its aims, the expectations for the participants, the process of the communicative methodology, and what the information will help achieve (Morse, 2015). I used the questions in Appendix A during the interviews.

## **Data Collection Technique**

Interview questions represent one of the most common ways of collecting rich and meaningful data in qualitative research (Oates, 2015). Data collection began after receiving approval from the IRB. I launched participants' recruitment after I received IRB approval. I sent the consent form to the participants and then scheduled the date, time, and location of the interview because participants' privacy is important for research settings.

Each participant reviewed and signed the informed consent before the interviews to validate their willingness to participate in the study. I established email communications with qualified leaders who demonstrated their willingness to participate in the study (see Appendix C). Birt et al. (2016) used email to communicate with participants. I used the email conversation with the participants to schedule the date, time, and the locations of the interviews.

Researchers use a semistructured, face-to-face interview technique, or real-time video and audio conferencing, e.g, Skype, Facetime, etc., to facilitate more effective communications (Oates, 2015). The data collection obtained in this qualitative multiple case study was through semistructured face-to-face or Skype interviews and a review of companies' documents. I conducted face-to-face, semistructured interviews with three local retail business leaders who had a least 6 to 8 years global leadership experience. Additional data collection involved a review of the companies' progress reports, and other administrative and financial documents and records, to confirm and to support the participants' interview responses.

The interview protocol (see Appendix B) included a brief introduction of the study, setting expectations for the interview, participants' time, addressing sensitivity concerns, and a list of open-ended interview questions. I used member checking follow-up and recordings to mitigate potential issues that could emerge after the data collection process. Burkett and Morris (2015) suggested that participants must be able to choose an off-site venue convenient for the interview. The initial interviews took place at convenient remote locations away from the respective participants' companies, in an atmosphere that was free of distractions. I asked seven open-ended questions to each participant to gain a detailed understanding of what leadership strategies local retail business leaders used when expanding business operations into global markets (see Appendix A). The use of open-ended questions helped collect information on strategies local and global leaders use to lead culturally diverse employees successfully.

Participants received the interview questions for review before the beginning of the interview (see Appendix A).

Following the initial interviews, I used member checking with each participant to ensure the accuracy and clarity of my interpretations and understanding of the initial interviews. Member checking is the process of bringing back an interpretive report of the interview to the interviewee for review and confirmation (Harvey, 2015). Each local retail business leader had the opportunity to review the interpretations of the first interviews to confirm the accuracy of the findings. I performed member checking to obtain participants' feedback on validity, trustworthiness, comprehensiveness of findings, and to validate the accuracy of the interpretations. Researchers use member checking to mitigate misconstruction, distortion, and misinterpretation of data (Noble & Smith, 2015). Tellado, Lopez-Calvo, and Alonso-Olea (2014) suggested data collection through a transcription of interpreted interview or member checking process until saturation.

The advantage of the data collection technique was the use of the face-to-face interview process, which helped me to collect accurate and credible data. The face-to-face interview helped me to capture the body language, emotions, and behaviors of the participants. In addition to the answers participants provided, I took notes of their body language, which could influence the interview process. A disadvantage of the face-to-face data collection technique is the travel required to interview the participants, which could incur additional expenses. The advantage of using multiple data collection techniques is the ability to use more data sources to assure the validity and reliability of a study (Check et al., 2014).

Methodologically, pilot cases can provide information about relevant field questions and the logistics of the field inquiry (Watson, 2016; Yin, 2018). Since case studies are subject to emergent questions and responses from participants, irrespective of the interview questions predefined for the intended study (Uwuigbe, 2014), I did not conduct a pilot study for this study after receiving IRB approval. The collection of data was done through various sources, e.g., face-to-face interviews, observations, and documentation, to clarify the realities of cross-cultural unawareness on global business leaders.

Most qualitative researchers, studying human phenomena, collect data through interviews with individuals or groups (O'Cathain et al., 2015). Researchers' selection of the type of interview depends on the purpose of the study and the resources available (O'Cathain et al., 2015). Face-to-face interviews, observations, and documentation offered the participants the opportunity to express and demonstrate their experiences of the phenomenon under study. As Patton (2015) suggested using audio recording during the interviews to ensure data quality, the interview method for this study involved digital audio recording throughout the process of the face-to-face interviews with the participants.

# **Data Organization Technique**

In the protocols of data collection, researchers use multiple data sources to collect the data, organize the data, and document the data (Yin, 2018). Patton (2015) suggested that researchers firmly protect digital data. To ensure the confidentiality of the research, I used the guidelines required to satisfy the fulfillment of Walden University's IRB

requirements. The collected data will remain in a secure, encrypted, safe, and protected location accessible by administered password accessible by only me. Peer review or debriefing, negative or deviant case analysis and member checking are additional strategies to support credibility (Morse, 2015). The interview recording and transcript are password-protected accessible by me and would be made available by Walden IRB officials upon written request (Walden University, 2015a). I will destroy the interview recordings and documentation after 5 years. Additional data organization techniques I used included copying data into multiple locations, password protection, and saving data on several flash drives to avoid catastrophic data loss that could affect the study.

I used NVivo as computerized text analysis software to help organize, analyze, and find insights in unstructured or qualitative data like interviews, articles, social media, and web content. Watson (2016) recommended the use of NVivo software for effective and efficient content analysis of qualitative research data. Woods et al. (2015) confirmed that researchers can use NVivo to organize and manage research material, identify threads, and identify dominant themes.

### **Data Analysis**

Data analysis can be perplexing, and overwhelming task researchers encounter during the process of qualitative research because of the large amounts of information the researchers collect from participants (Sealey & Hathorn, 2014). Analyzing case study evidence can be especially difficult because the techniques still have not been well defined (Yin, 2018). A persistent challenge in conducting a research study is to use high-quality analyses, which require attending to all the evidence collected, displaying and

presenting the evidence apart from any interpretation, and considering alternative interpretations (Yin, 2018). It is important to analyze qualitative data systematically and explain the data analysis process (Willgens et al., 2016).

Researchers use the conceptual framework as a connecting link between a literature review and the study results to better organize and analyze the study (Trochim, Donnelly, & Arora, 2015). Key themes in the literature review and conceptual framework in this study include cross-cultural differences, globalization, culture, cross-cultural leadership, leadership strategies in cross-cultural perspectives, prejudice, diversity, ethnocentrism, cultural intelligence, organizational culture, global leadership awareness, cultural diversity. I used these potential themes as guidance during the data analysis process to organize, categorize, and analyze the data I collected from the participants.

Data analysis consists of examining, categorizing, tabulating, testing, or otherwise recombining evidence to produce empirically based findings (Yin, 2018). The process of data analysis in this study included methodological triangulation of data from the interviews and archival document review. Data triangulation involves the collection of data from different types of people, including individuals, groups, families, and communities, to gain multiple perspectives and validation of data (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014). Triangulation helps reinforce the validity of the research (Yin, 2018). Data and methodological triangulation are qualitative research strategies used to assure validity through the convergence of information from different sources (Carter et al., 2014).

The process of data analysis began after completion of the transcription and achievement of data saturation. O'Cathain et al. (2015) suggested that researchers should conduct interviews until reaching data saturation. No matter what specific analytic strategy or techniques the researcher uses, Yin (2018) provided a multidimensional data analysis process for assuring the findings' and conclusions' validity. I utilized Yin's multidimensional data analysis process.

The goal of qualitative data analysis is to describe, explain, and interpret qualitative patterns by using words, numbers, matrices, pictures, sounds, or other forms of representation (Sealey & Hathorn, 2014). Yin (2011) suggested that qualitative researchers might use a five-step process to analyze the data, (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding. Edwards (2016) used Yin's five-step process to analyze a qualitative exploratory case study data. Buchanan (2013) used Yin's data analysis method in another qualitative case study.

Compiling. Buchanan (2013) suggested that the researcher reviews articles comprising the study sample, label, and compile all articles with similar words, phrases, and sentences. I first compiled data by putting them into a sequential order and by reexamining and organizing field notes, interviews, and documents. This step helped develop the study database (Yin, 2011).

**Disassembling.** The second step included disassembling data, which includes dividing data into smaller pieces (Buchanan, 2013; Yin, 2011). I assigned codes according to each element of the data described in the literature review. Sealey and Hathorn (2014) suggested reading the data multiple times. Edward (2016) stated that

reviewing the transcriptions could enable a researcher to determine response patterns relevant to research question. I removed inappropriate remarks and notes from the data.

**Reassembling.** In step three, I evaluated, classified, and categorized the codes and themes using NVivo. The qualitative data analysis involved developing codes and using the codes to classify data (Lewis, 2015). In this step, categorized groupings of codes become themes (Jørgensen, Friis, & Koch, 2015). Developing themes and codes is facilitated by comparing the conceptual framework considerations with the participants' responses (Vaismoradi et al., 2016).

Interpreting. The interpretation step required a comprehensive reflection, judgment, and the ability to explain issues related to the study and the presentation of the findings in a meaningful way. Yin (2014) noted that the process of interpretation includes researchers' understanding about a topic and data analysis. I employed the understanding and experience I have about the topic of cross-cultural differences and leadership implications as a tool to help interpret the data.

Concluding. This step includes explaining conclusions through drawing from the entire study (Buchanan, 2013). In step five, I used an iterative strategy before loading data into NVivo software for coding and thematic analysis for effective data retrieval.

Wood et al. (2015) noted that qualitative data analysis requires creativity on the side of the researcher, and typically requires several iterations before a researcher can reach a conclusion.

The concepts, patterns, and themes established throughout the study formed the basis for the interpretation provided in the conclusions to the project (Buchanan, 2013).

NVivo software supported the iterative process of synthesizing research data into themes and from the themes into a distillation of parallel findings (O'Cathain et al., 2015; Woods et al., 2015). I used Nvivo software to facilitate the data analysis process, to assist with coding, and to connect themes within and across interviews. NVivo can be helpful to support manually developed themes and codes (Wood et al., 2015). Using NVivo software, I searched for commonalities, themes, and threads from the information I collected from participants during the interviews and to develop my conclusions (Fenn, Sangrasi, Puett, Trenouth, & Pietzsch, 2015; Wun, Payne, Huron, & Carpendale, 2016; Yin, 2018).

## Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are two consistent requirements to ensure research quality (Morse, 2015). Lincoln and Guba (1985) introduced criteria for determining the trustworthiness of qualitative research in the 1980s. Lincoln and Guba replaced terminology for quantitative rigor, reliability, validity, and generalizability with their respective qualitative analogues of trustworthiness, dependability, credibility, and transferability (Morse, 2015). However, Morse (2015) recommended that qualitative researchers return to the terminology of social sciences, using rigor, reliability, validity, and generalizability. Different models are available for addressing how to build trust in qualitative research, such as the model of trustworthiness of qualitative research proposed by Lincoln and Guba.

Rigor, in qualitative terms, and reliability/validity, in quantitative terms, are ways to establish trust or confidence in the findings or results of a research study (Thomas &

Magilvy, 2011). Morse noted that dependability, credibility, and transferability refer to trustworthiness. To build trust in qualitative research, Thomas and Magilvy (2011) proposed four constructs for demonstrating trustworthiness: (a) credibility, (b) transferability (c) dependability, and (d) confirmability. With reliability, results may be transferable to a broader society and affirm change in processes (Birt et al., 2016).

## Reliability

Qualitative researchers define reliability as demonstrating trustworthy content, rich and, well-saturated data (Elo et al., 2014). Reliability is used to describe consistency in applying the employed analytical procedures in qualitative research (Noble & Smith, 2015). Noble and Smith (2015) defined reliability as consistency, trustworthiness, and dependability of the data that mitigate personal and research method biases, which may have influenced the findings. Reliability is the extent to which the inquiry and its findings could be replicated (Yin, 2018). It is imperative that all qualitative researchers incorporate strategies to enhance the credibility of a study during research design and implementation (Noble & Smith, 2015).

The purpose for achieving reliability is to minimize errors and biases in the study (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) suggested that the general way of assuring reliability is to make as many data collection and analysis steps clear as possible and to conduct research as if someone were looking over your shoulder (p. 49). A researcher has to demonstrate rigor during the entire research process using recommendable strategies such as prolonged engagement and persistent observation, triangulation, peer debriefing, member checking, audit trails, reflexivity, and thick descriptions (Houghton et al., 2014). Rigor is useful for

establishing consistency of the study methods over time, and for providing an accurate representation of the population studied (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Also, rigor is useful for providing details to enable replicating a study with a different research sample (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011).

Demonstrating rigor when undertaking qualitative research is challenging because there is no consensus on the standards for assessment of the research (Noble & Smith, 2015). For reliability, Moustakas (1994) suggested identifying the behavioral aspects of a phenomenon by grouping experiences, validating information, creating themes from experienced groups, and verifying themes. Noble and Smith (2015) and Yin (2014) suggested a reliable study enables an independent investigator to arrive at the same findings and conclusions following the same procedures as described by the original researcher.

Saunder, Lewis, and Thornhill (2016) and Yin (2018) recommended assuring accuracy and reliability of data using member checking. I used member checking to assure accuracy and reliability of the data I collected. Member checking helps to ensure dependability of a study (Yin, 2018). Researchers suggested using member checking for validating data interpretation and proper documentation to ensure accuracy and consistency throughout the study (Houghton et al., 2014; Yin, 2018). Carter et al. (2014) suggested that researchers must have a variety of strategies to ensure data dependability and credibilities, such as debriefing, member checking, triangulation, or use of a reflexive journal. I used member checking with each participant to ensure the credibility of the

data. I used NVivo in data organization and a uniform data analysis process to assure reliability.

Dependability. Dependability describes reliability while credibility describes the internal validity of the study (Yin 2014). Dependability refers to the stability of data over time and under different conditions (Elo et al., 2014). Dependability demonstrates that the findings are consistent and repeatable (Lincoln and Guba, 1985). Strategies used to establish dependability include having peers participate in the analysis process, providing a detailed description of the research methods, or conducting a step-by-step repeat of the study to see if results might be similar or to enhance the original findings (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). I assured dependability of the data by applying member checking.

Member checking the participants occurs after the initial interviews (Birt et al., 2016). I used member checking to follow-up with interviews for accuracy and clarity. Member checking enhances trustworthiness (Ozertugrul, 2015; Shannon, 2014). Through member checking each participant receives an interpretive report of the interviews enabling them to confirm trustworthiness of the research (Harvey, 2015).

### Validity

In qualitative research, Yin (2018) describes several criteria that researchers could use to measure the validity of the research. These concepts include trustworthiness, credibility, confirmability, and dependability (Yin, 2018). Validity is demonstrating a correlation of test results with outside criteria and theory or logic (Hofstede, 2002). Data saturation can have a significant effect on the validity of a study (Fusch & Ness, 2015). To achieve and demonstrate data saturation, the researcher must gather sufficient data so

that further collection of data results in no further themes (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I continued interviewing the participants until no new data emerged. The researcher achieves data saturation when no new data or themes emerge (Tran et al., 2016). To achieve data saturation, I continued the interview processes until participants' responses became repetitive, and no new data or themes emerged. All three participants encountered and experienced similar difficulties, challenges, and opportunities leading culturally diverse individuals when expanding business operations into global markets, which resulted in redundancies in their responses.

Trustworthiness. Ensuring trustworthiness of the study's findings is important. Participant validation of transcripts could increase trustworthiness (Elo et al., 2014; Ozertugrul, 2015). Lincoln and Guba (1985) defined trustworthiness as the commonality between the two methodologies. Lincoln and Guba noted that trustworthiness arises from the truth, applicability, consistency, and neutrality. It is important to scrutinize the trustworthiness of every phase of the analysis process, including the preparation, organization, and reporting of results (Elo et al., 2014). For my study, each local and global business executive had the opportunity to review the interpretive reports of the interviews to ensure trustworthiness of the findings.

### Credibility

Credibility refers to prolonged engagement and persistent observation, believability, triangulation, peer debriefing, and member checking (Houghton et al., 2014; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Employing triangulation enhances credibility of the study (Houghton et al., 2014). Lincoln and Guba (1985) defined credibility as confidence in the

'truth' of the findings. I used methodological triangulation and member checking to establish credibility of this study.

A qualitative study is considered credible when it presents an accurate description or interpretation of human experience that people who also share the same experience would immediately recognize (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Examples of strategies used to establish credibility include reflexivity, member checking, and peer debriefing or peer examination (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). I used member checking to validate the credibility of data. Methodological and data triangulation contributed to validating the study. Methodological and data triangulation involved using multiple data types and sources including face-to-face interviews in an investigation to produce and verify a common understanding for both the participants and me. I compared the results of similar studies in the present study for assessing similarities and differences among themes using member checking and triangulation.

Additional strategies researchers could adopt to ensure credibility of the findings of their studies include: (a) data triangulation, whereby different sources and perspectives help produce a more comprehensive set of findings; (b) respondent validation, which includes inviting participants to comment on the interview transcript and whether the final themes and concepts created adequately reflect the phenomena investigated; and (c) demonstrating clarity in terms of thought processes during data analysis and subsequent interpretations (Yin, 2018). I developed, documented, and followed rigorous case study procedures and standards beginning from the interview and member checking and

triangulation to ensure the credibility, trustworthiness, dependability, and validity of the study.

### **Transferability**

Patton (2015) defined transferability as the usefulness of research findings from one entity to another. Transferability refers to the application of research to other studies or services resulting in transfer of knowledge and contribution to future research (Yin, 2018). Transferability is the ability to transfer particular findings to another similar context or situation, while still preserving the meanings and inferences of the initial context (Houghton et al., 2014). I reviewed multiple peer-reviewed journal articles that emphasized recent findings from other scholars researching similar global leadership strategies phenomenon. Findings from current peer-reviewed journal articles I reviewed reinforced the importance of the focus of the current study.

Transferability occurs when the reader makes a determination of the findings to future research and determines if the information is transferable (Elo et al., 2014).

Transferability enables other researchers to determine if the findings have applicability in other contexts (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Future research for other locations may be necessary to enhance transferability. In this qualitative multiple case study, I confirmed that the readers and future researchers have enough information about the research to evaluate the transferability of the results. The results of this study matched similar findings from other research results applicable in various comparable frameworks. In the broadest context, validity, reliability, and transferability refer to the integrity and

application of the methods undertaken and the precision in which the findings accurately reflect the data (Noble & Smith, 2015).

### Confirmability

Confirmability refers to providing the audit trails and for verifying the reflexivity, neutrality, and accuracy of data (Houghton et al., 2014). Yin (2014) noted that the use of two types of data collection instruments in a study of one phenomenon demonstrates confirmability and completeness of data. I sought to demonstrate achieved confirmability by mitigating personal preconceptions and prejudice from participants' responses.

Confirmability increases when researchers seek new insights from a broad view of research results to avoid researcher bias (Baillie, 2015; Eriksson, 2015; Patton, 2015).

Lincoln and Guba (1985) defined confirmability as a degree of neutrality or the extent to which the findings of a study are shaped by the respondents and not researcher bias, motivation or interest. A reflexive researcher allows the research process to unfold without bias intervention (Morse, 2015). I allowed participants to answer the interview questions based on their experiences and knowledge regarding the cross-cultural differences and leadership implications.

### **Transition and Summary**

In section 2, I reiterated the purpose statement and described the role of the researcher. I also, described the plan for the research methods, design, population and sampling, data collection instruments and techniques, and the data analysis process.

Concluding components of Section 2 included methods for assuring the study's reliability and validity. Section 2 established the foundation and transition into Section 3, which

will include presentation of findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for future research, and conclusions.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to expand business operations into global markets. The targeted population consisted of business leaders from three local retail companies in Minnesota who used global leadership strategies to expand business operations into the global market. Three themes emerged from the data analysis: (a) cross-cultural awareness, (b) cross-cultural challenges and competence, and (c) cross-cultural leadership strategies.

The results of this study along with the conceptual framework of leadership and transformational leadership revealed leadership strategies local retail business leaders and global business executives can use to function in culturally diverse environments successfully. The findings of this study confirm that business leaders must gain and adopt new global leadership capabilities to successfully lead the global workforce when expanding business operations into the global market. In this section, I provide (a) an outline of the study, (b) a presentation of the findings, (c) applications to professional practice, (d) implications for social change, (e) recommendations for action, (f) recommendations for further study, (g) reflections, and (h) conclusions.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

The overreaching research question was: What leadership strategies do local retail business leaders use leading culturally diverse teams when expanding business operations

into global markets? To answer the research question, I conducted a multiple case study with three business leaders from three different companies (designated companies X, Y, and Z) with headquarters in Minnesota. Companies X, Y, and Z offered a variety of products and services in several local and international locations, and employed people from different nationalities, religions, and ethnic groups. I focused on leaders who have developed cross-cultural leadership strategies leading employees both locally and globally.

To ensure the privacy of the participants, I identified each participant as PT1, PT2, or PT3, respectively leaders of local retail companies X, Y, and Z. Companies X, Y, and Z have diverse working environments with employees from more than five different nationalities. Cultural mix has brought more opportunities than challenges to these companies. The data collection included semistructured interviews with three local retail business leaders who had at least 6 to 8 years of experience leading intercultural teams.

The preliminary interviews lasted approximately 20 minutes with each participant and were composed of seven questions. Participants received the interview questions a few weeks prior to the initial interviews. A week after the initial meetings, follow-up member checking took place with each participant to support the validity and reliability of the study, and to confirm interpretations of the participants' responses to the interview questions. Member checking with each participant took place at the same locations about 1 week after the preliminary interviews and lasted approximately 15 minutes.

I used Nvivo 12 software to organize, sort, categorize and code the data. I analyzed the transcript of each participant, identified significant information from the

data, labeled the data, described and categorized the codes based on similarities. Three themes emerged from the data analysis of responses to the interview questions of the three local retail business leaders: (a) cross-cultural awareness, (b) cross-cultural challenges and competence, and (c) cross-cultural leadership strategies.

The responses to the interview questions along with administrative and financial documents and records heightened my understanding of the companies' leadership strategies for leading employees with culturally diverse backgrounds both locally and globally. The companies' progress reports and financial records revealed larger revenues over the years, which confirmed the consistency of the responses from the three leaders. For triangulation purposes, I used the data from the companies' documents and financial records to evaluate and confirm the evidence of the data from the interviews before developing the three themes.

# Theme 1: Cross-cultural awareness

The first theme that emerged from the data analysis was cross-cultural awareness. Because of the complexities of the global workforce, local retail business leaders must be aware of cross-cultural differences and similarities when establishing business opportunities into the competitive globalized business world. Lokkesmoe, Kuchinke, and Ardichvili (2016) defined the construct of cross-cultural awareness as knowledge gained through experience leading intercultural teams. Cross-cultural differences arise mostly because of the lack of cultural awareness (Greblikaite, Sroka, Daugeliene, & Kurowska-Pysz, 2016). All three participants confirmed the need for employees and business

partners with culturally diverse backgrounds because of the increasingly globalized business workforce.

Participants shared the importance of cross-cultural awareness as they explored and experienced systematic growth of their companies (companies X, Y, and Z) leading and working with culturally diverse teams. According to the participants, cross-cultural awareness is not only the need for globally focused organizations but also a requirement for domestic and global organizations because of the driving force workplaces' diversity. A lack of cultural knowledge can be challenging for leaders of culturally diverse employees (DesAutels, Berthon, Caruana, & Pitt, 2015; Mehrabanfar, 2015).

Local retail businesses and global firms are confronting global competition, which requires sufficient cross-cultural knowledge to survive (Sheng, Hartmann, Qimei, & Chen, 2015). Participants claimed that obtaining knowledge and awareness of cross-cultural differences was needed to positively lead and work with culturally diverse people when expanding business operations into global markets. Before a leader can apply the multicultural expertise and understanding to the various team members, the project leader must be able to fully understand and be aware of his or her own culture and behavior (Kappagomtula, 2017). To understand and be aware of one's culture and behavior required fundamental knowledge, awareness, and competence, experience, and leadership capabilities in cross-cultural settings. Participants asserted that lack of awareness of cross-cultural leadership could cause severe ramifications and impending implications for local retail and global business executives who lead culturally diverse individuals.

Participants explained that developing awareness of cross-cultural leadership contributed significantly to the enhancement of leading intercultural teams. Participants confirmed the necessity for successful local retail business leaders to develop cross-cultural awareness when leading or to collaborate with people with culturally diverse backgrounds in both local and global markets. Participants accentuated the need for cross-cultural awareness as they employed people from culturally diverse backgrounds.

Participants stated that several key factors such as observation and sensitivity helped them to overcome key challenges of diversity in their business operations with employees, contractors, and business partners with intercultural differences. Participants explained that observing and being sensitive to employees and business associates with culturally diverse backgrounds helped them to become more aware of cultural differences and similarities. PT2 said, "I listen to people with culturally diverse backgrounds more than I talk to them." This strategy helped PT2's organization to overcome most miscommunication issues as PT2 learned more from Company Y's culturally diverse team. PT3 said, "I observe my employees' work ethics despite their cultural affiliations, and I'm sensitive to them all." Participants expressed the importance of observation and sensitivity as being reliable tools to help culturally diverse leaders to become culturally aware and to develop associated leadership strategies.

Given the increasing globalization of organizations and the growing interdependencies among nations, the need for a better understanding of cultural influences on leadership and organizational practices is paramount (R. Mittal & Elias, 2016). Participants commented concerning the better understanding of the cultural impact

on leadership, that 21st-century leaders must improve their cultural awareness when leading or collaborating with culturally diverse individuals. To better enhance cultural awareness in cross-cultural settings, a leader must develop an understanding of the influence of culture on leadership (R. Mittal & Elias, 2016; Muenjohn & Armstrong, 2015).

PT1 and PT3 developed and improved their cultural awareness by embracing diversity in their organizations. Accepting diversity in one's organization includes considering the differences in individuals' culture, and becoming aware of other people's beliefs, norms, customs, and values. By developing awareness of cultural differences and similarities, and understanding the influence of culture on leadership, participants adjusted their leadership styles accordingly, which enabled companies X, Y, and Z to overcome multiple cross-cultural leadership challenges.

Theme 1: Correlation with peer-reviewed studies. Participants' concept of cross-cultural awareness correlates with various peer-reviewed studies. The participants' enlightenment on obtaining knowledge of cross-cultural awareness is similar to Mital's (2015) argument of the importance of developing cross-cultural awareness as a critical success factor for leading or working with culturally diverse teams. Correspondingly, the theme (cross-cultural awareness) aligns with the work of Bird and Mendenhall (2016), who classified cross-cultural awareness among the most essential and impending factors that impact global business activities. Van Dierendonck et al. (2017) extended this view on the importance of cross-cultural awareness and confirmed that because of the rapid

pace of globalization, implications of cross-cultural leadership appeared to be an ensuing challenge for global leaders as they expand business operations into global markets.

The participants' emphasis on cross-cultural awareness aligns with Miska and Öner's (2015) findings, where the authors focused on culturally diverse values and practices as critical success factors in the global marketplaces. PT1, PT2, and PT3 relied on enhancing their knowledge on cross-cultural awareness to lead intercultural teams effectively. Miska and Öner asserted that by gaining knowledge on cross-cultural leadership, local and global leaders could lead and successfully work with employees and global business partners with culturally diverse backgrounds. By enhancing their knowledge on cross-cultural awareness, participants were able to comprehend culturally diverse individuals' norms, beliefs, and practices, and to identify the challenges and opportunities leading intercultural teams in the global marketplaces.

Theme 1: Correlation with the conceptual framework. Theme 1 correlates to both Burns (1978) and Bass's (1985) leadership theories. Burns and Bass anticipated that individuals with cross-cultural knowledge have the essential ability to function positively in culturally diverse environments. Burns and Bass's arguments set apart from other leadership theories and ask the most fundamental question of what the ultimate goal of leadership is and why should one be a leader (Cherry, 2019). Once the participants became fully aware of the cultural differences, they developed competencies that enabled the leaders to overcome associated challenges.

Each participant demonstrated the applications of Burns (1978) and Bass's (1985) leadership theories of how a business should function in culturally diverse environments.

Participants demonstrated leadership skills and abilities as well as awareness of cultural differences in working or leading others from different culturally diverse settings. When expanding business operations into different local and global locations, participants spent an extensive amount of time and resources for understanding the cultural environments, including people, markets, and business partners. By conducting these preliminary feasibilities' groundworks, companies X, Y, and Z's executives were able to develop comprehensive cross-cultural awareness and expanded business operations into multiple domestic and international locations.

Cross-cultural leadership researchers have long recognized the importance of understanding cultural differences in the leadership process (Gupta & Veliyath, 2018; Mustafa & Lines, 2016). From the responses to the interview questions, participants demonstrated the importance of cross-cultural differences and an understanding and knowledge leading and working with employees and partners in cross-cultural settings. Participants considered and appreciated followers' viewpoints, beliefs, norms, and values when taking critical leadership decisions.

Cross-cultural leadership researchers identified a strong linkage between culture and leadership processes in that cultural forces influence the choice of behaviors exhibited by leaders and the effects of leadership (Mustafa & Lines, 2016). Before taking important decisions when confronted with cross-cultural leadership issues, PT1 appreciates followers 'viewpoints, norms, and values while making sure that PT1 influences and motivates their attitudes and behaviors to reach a common organizational

goal. PT3 said, "Embracing diversity in my organization was a factor that empowered me as a leader to include my subordinates' viewpoints in my decision-making agendas."

When trusted supervisors display transformational leadership, such as giving individual consideration, stimulating intellectually, inspiring motivation, and providing freedom, the ambiguity, anxiety, fear, frustration, and uncertainty linked with innovative work behavior is reduced (Afsar & Masood, 2018). PT1 said, "Employees feel welcomed and produced more when I embraced their viewpoints and recommendations during major decision-making situations." PT2 said, "Considering subordinates' assessments in major decision-making circumstances is critically important exclusively in cross-cultural settings." Participants' strategies coincided with Bass's (1985) transformational leadership component of individualized consideration in which leaders appreciate individuals' ideas, viewpoints, and pay close attention to the needs of the employees. Beside careful consideration of followers' valuations, beliefs, norms, and values, participants grounded their decision-making strategies on clear and focused communications with their employees.

# Theme 2: Cross-cultural challenges and competence

The second theme that emerged from the data analysis was cross-cultural challenges, and competence. When expanding business operations into competitive global marketplaces successfully, local retail business leaders must consider investigating cross-cultural challenges and acquiring needed leadership competencies to positively lead intercultural teams. Van Dierendonck et al. (2017) noted that leading culturally diverse team is the most challenging task the 21st century leaders face. As behavior is always an

expression of values, developing an understanding to lead culturally diverse groups that shared different norms and values is challenging (Sheng et al., 2015). Cultures can be analyzed from a country, language, religion, values, ethical dimensions, and many other areas of study as a frame of reference (Sukanya, 2015).

Cross-cultural challenges. Navigating complex networks, leading dispersed and diverse teams and consistently implementing a global company strategy is a challenge (Ekelund & Adl, 2015). Leading employees from diverse cultural backgrounds when expanding business operations into the global market is a primary challenge for local and global leaders (Stewart et al., 2017). The 21st century leaders are facing tremendous culture challenges causing under-productivity and poor leadership performance because of a lack of cross-cultural leadership competencies (R. Mittal & Elias, 2016). Participants cited language as one of the significant challenges they faced when communicating and leading culturally diverse teams. As language being conceptualized as the number one challenges in cross-cultural settings, communication was one of the fundamental elements in which participants had established trust with their employees.

Cross-cultural communication is more relevant in the 21st century heterogeneous world of social order, which is impacted by globalization and the rising cross-cultural nature of business negotiations and business communication in multinational businesses (Abugre, 2018; Atay & Toyosaki, 2018; O'Neill & Nalbandian, 2018). According to PT2, a wrong decision in cross-cultural settings because of intercultural miscommunication could damage the leadership direction of the organization.

A trained multicultural leader should gain cross-cultural communication competency to address any performance challenges (Abugre, 2018). PT1 said, "A high level of cross-cultural communication is required to deliver a clear message to culturally diverse team successfully." PT3 believes that to take the right decision that benefits both the organization and the workers in cross-cultural settings, a leader should demonstrate communication competency to interact effectively with employees and important business partners.

PT2 stated, "A leader must be well trained to demonstrate cross-cultural communication competence." PT3 said, "Cross-cultural communication competence is essential when leading people from other cultures." To increase their communication expertise in cross-cultural settings, participants attended communication development programs recurrently to enhance their cross-cultural communication skills and abilities to lead the intercultural teams effectively.

PT2 said,

With many years of experience working and collaborating with intercultural individuals across the globe, I learned that some groups of people communicate calmly, politely, and they are good listeners; Others from the United States,

Australia, France, and the United Kingdom, express themselves with precision.

According to PT2, communication is precise and open to people from the United States,

Australia, France, and the United Kingdom compared with many others from the rest of
the world. PT2 said, "Other groups of people from Japan, Mexico, India, and most Asian

countries communicate very calmly and politely, however, it is sometimes difficult to know if they agree or disagree on major topics."

PT3 commented on other groups of people from some African nations who communicate with a loud voice. Speaking and interacting with a loud voice can be seen as rude and arrogant for people from many countries. After investigating, PT3 discovered that communicating very powerfully while making noise is standard and part of cultural beliefs and norms for some African people. PT3 said, "They are not frustrated, or not satisfied with the conversation, it is just their normal ways of delivering their messages."

To overcome some of the identified intercultural communication challenges, PT2 preferred email communications more than face-to-face conversation to ensure accuracy and better understanding and to avoid miscommunications issues. PT1 and PT3 preferred both face-face discussions and email interactions with the team to encourage everyone to increase not only their communication skills but also to sustain the integrity among the entire team. By acknowledging the complexity of leading intercultural people, and understanding the patterns of differences among them, the participants concluded that a global business leader should be able to adjust communication style accordingly to be more effective in cross-cultural settings.

Leadership fails when there is a miscommunication between leaders and followers (Hartnell et al., 2016; Vértesy, 2017). PT2 said, "With my years of experience leading people from different cultures, it was clear to me that lack of cross-cultural communication could easily trigger poor leadership performance and a systematic underproductivity." PT1 said, "As I work with people from different cultures and

different backgrounds, I realized that miscommunication between a leader and a subordinate is the cause of major underproductivity and leadership underperformance."

PT3 explained communication is an issue that PT3 had with culturally diverse individuals, which created complete confusions in company Z. As a result of the incident, the organization was unable to meet its demand. PT1 said, "Even though team members possess the qualifications needed to do their jobs and reach the company's goals, it sometimes takes time to give them assignments due to language barriers." PT2 and PT3 enumerated frequent misunderstandings, and miscommunications as significant challenges they face leading the intercultural teams.

Additional cross-cultural challenges participants enumerated included lack of trust, a perception in which employees from advance countries considered those from less developed countries as inferior, constant misunderstandings, tardiness, and more importantly how to distinguish employees' norms, beliefs, and values from their behaviors. All three participants confirmed employees' unpunctuality as significant challenges they faced leading cross-cultural individuals. PT3 said, "Almost all the employees from different nationalities come to work late, and it took a well amount to time to control, discipline, and normalize the issues of tardiness in the organization."

PT2 said, "Most culturally diverse employees do not see tardiness as issues to even consider to be discussed." In addition, according to the participants, how to resolve conflicts among workers from different nationalities, religions, and ethnic groups is unquestionably difficult and challenging. Despite language challenges, difficulties of

conflict resolution among people from different cultures and the issues of tardiness, participants had overcome most problems through clear and authentic communication.

Despite numerous barriers and challenges leading culturally diverse teams, participants tend not to forget that culture has a significant impact on performance. PT1 recalled leadership challenges PT1 experienced by comparing employees' norms, beliefs, and values to their behaviors in critical decision-making situations. As a result, the assignment of several employees was terminated from the company (company X). PT1 used to show frustrations toward employees' behaviors. PT1 confirmed that PT1's reactions were grave mistakes when comparing employees' norms, beliefs, and values to their behaviors and by showing frustration when making significant decisions. PT1 said, "I was paying little attention to the cultural differences between the competencies of my leadership to the employees' norms, beliefs, and values." The situation negatively affected PT1's leadership performance.

It is increasingly imperative that global leaders understand the importance of intercultural communication (Bell & Riol, 2017; Schedlitzki, Ahonen, Wankhade, Edwards, & Gaggiotti, 2017). PT2 and PT3 did not mention showing frustration in learning norms, beliefs, and values of their employees, but shared a few mistakes they made leading intercultural teams because of lack of experience and cross-cultural leadership incompetence. Participants learned from their mistakes leading intercultural teams with the years of their experiences and changed their leadership behaviors through using newly acquired competencies.

Cross-cultural competence. Cross-cultural competence refers to knowledge, skills, and capabilities that enable an individual to adapt effectively in cross-cultural environments (Chow Tong et al., 2017). Participants asserted that developing intercultural competence when leading culturally diverse group is essential to overcome significant challenges and to quickly adapt to circumstances of cross-cultural differences at workplaces. Cross-cultural competence has become important research since the 1990s (Choromides, 2018; Chow Tong et al., 2017; Sucher, & Cheung, 2015). Leaders of the 21st century are to develop the competencies, skills, and capabilities to be effective in the globally connected societies as well (Barker, 2016; Chow Tong et al., 2017). Participants explained that developing cross-cultural competencies, skills, and capabilities increased their confidence and inspiration to lead people with culturally diverse backgrounds effectively.

Cross-cultural leadership competencies are leadership skills, capabilities, and behaviors that contribute significantly to the leader's ability to demonstrate superior performance (Barker, 2016). PT1 said, "The 21st century successful leaders are those that accept multiculturalism, diversity at workplaces, and are competent." PT3 said, "It is important that the 21st century business leaders learn appropriate leadership skills and competencies to lead a culturally diverse team effectively." PT2 explained, "Understanding the complexity of cross-cultural differences and developing leadership competencies to overcome its challenges is essential for leadership effectiveness in the 21st century globalized diverse business markets." The skills and characteristics of a business leader are crucial factors that determine company performance in a global

market (Charoensukmongkol, 2015). PT1 said, "The strategy is simple "never try to think that your culture is superior to your employees' cultures (ethnocentrism) and you will overcome most cross-cultural leadership issues." By identifying the challenges of cross-cultural differences when establishing businesses in different locations, and developing cross-cultural leadership competencies, participants were able to set up goals for enabling them to inspire and motivate the intercultural teams effectively.

Theme 2: Correlation with peer-reviewed studies. The participants' concept of cross-cultural challenges and competencies aligns with Mital's (2015) conclusion, that leaders must be equipped with cross-cultural leadership skills, capabilities, and competencies because of the diverse global workforce to lead culturally diverse teams successfully. Cross-cultural challenges are key issues global leaders face when operating in culturally diverse settings (Froese, Kim, & Eng, 2016). Participants explained daily challenges they faced leading diverse workforces. All three participants overcame most intercultural challenges through their leadership competencies.

Participants' perceptions of the importance of cross-cultural leadership competence aligns with Lakshman and Estay (2016) statement, which enumerated the cause and effect of cross-cultural challenges such as leadership underperformance, negative forecasted profitability, and job underperformance because of lack of leadership competencies in cross-cultural settings. PT1 said, "It takes times to understand most people from other cultures." PT3 said, "Understanding the behaviors of people from other nations is critically difficult due to the undisputable differences of beliefs, norms, attitudes, and values between various cultures." By acknowledging the problems of cross-

cultural differences and developing leadership competencies, participants learned how to effectively lead employees from culturally diverse settings, overcome most intercultural communication issues, inspire and motivate their followers, and increase their organizations' profitability.

Theme 2: Correlation with the conceptual framework. Theme 2 correlates to Bass's (1985) transformational leadership theory of inspirational motivation in which leaders articulate visions for both the employees and the organization. Once the participants became aware of the cross-cultural differences and opportunities, the participants developed competencies to overcome cross-cultural challenges, and articulated visions that enabled them to inspire and motivate the intercultural teams. Bass proposed that transformational leaders with cross-cultural competencies have the capability to motivate and inspire followers and to function in different cultural settings successfully. Before being able to motivate and inspire followers, the 21st century global leaders must understand the difficulties leading intercultural teams and be competent in cross-cultural settings. Developing global leaders through equipping them with skills, competencies, and capabilities to lead, inspire, and motivate workers with culturally diverse backgrounds is crucial to be successful in the global markets (Ramsey et al., 2017).

Transformational leadership entails behaviors for directing and inspiring efforts toward fulfilling organizational goals by articulating a vision that raises employees' awareness of the importance of organizational values, mission, and outcomes (Jensen & Bro, 2018). Participants demonstrated Bass's (1985) transformational leadership theories

to lead individuals with culturally diverse backgrounds by setting up goals to inspire and motivate their employees. To validate this strategy, participants adjusted their leadership strategies to the norms and beliefs of the employees. The participants demonstrated inspirational leadership capabilities resulting in profound understandings of how to inspire and motivate intercultural teams by articulating ideas that reinforced employees' engagement to reach shared organizational goals. By articulating visions and defining explicit goals, participants were able to measure the effectiveness of motivation strategies using intrinsic and extrinsic reward systems for their employees' performance.

One characteristic of transformational leadership is inspirational motivation, reflected in the leader's ability to express the importance of tasks and the follower's role for achieving organizational success that encourages and motivates followers (Sattayaraksa & Boon-itt, 2016). Inspirational motivation signifies the motivation of followers through meaning and optimism (Hildenbrand, Sacramento, & Binnewies, 2018). By developing an understanding of cross-cultural differences and implementing various motivational strategies, participants were able to use transformation leadership skills, and competencies, to inspire and motivate their intercultural teams effectively. Participants utilized inspirational motivation skills, capabilities, and competencies to lead culturally diverse employees that yielded increased productivity for companies X, Y, and Z.

# Theme 3: Cross-Cultural Leadership Strategies

The third theme that emerged from the data analysis was cross-cultural leadership strategies. When growing businesses locally and globally, local retail business executives

must consider developing cross-cultural leadership techniques and strategies for enabling them to lead the global workforce successfully (Choromides, 2018; Chow Tong et al., 2017). Cross-cultural leadership strategies and techniques participants enumerated included attentive listening, team building, knowledge sharing, and leadership competencies gained from attending leadership development programs. Cross-cultural leadership strategies include leadership development training, basic understandings of cross-cultural differences, intercultural communication, and ethical considerations (Martinelli & Erzikova, 2017). Even though participants identified challenges leading intercultural teams, the participants developed cross-cultural awareness using appropriate competencies catalyzing increasing their job performance, inspiring, and motivating followers. Therefore, the need for developing cross-cultural leadership strategies was critical.

Listening attentively when communicating with people with culturally diverse backgrounds is essential for leadership effectiveness. Roebuck, Bell, Raina, and Lee (2016) supported this conclusion, and stated that many leaders, managers, and employees work in multinational organizations, but know little about what constitutes good or ineffective listening skills from a cross-cultural perspective. PT1 stated that officials in PT1's company organize internal open-mind communication conference calls with team members of their organizations recurrently to resolve miscommunication issues. During many open-mind communication meetings, company executives listened very attentively to subordinates' concerns, challenges, and opportunities. PT3 listens carefully to ensure accurate understanding explicitly when communicating with culturally diverse employees

and business partners. By listening attentively to the concerns and viewpoints of employees at workplaces, participants keep an open mind when interacting with people and partners with culturally diverse backgrounds.

Participants specifically enumerated the following active listening leadership strategies used to overcome communication challenges when leading or doing business with individuals with culturally diverse backgrounds: (a) listening more than talking, (b) using straightforward language while speaking slowly, clearly, and methodically, (c) being alert to cultural differences in terms of norms, customs, and behaviors, and (d) being attentive to discussion, and sensitive to variations in verbal and nonverbal communication. PT2 said, "When you listen more than you talk to the employees, you get a better result." All three participants used active listening techniques and strategies when communicating with people with culturally diverse backgrounds.

Participants demonstrated knowledge, understanding, and awareness of the impending implications of cross-cultural differences at workplaces. Martinelli and Erzikova (2017) affirmed that by acquiring knowledge and developing cross-cultural understanding, global leaders could gain leadership strategies needed to lead intercultural teams successfully. To obtain the required leadership competencies to lead intercultural teams, participants attended regular leadership development programs and acquired strategies for overcoming multiple cultural diversity issues.

Leadership development training is critically important for global business leaders to collect, manage, lead, and use knowledge for organizational success (Rana et al., 2016). Learning communities result from effective training and promote the application

of lessons learned (Chaimongkonrojna & Steane, 2015). By attending recurrent leadership development training, PT1, PT2, and PT3 gained relevant knowledge and competencies, and renewed their leadership skills, and abilities to lead intercultural teams effectively.

In a workplace where global business leaders immediately implement newly acquired knowledge and skills the leaders can contribute significantly to employees' engagement and the success of the organization (GethaTaylor, Fowles, Silvia, & Merritt, 2015; Packard & Jones, 2015). PT1 and PT3 stated that competencies acquired from leadership development training helped them to reinforce their skills and proficiencies leading culturally diverse teams, and to improve organizational performance. PT2 explained, "Competencies gained from attending leadership development programs helped increase employees' engagement, created environments in which employees shared ideas, and built trust."

The main concern for individuals living and working in a multicultural environment in the 21st century global society is how to work with people from other cultures, and how to be successful in cross-cultural settings (Qi, Smith, & Yeoman, 2018). How to work with people from other cultures and be successful without proper and applicable leadership skills and capabilities because of the complexities of cross-cultural differences is incontestably difficult and challenging. Large projects composed of multicultural or cross-cultural teams are afflicted with many complexities, such as: (a) team behavior becomes difficult to predict because of their cultural affinity, (b) cross-cultural teams tend to be interdependent and multilayered, (c) teams are geographically

dispersed for their operations, and (d) teams are culturally diverse (Kappagomtula, 2017). Addressing the above challenges and complexities and being successful in cross-cultural settings requires not only cross-cultural awareness or knowledge but also specific scholarly and practical sophisticated competencies and experienced leadership strategies.

A global economy requires ongoing interactions with people from different cultural backgrounds and demands generating constant alternatives for enhancing cross-cultural encounters and competencies (Menon & Narayanan, 2015). However, repeated interactions with culturally diverse individuals are exceptionally challenging. PT2 and PT3 solved most cross-cultural issues based on circumstances or the kinds of situations that arise. This strategy helped their organizations (companies Y and Z) facilitate team interactions and companies' work-related documents sharing.

Participants encouraged team building as a successful leadership method to enhance team cooperation. Team building promotes sustainability by increasing employee morale and providing better customer service (Ciasullo, Cosimato, Gaeta, & Palumbo, 2017; Ray, Decker, Mitsch, & Rocchetti, 2017). Team cooperation in which individuals share ideas and exchange relevant information to reach mutual organizational goals is vital for leadership effectiveness and employees' engagements in cross-cultural settings. Participants frequently organized team-building activities to connect all team members of their organizations to work together and share work-related information for developing and promoting team connectedness.

PT1 defined team building as a technique used to connect employees cooperatively as a team. According to PT3, team building is a method that allows people

to work together and share ideas that benefit both workers and organizations. PT2 encourages employees to share organizations' work-related documents to help speed up outstanding projects and to exchange information related to individuals' beliefs, norms, and values amongst each other. This strategy helped reinforce company Y's team connectedness and built trust among employees.

Although team building can partially mediate the effect of transformational leadership on project success (Aga, Noorderhaven, & Vallejo, 2016), team building strengthens relationships and builds trust amongst culturally diverse individuals (Ray et al., 2017). PT1 said, "I learned from other's culture through team building which helped me to reinforce my leadership role." PT3 explained, "I learned to communicate effectively with employees through team building." Team building strategy helped companies X, Y, and Z's executives create trust within their organizations, increase communications, improve leadership performance, and increase productivity.

Participants displayed evidence of robust leadership experiences through the implementation of team building in their organizations. The participants briefly described experiences where companies X, Y, and Z held meetings with team members using team building. During several team-building activities, participants assisted employees with culturally diverse backgrounds, shared pertinent information, and exchanged work-related documents. By organizing team building, leaders of companies X, Y, and Z learned how to bring workers from diverse backgrounds together collectively as a team, to enhance the relationship among team members, and increase overall company performance under different cultural settings.

In addition to team building, PT1, PT2, and PT3 also promote knowledge sharing as another positive tactic that encourages employees to share clear, intuitive, and knowledge gained through experiences. Knowledge sharing is vital in culturally diverse settings (Paulin & Suneson, 2015). In addition, values that embrace organizational ownership of knowledge facilitate knowledge sharing (Arpaci & Baloğlu, 2016). The sharing of knowledge and work-related documents among culturally diverse team members resulted in benefiting not only the companies that increased productivity but also the employees' trust and confidence.

Knowledge sharing occurs between different individuals and groups to communicate knowledge (Paulin & Suneson, 2015). Additionally, individuals with collectivistic orientations have the willingness to share explicit and implicit knowledge with peers, and are more open to collaboration (Arpaci, & Baloğlu, 2016). Participants affirmed that the technique of knowledge sharing helped their employees to become accustomed to each other, improved job performance, amplified their leadership performances, and facilitated companies X, Y, and Z's officials to create and maintain competitive advantages.

Theme 3: Correlation with peer-reviewed studies. The importance of cross-cultural leadership strategies participants used in theme 3 to lead intercultural team reinforces the conclusions of Reichard et al. (2015), who confirmed the need for global leaders to be experienced in leading the diverse cross-cultural team and to gain leadership understandings and capabilities. Researchers (Ardichvili, Natt och Dag, & Manderscheid, 2016; Hannachi, 2016; Miska & Öner, 2015; Volz-Peacock et al., 2016) stated that

organizational learning is central to enable employees' adaptation to new cultural norms and to increase organizational performance, innovation, and effectiveness. PT1, PT2, and PT3 confirmed the importance of leadership effectiveness to organizational performance by proactively gaining inclusive abilities, skills, and competencies from attending various leadership development training and programs to lead culturally diverse workforces effectively. Ekelund and Adl (2015) emphasized the value of deploying consistent, high-impact global leadership development as a critical success factor for organizational success.

Business leaders incorporating leadership development training into their programs gain not only competencies needed to lead culturally diverse individuals effectively but also increase employees' job performance, organizational performance, and effectiveness (Seidle et al., 2016). Promoting learning organizations increases the likelihood of corporate health, performance improvement, and sustainability (Hannachi, 2016). Participants capitalized on several cross-cultural leadership development training and programs to understand the importance of managing cross-cultural differences in the global markets, developing needed skills and abilities to lead culturally diverse individuals positively, which yielded increased profitability for their organizations.

Theme 3: Correlation with the conceptual framework. Theme 3 correlates with Bass's (1985) transformational leadership theory of idealized influence in which, leaders act as role models. Bass anticipated that leaders who act as role models have the ability to positively influence followers in cross-cultural settings. Once the participants identified the cross-cultural challenges, developed the needed competencies to

successfully lead, inspire, and motivate the intercultural teams, they established leadership strategies that enabled them to influence their followers. All three participants demonstrated transformational leadership theory characteristics of how to influence followers, adjust their leadership competencies to the norms, customs, practices, and values of their employees, and to successfully function in different cultural environments while acting as role models.

Leaders who adjust can create sources of competitive advantage in any economic environment (Marta-Dominguez, Galán-González, & Barroso, 2015). Implementing transformational leadership makes a significant difference to followers' motivation and development, and typically achieve performance beyond expectations in followers (Bass, 1985). Besides their knowledge, skills, and capabilities in cross-cultural awareness, education, and understanding, participants used transformational leadership style to influence their intercultural teams successfully.

Leadership is a critical element in the success of an organization (Blomqvist et al., 2016; El Toufaili, 2018). Participants' perceptions of utilizing skills, capabilities, and influence to lead culturally diverse teams aligns with the work of Wang et al. (2014), who suggested that transformational leaders must be competent and identify the effective ways to create productive and influential work environments using leadership competencies to influence culturally diverse individuals. All three participants confirmed that characteristics of transformational leadership have a positive and productive relationship with employees, which have led to increased productivity (Breevaart & Bakker, 2018; Ma & Jiang, 2018; Muenjohn & Armstrong, 2015). By recognizing the

influence of satisfying employees' needs, participants enhanced employees' abilities to improve individuals and group performances.

Global leadership development has typically been conceptualized as a series of learning activities that directly benefit *participants* through the acquisition of information and skills (Normore et al., 2018). The goal for companies X, Y, and Z's executives to incorporate leadership development programs into their agendas was to equip the organizations' leaders with modern leadership capabilities to address both complications and opportunities that could arise in the global cross-cultural environments. For effective leadership to be realized, organizational leaders need to be competent in transformational leadership, which is described as a situation in which the leader and followers empower and shape each other's behavior to attain the desired goal (Louw, Muriithi, & Radloff, 2017). By employing transformational leadership strategies, participants were able to influence their employees, gain trust, admiration, confidence, and respect from their team members.

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

The purpose of this study was to identify effective leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to lead culturally diverse individuals when expanding business operations into global markets. The findings of the study along with multiple results from the analysis of the literature review and the study's conceptual framework provided a detailed academic framework for enhancing the professional practice of business. Many leaders lack the leadership strategies necessary to function globally while creating friendly and prosperous work environments resulting in undesirable outcomes

(Kappagomtula, 2017). Using effective cross-cultural leadership, local retail business leaders and global business executives can lead intercultural communities while increasing profitability for their organizations.

The findings of the study indicated that understanding the effects of cross-cultural differences, developing cross-cultural awareness and knowledge, and developing cross-cultural leadership strategies, skills, capabilities, and competencies are essential to lead culturally diverse teams effectively at workplaces and increase profitability for organizations. The findings from this research may be appropriate to improve business practices through reviewing, adapting, and developing cross-cultural leadership strategies to lead culturally diverse individuals when expanding business operations into global markets.

The global leadership mindset is a paradigm for developing competencies of leaders for transcending national and corporate barriers to integrate different perspectives and people and to adapt to any context (Mattheus et al., 2016). Cultural competencies' critical role in contemporary organizations is evident (Fellows, Goedde, & Schwichtenberg, 2016). Local retail business executives can also enhance their knowledge in cross-cultural differences when establishing businesses in different locations by developing cross-cultural leadership strategies to lead culturally diverse individuals effectively. Characteristics of cross-cultural leadership strategies local retail business leaders could utilize to positively lead culturally diverse teams and overcome challenges of cross-cultural leadership when expanding business operations into global markets may include: (a) knowledge sharing, (b) team building, (c) attentive listening, (d)

observation, (e) sensitivity, (f) open style communication, (g) demonstration of a good sense of humor, (h) flexibility, and (i) reduction to ethnocentrism.

Leaders who develop motivational cultural intelligence can apply their knowledge and experience to multicultural interactions and activities despite the challenges they may encounter (Schlägel & Sarstedt, 2016). Local retail business leaders with motivational cultural intelligence could quickly adapt to other cultures and adjust their behaviors accordingly by developing advanced understandings of cross-cultural differences and similarities in the globalized business world. By adapting to other cultures while developing complete understandings of cross-cultural challenges and opportunities, local retail business executives can avoid or mitigate problems from comparing their norms, beliefs, customs, and values to culturally diverse individuals' behaviors, and showing frustration when making significant leadership decisions.

Local retail business leaders can employ transformational leadership strategies to motivate and inspire followers, improve culturally diverse individuals' job satisfaction, improve leadership effectiveness, and increase employees' productivity. As trust and satisfaction are important mediators between a leader's behavior and the performance of followers (Bass, 1985), local retail business leaders can also use transformational leadership strategies to build trust within their organizations, promote job satisfaction, and increase confidence with culturally diverse individuals.

## **Implications for Social Change**

In addition to the contributions to business practice, the findings of this research present opportunities for effecting positive change for both culturally diverse individuals

and communities at large. The strategies identified in the study have been successful for both employees and local retail business leaders seeking to expand business operations into global markets. Birt et al. (2016) suggested that if the purpose of a study is to contribute knowledge to enact social change, there is an ethical responsibility to explore different interpretations so that others can decide on the transferability of the results. Through communication and reinforcement, ethical leaders convey clear moral standards (Ko et al., 2018). The implications for positive social change include a better understanding of cross-cultural differences, enhanced quality cross-cultural work environments, and increased job creation for citizens.

The importance of leadership in cross-cultural settings is the ability to lead culturally diverse employees effectively and produce a profit for organizations. The findings of this research also indicated that leaders in multinational companies might rely on a diverse group of people to continue to grow in the global marketplace and promote social change for both employees and the communities. Growth and profitability can lead to better compensation and improved social lifestyles for people in societies.

Transformational leadership is being conceptualized as the best leadership style used in cross-cultural settings (Andersen et al., 2018; Pradhan & Jena, 2019). As leadership behavior has a significant impact on employee behavior, performance and well-being (Inceoglu, Thomas, Chu, Plans, & Gerbasi, 2018), transformational leadership style can assist future leaders seeking leadership strategies to improve culturally diverse people's employment opportunities for the betterment of families and communities' living standards.

### **Recommendations for Action**

While this study's results identify leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to lead culturally diverse individuals when expanding their business operations into global markets, there are still significant discoveries that can emanate from using and expanding the results. Based on the analysis of the three themes that emerged from the study, I offer the following recommendations.

Because of the increasingly globalized diverse workforce, the first recommendation is for local retail business leaders and global business executives to develop cross-cultural awareness by embracing diversity in their organizations, and by appreciating culturally diverse individuals' norms, beliefs, customs, and values vis a vis their behaviors during significant decision-making circumstances. Business executives need to develop a comprehensive understanding of cross-cultural differences and similarities, along with competencies, when leading the global workforce. To be successful working and collaborating with the inclusive intercultural individuals, local retail and global business leaders should consider developing knowledge in cross-cultural awareness and a complete understanding of cultural differences and similarities to lead the global workforce effectively. By understanding and appreciating culturally diverse employees' norms, beliefs, customs, and values, local retail business leaders and global business executives can develop team collaboration within their organizations, build trust, promote open-style communications, develop relationships among followers, and enhance their abilities to improve business performance. Local retail business leaders and global business executives who lack cross-cultural leadership experience could benefit

from reviewing the participants' strategies of this study but also potentially from the associated knowledge that resulted from expanding the participants' business operations into global markets.

The second recommendation is for local retail business leaders and global business executives to develop and use transformational leadership styles to lead culturally diverse individuals when expanding business operations into global markets. The third and final recommendation is for local retail business leaders and global business executives to attend leadership development programs to gain extensive knowledge and appropriate leadership strategies needed to lead culturally diverse individuals because of the multicultural workforce. To be successful in cross-cultural settings, local retail business leaders and global business executives must consider attending recurrent leadership development training and programs to gain contemporary leadership competencies and renew their skills and abilities and lead the global workforce effectively.

To meet the challenges of the global environment requires global leadership development (Ekelund & Adl, 2015). By creating a cross-cultural workforce, acquiring intercultural leadership competencies, and gaining knowledge on how to lead cross-cultural individuals successfully, local retail business executives can gain detailed understandings of potential complications and opportunities of the effects of cross-cultural differences, and be proactive when expanding business operations into global markets. Because of the complexities of cross-cultural leadership, local retail business leaders and global business executives must consider obtaining advanced leadership

competencies to lead intercultural teams effectively when establishing businesses locally or globally. When expanding business operations into global markets, local retail business leaders and global business executives must also consider developing contemporary leadership capabilities to understand and mitigate communications and work performance challenges.

Leadership strategies acquired from attending leadership development training and programs can assist local retail business leaders as well as global business executives to understand cultural similarities and differences and quickly adapt to contemporary changes. Local retail business leaders and global business executives could use competencies gained from leadership development training and programs to help strengthen their commitment to healthy organizational change, team innovation, continuous improvement, employee engagement, trust, and to successfully meet the challenges of the 21st century interconnected world. Therefore, local retail business leaders and global business executives must be consistent, creative, diligent, and develop cross-cultural competencies to positively lead intercultural teams effectively and efficiently through promoting a supportive organizational culture.

The results of this study will be disseminated via literature, seminars, or training programs. Organizations seeking to grow locally and internationally could use the results from these initiatives to equip local and global leaders with appropriate cross-cultural leadership strategies. Local retail businesses seeking to expand business operations into the global markets could incorporate the results of this study into global expansion business leadership seminars or training programs. The objectives of the seminars or

training programs should include enlightenment of cross-cultural challenges, cross-cultural differences and similarities, and developing the essential leadership capabilities for growing businesses beyond domestic borders.

Local, state, and U.S. governments could develop and provide retail businesses and global companies with global leadership interaction seminars and programs enabling local retail business leaders, global business executives, and employees to share and build cultural intelligence to enhance their leadership knowledge on the impacts of globalization. Local governments, retail business leaders, and global business executives can use the above possibilities along with the results of this study to help understand the opportunities of business expansion across the multicultural business world, to develop cross-border leadership awareness, and to increase their knowledge of how to function in culturally diverse environments successfully.

# **Recommendations for Further Research**

Local and global retail business leaders need business strategies and the crosscultural leadership skills, capabilities, and competencies to lead intercultural teams effectively. For addressing the need for leadership strategies, future researchers should identify and use additional interview questions to enhance prospective participants' ability to provide more thorough and objective responses about suitable cross-cultural leadership strategies during the interviews. In referring to the second need for companies' data, future researchers should consider explaining in greater detail the importance of providing companies' progress reports, and other administrative and financial documents and records to enhance the results of the future studies. In addressing the third and final need for additional populations, future researchers should consider extending studies' populations to other geographic locations. The population for this study included local retail leaders of three organizations headquartered in Minnesota. The limited geographical location of Minnesota potentially restricted the transferability of results to other geographic areas.

The results of the study involved comprehensive viewpoints of a few business leaders from three local retail organizations operating in the United States. Even though I achieved data saturation, I recommend that other researchers further investigate the phenomenon by expanding the boundaries of the target population into different geographical locations. I also suggest conducting research that integrates local and global leaders from different disciplines such as teaching, manufacturing, and healthcare organizations to reflect and compare their views on successful leadership strategies with those of the retail sector. Researchers conducting semistructured interviews increase the possibility of biases interfering with results (Lehman, 2016; Thompson et al., 2016). I believed participants answered addressed questions straightforwardly, openly, entirely, and to the best of their knowledge and experience.

Another recommendation is to approach this topic using the quantitative method, which could help other researchers examine and compare the effectiveness of different cross-cultural leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to successfully lead culturally diverse teams when expanding business operations into global markets. I also recommend future research about leadership strategies in a cross-cultural setting that employees be included in the participant pool and scope of the study. Employees may

provide essential perspectives to compare the perceived effectiveness of leadership strategies applied in organizations.

#### Reflections

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to expand business operations into global markets. By reading various peer-reviewed journal articles, books, publications, and dissertations that addressed numerous aspects of the study, I discovered the powerful force of globalization, and the need for local retail and global business leaders to develop cross-cultural leadership competencies. Leadership has been my passion for many years. Despite my love for leadership, I sought to remain unbiased throughout the data collection process to avoid potentially influencing participants' responses.

Although I attempted to remain unbiased during the data collection process, I had experienced situations of biases. I noticed that some situations for potential biases were because of how motivated and enthusiastic I was to pursue the topic of effective leadership in cross-cultural settings. This enthusiasm could have compromised the interpretations of the data. I took suitable measures to mitigate these biases, which included notetaking, using an interview protocol (see Appendix B), interview recording, and member checking to assure the reliability, validity, and accuracy of the data.

During the data collection process, I allowed participants to express themselves freely, straightforwardly, and openly, without preconceptions or bias. The data collection and analysis section of the program (Section 3) was more challenging than anticipated because I was less prepared. I did not start to recruit participants immediately after I

received IRB approval, which was the wrong strategy. I should have launched participants' recruitment right after I received IRB approval to take advantage of the time. As a result, I spent much more time searching for participants after I received IRB approval, which delayed the process.

My experience during the DBA doctoral study process was unprecedentedly challenging but rewarding because of the knowledge I gained from the top business executives of local and global retail companies operating in the United States and around the world. I followed the DBA program's handbook and rubric to develop and use the interview protocol (see Appendix B), the 85% peer-reviewed references requirements, the consent form, and the data collection process described in Section 2 of this study.

Although participants were at first reluctant to share their companies' progress reports because of confidentiality issues, they demonstrated unexpected enthusiasm during the interview sessions. I was pleased that all three participants demonstrated they were well prepared and enthusiastic for participating in their interviews. During the interview sessions, the participants openly answered questions and freely shared documents to support their responses.

## Conclusion

As global business executives continue to expand business operations worldwide, local retail business leaders need appropriate leadership strategies to lead cross-cultural teams effectively. Local retail business leaders and global business executives who learn to lead intercultural teams are more likely to be successful in the 21st century globalized business marketplaces. As world communication, technology, and trade become

increasingly integrated through globalization, multicultural corporations seek leaders with global leadership skills (Walker, 2018). The best leadership in cross-cultural settings is, therefore, the one that is clear, fair, inspiring, motivating, shared, communicative, rewarding, appreciative, and successful.

A multiculture society is a complex demographic scenario with unique beliefs and societal interactions (Kappagomtula, 2017). The need to develop global leadership awareness, global leadership skills, abilities, and competencies in cross-cultural settings is conclusively imperative. Enabling local retail business leaders with basic cross-cultural understandings and capabilities is fundamental for contemporary business executives who seek to expand business operations into global markets.

I used the results from the findings of this study to help confirm that global leadership along with the conceptual framework of leadership and transformational leadership could assist local retail business leaders as well as global business executives to lead culturally diverse individuals effectively; create values for organizations; enhance leadership skills and abilities; and promote a healthy organizational culture, a climate of trust, and open communications. The practical strategies used by the participants from companies X, Y, and Z can serve as a guide for local retail business leaders and global business executives seeking to explore contemporary leadership strategies to lead the diverse global workforce effectively as they expanded their business operations into global markets.

## References

- Abugre, J. B. (2018). Cross-cultural communication imperatives. *Critical Perspectives on International Business*, *14*, 170-187. doi:10.1108/cpoib-01-2017-0005
- Adler, N. J., & Bartholomew, S. (1992). Managing globally competent people. *Academy of Management Executive*, 6, 52-65. doi:10.5465/AME.1992.4274189
- Afsar, B., Badir, Y. F., Saeed, B. B., & Hafeez, S. (2017). Transformational and transactional leadership and employee's entrepreneurial behavior in knowledge—intensive industries. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28, 307-332. doi:10.1080/09585192.2016.1244893
- Afsar, B., & Masood, M. (2018). Transformational leadership, creative self-efficacy, trust in supervisor, uncertainty avoidance, and innovative work behavior of nurses.

  \*\*Journal of Applied Behavioral Science, 54, 36-61.\*\*

  doi:10.1177/0021886317711891
- Aga, D. A., Noorderhaven, N., & Vallejo, B. (2016). Transformational leadership and project success: The mediating role of team-building. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34, 806-818. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.02.012
- Ahmad, S. (2018). Can ethical leadership inhibit workplace bullying across East and West: Exploring cross-cultural interactional justice as a mediating mechanism. *European Management Journal*, 36, 223-234. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2018.01.003
- Ali, Md. A., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability, and generalizability. *Issues in Social & Environmental Accounting*, 5, 25-64. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/ISEA/index

- Andersen, L. B., Bjørnholt, B., Bro, L. L., & Holm-Petersen, C. (2018). Achieving high quality through transformational leadership: A qualitative multilevel analysis of transformational leadership and perceived professional quality. *Public Personnel Management*, 47, 51-72. doi:10.1177/0091026017747270
- Andresen, M., & Bergdolt, F. (2017). A systematic literature review on the definitions of global mindset and cultural intelligence: Merging two different research streams.

  The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 28, 170-195.

  doi:10.1080/09585192.2016.1243568
- Ardichvili, A., Natt och Dag, K., & Manderscheid, S. (2016). Leadership development:

  Current and emerging models and practices. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 18, 275-285. doi:10.1177/1523422316645506
- Arpaci, I., & Baloğlu, M. (2016). The impact of cultural collectivism on knowledge sharing among information technology majoring undergraduates. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 56, 65-71 doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.11.031
- Atay, A., & Toyosaki, S. (2018). Crossing paths: Intercultural collaborations.

  Communication Studies, 69, 366-371. doi:10.1080/10510974.2018.1472120
- Babbie, E. (2015). *The practice of social research* (14th ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Baillie, L. (2015). Promoting and evaluating scientific rigour in qualitative research.

  Nursing Standard, 29(46), 36-42. doi:10.7748/ns.29.46.36.e8830

- Barbuto, J. E., Beenen, G., & Tran, H. (2015). The role of core self-evaluation, ethnocentrism, and cultural intelligence in study abroad success. *International Journal of Management Education*, *13*, 268-277. doi:10.1016/j.ijme.2015.07.00
- Barker, G. G. (2016). Cross-cultural perspectives on intercultural communication competence. *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 45, 13-30. doi:10.1080/17475759.2015.1104376
- Barratt, M. J., Ferris, J. A., & Lenton, S. (2015). Hidden populations, online purposive sampling, and external validity: Taking off the blindfold. *Field Methods*, 27, 3-21. doi:10.1177/1525822X14526838
- Basias, N., & Pollalis, Y. (2018). Quantitative and qualitative research in business & technology: Justifying a suitable research methodology. *Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research*, 7, 91-105. Retrieved from http://buscompress.com/journal-home.html
- Bass, B. M. (1985). *Leadership and performance beyond expectations*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Bass, B.M. (1996). Theory of transformational leadership redux: *The Leadership Quarterly*, *6*, 463-478. doi:10.1016/1048-9843(95)90021-7
- Bass, B. M. (1997). Does the transactional-transformational leadership paradigm transcend organizational and national boundaries? *American Psychologist*, *52*, 130-139. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.52.2.130

- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1990). Developing transformational leadership: 1992 and beyond. *Journal of European Industrial Training*, 14, 21-27.doi:10.1108/03090599010135122
- Beauregard, N., Lemyre, L., & Barrette, J. (2015). The domains of organizational learning practices: An agency-structure perspective. *Societies*, *5*, 713-733. doi:10.3390/soc504071
- Bell, R., & Riol, C. F. (2017). The impact of cross-cultural communication on collective efficacy in NCAA basketball teams. *International Journal of Cross-Cultural Management*, 17, 175-195. doi:10.1177/1470595817702678
- Belleflamme, P., Lambert, T., & Schwienbacher, A. (2014). Crowdfunding: Tapping the right crowd. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 29, 585-609. doi:10.1016/j.jbusvent.2013.07.003
- Belmont Report (1979). *Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. Retrieved from http://hhs.gov/ohrp/
- Berry, J. (2016). Comparative analysis of Canadian multiculturalism policy and the multiculturalism policies of other countries. *Psychology in Russia*, *9*, 4-23. doi:10.11621/pir.2016.0101
- Besbes, A., Legohérel, P., Kucukusta, D., & Law, R. (2016). A cross-cultural validation of the tourism web acceptance model in different cultural contexts. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 28, 211-226. doi:10.1080/08961530.2016.1152524

- Besnoy, K. D., Maddin, E., Steele, E., & Eisenhardt, S. (2015). The friendship journey:

  Developing global understanding in the middle grades. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 18, 44-73. doi:10.15365/joce.1802042015
- Bird, A., & Mendenhall, M. E. (2016). From cross-cultural management to global leadership: Evolution and adaptation. *Journal of World Business*, *51*, 115-126. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2015.10.005
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blomqvist, C., Agrell, C., & Sandahl, C. (2016). Leadership challenges of strategic research centres in relation to degree of institutionalization. *Journal of Higher Education Policy & Management*, 38, 649-663.

  doi:10.1080/1360080X.2016.1211969
- Boddy, C.R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research*:

  An International Journal. 19, 426-432. doi:10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Bodenhausen, C., & Curtis, C. (2016). Transformational leadership and employee involvement: Perspectives from millennial workforce entrants. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 17, 371-387. doi:10.1080/1528008X.2015.1048920
- Bowden, C., & Galindo-Gonzalez, S. (2015). Interviewing when you're not face-to-face:

  The use of email interviews in a phenomenological study. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10, 79-92. Retrieved from http://ijds.org/

- Breevaart, K., & Bakker, A. B. (2018). Daily job demand,k /kL:s and employee work engagement: The role of daily transformational leadership behavior. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23, 338-349. doi:10.1037/ocp0000082
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2015). *Business research methods*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Buchanan, W. L. (2013). Exploring sustainability: The key to corporate profitability in the 21st century (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3604426)
- Buck, A. (2018). The corporate networks and symbolic capital of British business leaders. *Sociological Perspectives*, *61*, 467-486. doi:10.1177/0731121417753368
- Burkett, K. W., & Morris, E. J. (2015). Enabling trust in qualitative research with culturally diverse participants. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 29, 108-112. doi:10.1016/j.pedhc.2014.06.002
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: HarperCollins.
- Caillier, J. G., & Sa, Y. (2017). Do transformational-oriented leadership and transactional-oriented leadership have an impact on whistle-blowing attitudes? A longitudinal examination conducted in US federal agencies. *Public Management Review*, 19, 406-422. doi:10.1080/14719037.2016.1177109
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41, 545-547. doi:10.1188/14.onf.545-547

- Casey, T. W., Riseborough, K. M., & Krauss, A. D. (2015). Do you see what I see?

  Effects of national culture on employees' safety-related perceptions and behavior.

  Accident Analysis & Prevention, 78, 173-184. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2015.03.010
- Castelli, P. A. (2016). Reflective leadership review: A framework for improving organizational performance. *Journal of Management Development*, *35*, 217-236. doi:10.1108/JMD-08-2015-0112
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 811-830. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Çelik, P., Storme, M., & Forthmann, B. (2016). A new perspective on the link between multiculturalism and creativity: The relationship between core value diversity and divergent thinking. *Learning & Individual Differences*, 52, 188-196. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2016.02.002
- Chaimongkonrojna, T., & Steane, P. (2015). Effectiveness of full range leadership development among middle managers. *Journal of Management Development*, *34*, 1161-1180. doi:10.1108/JMD-01-2014-0002
- Charoensukmongkol, P. (2015). Cultural intelligence of entrepreneurs and international network ties: The case of small and medium manufacturing firms in Thailand.

  Management Research Review, 38, 421-436. doi:10.1108/MRR-09-2013-0214
- Chaudhry, A., Yuan, L., Hu, J., & Cooke, R. A. (2016). What matters more? The impact of industry and organizational factors on organizational culture. *Management Decision*, *54*, 570-588. doi:10.1108/MD-05-2015-0192

- Chen, S., Zhang, G., Zhang, A., & Xu, J. (2016). Collectivism-oriented human resource management and innovation performance: An examination of team reflexivity and team psychological safety. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 22, 535-548. doi:10.1017/jmo.2015.50
- Cherry, K. (2019). The great man theory of leadership. A brief overview of the great man theory. *Social Psychology*, Retrieved from http://psychology.about.com/od/leadership/a/great-man-theory-of-leadership.htm
- Choromides, C. (2018). Leadership and change management: A cross-cultural perspective. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 24, 575-578. doi:10.1108/IJEBR-03-2018-428
- Chow Tong, W., Salleh, L. M., & Ismail, I. A. (2017). A preferred leadership portrait of successful cross-cultural leadership. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai*, *Negotia*, 62, 21-43. doi:10.24193/subbnegotia.2017.4.02
- Ciasullo, M. V., Cosimato, S., Gaeta, M., & Palumbo, R. (2017). Comparing two approaches to team building: a performance measurement evaluation. *Team Performance Management*, 23, 333-351. doi:10.1108/TPM-01-2017-0002
- Claybaugh, C. C., & Haseman, W. D. (2013). Understanding professional connections in LinkedIn: A question of trust. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*, 94-105. Retrieved from http://iacis.org
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10 1111/jan.12163

- Cleveland, M., Rojas-Méndez, J. I., Laroche, M., & Papadopoulos, N. (2016). Identity, culture, dispositions and behavior: A cross-national examination of globalization and culture change. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 1090-1102. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.08.025
- Collins, B., & Loukaitou-Sideris, A. (2016). Skid row, gallery row and the space in between: Cultural revitalization and its impacts on two Los Angeles neighborhoods. *The Town Planning Review*, 87, 401-427. doi:10.3828/tpr.2016.27
- Cruz, R. F., & Tantia, J. F. (2017). Reading and understanding qualitative research.

  American Journal of Dance Therapy, 39, 79-92. doi:10.1007/s10465-016-9219-z
- Cumberland, D. M., Herd, A., Alagaraja, M., & Kerrick, S. A. (2016). Assessment and development of global leadership competencies in the workplace. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, *18*, 301-317. doi:10.1177/1523422316645883
- Dabić, M., Tipurić, D., & Podrug, N. (2015). Cultural differences affecting decision-making style: A comparative study between four countries. *Journal of Business Economics and Management*, 16, 275-289. doi:10.3846/16111699.2013.859172
- Darian-Smith, E. (2016). Mismeasuring humanity: Examining indicators through a critical global studies perspective. *New Global Studies*, *10*, 73-99. doi:10.1515/ngs-2015-0018
- Dartey-Baah, K. (2013). The cultural approach to the management of the international human resource: An analysis of Hofstede's cultural dimensions. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 4, 39. doi:10.5430/ijba.v4n2p39

- Davis, P. J., Frolova, Y., & Callahan, W. (2016). Workplace diversity management in Australia. Equality, diversity & inclusion. *An International Journal*, 35, 81-98. doi:10.1108/EDI-03-2015-0020
- Deephouse, D. L., Newburry, W., & Soleimani, A. (2016). The effects of institutional development and national culture on cross-national differences in corporate reputation. *Journal of World Business*, *51*, 463-473. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2015.12.005
- Deichmann, D., & Stam, D. (2015). Leveraging transformational and transactional leadership to cultivate the generation of organization-focused ideas. *Leadership Quarterly*, 26, 204-219. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.10.004
- DesAutels, P., Berthon, P., Caruana, A., & Pitt, L. F. (2015). The impact of country connectedness and cultural values on the equity of a country's workforce. *Cross Cultural Management*, 22, 2-20. doi:10.1108/CCM-12-2013-0184
- Dimitrov, D. (2015). Leadership in a humane organization. *European Journal of Training*& Development, 39, 122-142. doi:10.1108/EJTD-07-2014-0051
- Diversity as a contributor to leadership effectiveness. (2016). *Strategic Direction*, *32*, 26-28. doi:10.1108/SD-04-2016-0053
- Edwards, D. G. (2016). Strategic managerial responses to critical service events in restaurants (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (UMI No. 10016236)

- Ekelund, H., & Adl, R. (2015) Globalization demands consistent leadership development.

  \*BTS Insight\*. Retrieved from http://bts.com/docs/default-source/newsletter/BTS
  Insights-Globalization-Demands-Consistent-Leadership-Development.pdf
- El Toufaili, B. (2018). The Influence of subjective factors on the development of the transformational style of leadership. *Review of International Comparative*Management/ Revista de Management Comparat International, 19, 124-135.

  doi:10.24818/RMCI.2018.2.124
- Elbanna, S., & Fadol, Y. (2016). The role of context in intuitive decision-making. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 22, 642-661. doi:10.1017/jmo.2015.63
- Emuwa, A., & Fields, D. (2017). Authentic leadership as a contemporary leadership model applied in Nigeria. *African Journal of Economic and Management Studies*, 8, 296-313. doi:10.1108/AJEMS-06-2016-0092
- Enosh, G., & Ben-Ari, A. (2016). Reflexivity: The creation of liminal spaces-Researchers, participants, and research encounters. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 578-584. doi:10.1177/1049732315587878
- Eriksson, D. (2015). Lessons on knowledge creation in supply chain management. *European Business Review*, 27, 346-368. doi:10.1108/EBR-12-2014-0086
- Evans, K. (2016). Making the case for internationalization: Reflections on the transnational planning studio experience. *The Town Planning Review*, 87, 371-377. doi:10.3828/tpr.2016.25

- Ewest, T. (2015). The relationship between transformational leadership practices and global social responsibility. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, *9*, 19-29. doi:10.1002/jls.21347
- Fan, P. (2018). From the great wall to wall street: A cross-cultural look at leadership and management in China and the US. *Asia pacific Business Review*, 24, 414-416. doi:10.1080/13602381.2018.1427943
- Fazzi, G., & Zamaro, N. (2016). Exploring the interplay between leadership styles and public service motivation in two organizational settings. *International Journal of Manpower*, *37*, 859-877. doi:10.1108/IJM-01-2015-0008
- Fellows, K. L., Goedde, S. D., & Schwichtenberg, E. J. (2016). What's your CQ? A thought leadership exploration of cultural intelligence in contemporary institutions of higher learning. *Romanian Journal of Communications and Public Relations*, 16(2), 13-34. doi:10.21018/rjcpr.2014.2.180
- Fenn, B., Sangrasi, G. M., Puett, C., Trenouth, L., & Pietzsch, S. (2015). The REFANI Pakistan study-A cluster randomised controlled trial of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of cash-based transfer programmes on child nutrition status: Study protocol. *BMC Public Health*, *15*, 1-10. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2380-3
- Flatten, T., Adams, D., & Brettel, M. (2015). Fostering absorptive capacity through leadership: A cross-cultural analysis. *Journal of World Business*, 50, 519-534. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2014.08.010
- Froese, F. J., Kim, K., & Eng, A. (2016). Language, cultural intelligence, and inpatriate turnover intentions: Leveraging values in multinational corporations through

- inpatriates. *Management International Review*, *56*, 283-301. doi:10.1007/s11575-015-0272-5
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

  The Qualitative Report, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu
- Galbraith, K. B. (2017). Practitioner application: Blueprint for sustainable change in diversity management and cultural competence: Lessons from the national center for healthcare leadership diversity demonstration project. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 62, 183-185. doi:10.1097/JHM-D-17-0004
- Garg, R. (2016). Methodology for research 1. *Indian Journal of Anaesthesia*, 60, 640-645. doi:10.4103/0019-5049.190619
- Gebert, D., Heinitz, K., & Buengeler, C. (2016). Leaders' charismatic leadership and followers' commitment. The moderating dynamics of value erosion at the societal level. *Leadership Quarterly*, 27, 98-108. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.08.006
- Geier, M. T. (2016). Leadership in extreme contexts. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 23, 234-247. doi:10.1177/1548051815627359
- Gelling, L. (2015). Stages in the research process. *Nursing Standard*, 29(27), 44-49. doi:10.7748/ns.29.27.44.e8745
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1772-1789. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

- Getha-Taylor, H., Fowles, J., Silvia, C., & Merritt, C. C. (2015). Considering the effects of time on leadership development. *Public Personnel Management*, 44, 295-316. doi:10.1177/0091026015586265
- Ghasabeh, M. S., Reaiche, C., & Soosay, C. (2015). The emerging role of transformational leadership. *Journal of Developing Areas*, 49, 459-467. doi:10.1353/jda.2015.0090
- Glinkowska, B. (2017). Features of the international manager leader of the near future findings of the research. *Management* (1429-9321), 21, 120-132. doi:10.1515/manment-2015-0084
- Globalization. (2014). In Businessdictionary.com. Online dictionary. Retrieved from http://businessdictionary.com/definition/globalization.html#ixzz2sb3wOM8
- Government Service Design Manual. (2014). Ethnographic research. Retrieved from https://gov.uk/service-manual/
- Greblikaite, J., Sroka, W., Daugeliene, R., & Kurowska-Pysz, J. (2016). Cultural integration and cross-cultural management challenges in the central European countries: Lithuania and Poland. *European Integration Studies*, *10*, 29-43. doi:10.5755/j01.eis.0.10.16281
- Greene Sands, R., & Greene-Sands, A. (2014). *Cross-cultural competence for a twenty first-century military*. United States: Lexington Books.
- Greenwood, M. (2016). Approving or improving research ethics in management journals. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *137*, 507-520. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2564-x

- Griensven, H. V., Moore, A. P., & Hall, V. (2014). Mixed methods research: The best of both worlds? *Manual Therapy*, 19, 367-371. doi:10.1016/j.math.2014.05.005
- Grier, D. A. (2017). Local culture, global habits. *Computer*, *50*, 96. doi:10.1109/MC.2017.25
- Grobler, S.W., & Du Plessis, Y. (2016). Requisite leader behavioral competencies for sustainable organizational performance. *Acta Commercial*, *16*, 347-354. doi:10.4102/ac.v16i1.347
- Gross, R. (2016). Towards an understanding of the relationship between leadership styles and strategic thinking: A small and medium enterprise perspective. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 8, 22-39. Retrieved from http://jbsq.org/
- Gupta, D. R., Veliyath, R., & George, R. (2018). Influence of national culture on IPO activity. *Journal of Business Research*, 90, 226-246. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.04.023
- Gupta, S., & Bhaskar, A. U. (2016). Doing business in India: Cross-cultural issues in managing human resources. Cross-Cultural & Strategic Management, 23, 184-204. doi:10.1108/CCSM-09-2014-0112
- Haines, D. (2017). Ethical considerations in qualitative case study research recruiting participants with profound intellectual disabilities. *Research Ethics*, *13*, 219-232. doi:10.1177/1747016117711971
- Han, C. M., & Won, S. B. (2018). Cross-country differences in consumer cosmopolitanism and ethnocentrism: A multilevel analysis with 21 countries. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 17, e52-e66. doi:10.1002/cb.1675

- Han, S. J., & Beyerlein, M. (2016). Framing the effects of multinational cultural diversity on virtual team processes. *Small Group Research*, 47, 351-383. doi:10.1177/1046496416653480
- Hannachi, Y. (2016). The impact of the learning organization on product innovation performance: An empirical assessment in the French biotechnology industry.

  \*Management International\*, 20, 49-61. Retrieved from http://revue.hec.ca/mi
- Hartnell, C. A., Schurer Lambert, L., Kinicki, A. J., Fugate, M., Doyle Corner, P., & Lambert, L. S. (2016). Do similarities or differences between CEO leadership and organizational culture have a more positive effect on firm performance? A test of competing predictions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101, 846-861. doi:10.1037/apl0000083
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 23-38. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hedman, E. (2016). Leadership team tool for better meaning making. *Journal of Management Development*, 35, 592-605. doi:10.1108/JMD-09-2015-0132
- Herd, A. M., Alagaraja, M., & Cumberland, D. M. (2016). Assessing global leadership competencies: the critical role of assessment center methodology. *Human Resource Development International*, 19, 27-43.

doi:10.1080/13678868.2015.1072125

- Hildenbrand, K., Sacramento, C. A., Binnewies, C. (2018). Transformational leadership and burnout: The role of thriving and followers' openness to experience. *Journal of Occupational Health*, 23, 31-43. doi:10.1037/ocp0000051
- Hodges, J., & Howieson, B. (2017). The challenges of leadership in the third sector. European Management Journal, 35, 69-77. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2016.12.006
- Hofstede Center (2014). Organization culture scan light. *Itim global*, *The Hofstede Center*. Retrieved from http://geert-hofstede.com/
- Hofstede, G. (1983). National cultures in four dimensions. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 13, 46-74. doi:10.1080/00208825.1983.11656358
- Hofstede, G. (1984). The cultural relativity of the quality of life concept. *Academy of Management Review*, 9, 389-398. doi:10.5465/AMR.1984.4279653
- Hofstede, G. (1985). The interaction between national and organizational value systems.

  Journal of Management Studies, 22, 347-357. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.1985.tb00001.x
- Hofstede, G. (2002). Commentary on an international study of the psychometric properties of the Hofstede values survey module 1994: A comparison of individual and country/province level results: *The International Review*, *51*, 170-178. doi:10.1111/1464-0597.084\_1
- Hofstede, G. (2007). A European in Asia. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology*, 10, 16-21 doi:10.1111/j.1467-839X.2006.00206.x
- Hofstede, G., & Hosfstede, J. (2014). Dimensions of national cultures. *Itim global, The Hofstede Center*. Retrieved from http://geerthofstede.nl/

- Horn, D., Mathis, C. J., Robinson, S. L., & Randle, N. (2015). Is charismatic leadership effective when workers are pressured to be good citizens? *Journal of Psychology*, 149, 751-774. doi:10.1080/00223980.2014.978253
- Houghton, J. D., Carnes, A., & Ellison, C. N. (2014). A Cross-cultural examination of self-leadership: Testing for measurement invariance across four cultures. *Journal* of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 21, 414-430. doi:10.1177/1548051813515753
- Hwang, S. J., Quast, L. N., Center, B. A., Chung, C. N., Hahn, H., & Wohkittel, J. (2015). The impact of leadership behaviors on leaders perceived job performance across cultures: Comparing the role of charismatic, directive, participative, and supportive leadership behaviors in the U.S. and four Confucian Asian countries. Human Resource Development International, 18, 259-277. doi:10.1080/13678868.2015.1036226
- Inceoglu, I., Thomas, G., Chu, C., Plans, D., & Gerbasi, A. (2018). Leadership behavior and employee well-being: An integrated review and a future research agenda.

  \*Leadership Quarterly\*, 29, 179-202. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.006
- Iovitu, M., Balu, W. E., & Bodislav, D. A. (2016). Financial relations influenced by globalization. *The Review of International Comparative Management*, 17, 173-179. Retrieved from http://rmci.ase.ro/
- Jamal, J., & Bakar, H. A. (2017). The Mediating role of charismatic leadership communication in a crisis: A Malaysian example. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *54*, 369-393. doi:10.1177/2329488415572782

- Jensen, U. T., Andersen, L. B., Bro, L. L., Bøllingtoft, A., Eriksen, T. L. M., Holten, A.-L., . . . Würtz, A. (2019). Conceptualizing and measuring transformational and transactional leadership. *Administration & Society*, 51, 3-33. doi:10.1177/0095399716667157
- Jensen, U. T., & Bro, L. L. (2018). How transformational leadership supports intrinsic motivation and public Service motivation: The mediating role of basic need satisfaction. *American Review of Public Administration*, 48, 535-549. doi:10.1177/0275074017699470
- Ji, Y., Zhou, E., Li, C., & Yan, Y. (2015). Power distance orientation and employee help seeking: Trust in supervisor as a mediator. Social behavior and personality: *An International Journal*, *43*, 1043-1054. doi:10:2224/sbp.2015.43.6.1043
- Jiang, L., & Probst, T. M. (2016). Transformational and passive leadership as cross-level moderators of the relationships between safety knowledge, safety motivation, and safety participation. *Journal of Safety Research*, *57*, 27-32. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2016.03.002
- Johansen, B. (2009), Leaders make the future: Ten new leadership skills for an uncertain world (1st ed.), San Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler Publishers, Inc.
- Johnson, L., & Pak, Y. (2018). Leadership for democracy in challenging times: Historical case studies in the United States and Canada. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 54, 439-469. doi:10.1177/0013161X18761345

- Jonsen, K., & Jehn, K. (2009). Using triangulation to validate themes in qualitative studies. Qualitative research in organizations and management, *International Journal*, 4, 123-150. doi:10.1108/17465640910978391
- Jönsson, S., Muhonen, T., Denti, L., & Chen, K. (2015). Social climate and job control as mediators between empowering leadership and learning from a cross-cultural perspective. *International Journal of Cross-Cultural Management*, *15*, 135-149. doi:10.1177/1470595815572170
- Jørgensen, C., Friis, O. U., & Koch, C. (2015). Transforming capabilities in offshoring processes. *Strategic Outsourcing*, *8*, 53-75. doi:10.1108/SO-12-2014-0031
- Ju, R., & Shoham, M. (2017). Multidimensionality of identification: Exploring the local and global experiences of organizational members across eastern and western contexts. Western Journal of Communication, 81, 206-224. doi:10.1080/10570314.2016.1235281
- Kailasapathy, P., & Jayakody, J. A. S. K. (2018). Does leadership matter? Leadership styles, family supportive supervisor behavior and work interference with family conflict. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29, 3033-3067. doi:10.1080/09585192.2016.1276091
- Kappagomtula, C. L. (2017). Overcoming challenges in leadership roles managing large projects with multi or cross culture teams. *European Business Review*, 29, 572-583. doi:10.1108/EBR-12-2015-0177
- Kark, R., Van Dijk, D., & Vashdi, D. R. (2018). Motivated or demotivated to be creative:

  The role of self-regulatory focus in transformational and transactional leadership

- processes. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 67, 186-224. doi:10.1111/apps.12122
- Kasemsap, K. (2015). The role of ethical leadership in ethical organizations: A literature review. *Contemporary Issues Surrounding Ethical Research Methods and Practice*, 6, 135-168. doi:10.4018/978-1-4666-8562-8.ch006
- Kattman, B. R. (2014). In today's global environment, organizational culture dominates national culture. *Benchmarking*, *21*, 651-664. doi:10.1108/BIJ-06-2012-0044
- Kauder, B., & Potrafke, N. (2015). Globalization and social justice in OECD countries.

  \*Review of World Economics, 151, 353-376. doi:10.1007/s10290-015-0213-1
- Khuong, M. N., Linh, V. A., & Duc, V. M. (2015). The effects of transformational and ethics-based leaderships on employee's loyalty towards marketing agencies in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. *Global Journal of Innovation, Management, and Technology*, 6, 158-165. doi:10.7763/IJMT.2015.V6.595
- Kim, J., & McLean, G. N. (2015). An integrative framework for global leadership competency: Levels and dimensions. *Human Resource Development International*, 18, 235-258. doi:10.1080/13678868.2014.1003721
- Kim, S., & Shin, M. (2019). Transformational leadership behaviors, the empowering process, and organizational commitment: Investigating the moderating role of organizational structure in Korea. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30, 251-275. doi:10.1080/09585192.2016.1278253

- Kirton, G., Robertson, & Avdelidou-Fischer, N. (2016). Valuing and value in diversity:

  The policy-implementation gap in an IT firm. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 26, 321-336. doi:10.1111/1748-8583.1211
- Ko, C., Haney, M. H., & Lee, G. (2018). Effects of ethical leadership and formal control systems on employee opportunistic behavior in China. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 25, 1350-1362. hdoi:10.1108/BIJ-08-2017-0213
- Koohang, A., Paliszkiewicz, J., & Goluchowski, J. (2017). The impact of leadership on trust, knowledge management, and organizational performance. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117, 521-537. doi:10.1108/IMDS-02-2016-007
- Kopelman, S., Hardin, A. E., Myers, C. G., & Tost, L. P. (2016). Cooperation in multicultural negotiations: How the cultures of people with low and high power interact. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101, 721-730. doi:10.1037/apl0000065
- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 12*, 397-414. doi:10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941
- Krassner, A. M., Gartstein, M. A., Park, C., Dragan, W. Ł., Lecannelier, F., & Putnam, S.
  P. (2017). East—west, collectivist-individualist: A cross-cultural examination of temperament in toddlers from Chile, Poland, South Korea, and the U.S. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 14, 449-464.
  doi:10.1080/17405629.2016.1236722

- Kruth, J. G. (2015). Five qualitative research approaches in parapsychology. *The Journal of Parapsychology*, 79, 219-233. Retrieved from rhine.org/whatwe-do/journal-of-parapsychology.html
- Lakshman, C., & Estay, C. (2016). Attributional complexity and leadership. *International Journal of Cross-Cultural Management*, 16, 53-76.

  doi:10.1177/1470595815622653
- Lau Chin, J., Desormeaux, L., & Sawyer, K. (2016). Making way of paradigms of diversity leadership. Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice & Research, 68, 49-71. doi:10.1037/cpb000005i
- Laud, R., Arevalo, J., & Johnson, M. (2016). The changing nature of managerial skills, mindsets and roles: Advancing theory and relevancy for contemporary managers.
  Journal of Management and Organization, 22, 435-456. doi:10.1017/jmo.2015.48
- Leadership-central.com. (2016). *Leadership theories*. Retrieved from http://leadership-central.com/
- Leavy, B. (2016). Effective leadership today, character not just competence. *Strategy & Leadership*, 44(1), 20-29. doi:10.1108/SL-11-2015-0081
- Lebedeva, N. M., & Galyapina, V. N. (2016). Is multiculturalism in Russia possible?

  Intercultural relations in north Ossetia-Alania. *Psychology in Russia*, *9*, 24-40. doi:10.11621/pir.2016.0102
- Lee, A., Martin, R., Thomas, G., Guillaume, Y., & Maio, G. R. (2015). Conceptualizing leadership perceptions as attitudes: Using attitude theory to further understand the

- leadership process. *Leadership Quarterly*, 26, 910-934. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.10.003
- Lee, B., & Kelly, L. (2019). Cultural leadership ideals and social entrepreneurship: An international study. *Journal of Social Entrepreneurship*, 10, 108-128. doi:10.1080/19420676.2018.1541005
- Lee, J., Crawford, A., Weber, M. R., & Dennison, D. (2018). Antecedents of cultural intelligence among American hospitality students: Moderating effect of ethnocentrism. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Education*, 30, 167-183. doi:10.1080/10963758.2018.1444494
- Lehman, C. L. (2016). *Multicultural competence for teaching diverse students as*experienced by preservice teachers (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from

  ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No 1776478593)
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*, 473-475. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newberry Park, CA: Sage.
- Lisak, A., & Erez, M. (2015). Leadership emergence in multicultural teams: The power of global characteristics. *Journal of World Business*, *50*, 3-14. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2014.01.002
- Lokkesmoe, K. J., Kuchinke, K. P., & Ardichvili, A. (2016). Developing cross-cultural awareness through foreign immersion programs. *European Journal of Training & Development*, 40, 155-170. doi:10.1108/EJTD-07-2014-0048

- Louw, L., Muriithi, S. M., & Radloff, S. (2017). The relationship between transformational leadership and leadership effectiveness in Kenyan indigenous banks. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management*, *15*, 1-11. doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v15i0.935
- Ma, X., & Jiang, W. (2018). Transformational leadership, transactional leadership, and employee creativity in entrepreneurial firms. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *54*, 302-324. doi:10.1177/0021886318764346
- Magu, S. (2015). Conceptualizing cultural globalization: Connecting the cultural global and the cultural local. *Social Sciences*, *4*, 630-645. doi:10.3390/socsci4030630
- Management Study Guide. (2013). *Trait theory of leadership*. Retrieved from http://managementstudyguide.com/
- Marinescu, C. (2018). Flexicurity of the labor market through the formal/informal duality, in the context of globalization. *Review of International Comparative Management / Revista de Management Comparat International*, 19, 372-380. doi:10.24818/RMCI.2018.4.372
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2015). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in is research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*, 11-22. doi:10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

  Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Marta-Dominguez, C.C., Galán-González, J. L., & Barroso, C. (2015). Patterns of strategic change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, *3*, 441-431. doi:10.1108/JOCM-05-2014-0097
- Martinelli, D., & Erzikova, E. (2017). Public relations leadership development cycle: A cross-cultural perspective. *Public Relations Review*, *43*, 1062-1072. doi:10.1016/j.pubrev.2017.09.002
- Mathew, A., & Rakesh, S. (2016). Transformational leadership: An investigation of bass's model in the context of Indian professionals. *International Journal of Human Resources Development and Management*, 16, 18-29. doi:10.1504/IJHRDM.2016.075367
- Mattheus F. W., Cristiane F., Maria C. B., Vania G. B., & Dusan. S. (2016). The development of the skills of global leaders: An approach based on studies of global mindset leadership. *Internext: Revista Eletrônica de Negócios Internacionais*, 11(2), 35-48. doi:10.18568/1980-4865.11235-48
- Matthews L. & Thakkar B. (2012). The impact of globalization on cross-cultural communication. Business management and economics. *Globalization-Education and Management Agendas*, 2, 126-144. doi:10.5772/45816
- McDonald, S. (2015). The lived experiences of Mexican-heritage mothers caring for overweight preschool children. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 431-450. Retrieved from http://nova.edu/ssss/QR/

- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 1-12. doi:10.1177/2333393615597674
- McSweeney, B. (2016). Collective cultural mind programming: escaping from the cage. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 29, 68-80. doi:10.1108/JOCM-12-2015-0229
- Mehrabanfar, E. (2015). Globalization streams in futures studies. *Informatica Economica*, 19(3), 96-106. doi:10.12948/issn14531305/19.3.2015.09
- Menon, S., & Narayanan, L. (2015). Cultural intelligence: New directions for research in Asia. *Asian Social Science*, *11*, 193-202. doi:10.5539/ass.v11n18p193
- Middleton, J., Harvey, S., & Esaki, N. (2015). Transformational leadership and organizational change: How do leaders approach trauma-informed organizational change...twice? *Families in Society*, *96*, 155-163. doi:10.1606/1044-3894.2015.96.21
- Milota, V., Mária, S., & Jozef, Ď. (2015). Organizational culture and human resources management in multinational companies under the condition of intercultural environment. *Economic Processes Management*, 4(9), 56-71. Retrieved from http://epm.fem.sumdu.edu.ua/
- Minkov, M., Blagoev V., & Radev, T. (2013). Globalization and the need for culture diversity: General implication for cross-cultural management and management education. *IUC Management Review*. Retrieved from http://manreview.iuc.bg/No1/mbr/article4.html

- Minelgaite, I., & Littrell, R. F. (2018). Country's preferred leader behavior profile: Does cultural homogeneity matter? *Management: Journal of Contemporary*Management Issues, 23(1), 1-28. doi:10.24818/RMCI.2018.4.372
- Mishra, S., Devarakonda, B., & Kumar, B. (2015). Transition from cultural diversity to multiculturalism: perspectives from offshore industry in India. *AI & Society*, *30*, 283-289. doi:10.1007/s00146-014-0537-8
- Miska, C., & Öner, H. (2015). Global leadership practices: A cross-cultural management perspective. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *14*, 655-657. doi:10.5465/amle.2015.0238
- Mittal, R. (2015). Charismatic and transformational leadership styles: A cross-cultural perspective. *Global Journal of Business and Management*, 10(3), 26-33. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n3p26
- Mittal, R., & Elias, S. M. (2016). Social power and leadership in cross-cultural context. *Journal of Management Development*, 35, 58-74. doi:10.1108/JMD-02-2014-0020
- Mittal, S., & Dhar, R. L. (2015). Transformational leadership and employee creativity. *Management Decision*, 53, 894-910. doi:10.1108/MD-07-2014-0464
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212-1222. doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Muenjohn, N., & Armstrong, A. (2015). Transformational leadership: The influence of culture on the leadership behaviors of expatriate managers. *International Journal of Business and Information*, 2, 265-283. Retrieved from http://ijbi.org
- Mustafa, G., & Lines, R. (2016). The emergence and effects of culturally congruent leadership: Current status and future developments. *Entrepreneurial Business & Economics Review*, 4, 161-180. doi:10.15678/EBER.2016.040110
- Nasomboon, B. (2014). The relationship among leadership commitment, organizational performance, and employee engagement. *International Business Research*, 7(9), 77-90. doi:10.5539/ibrv7n9p77
- National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education. (2014). *Glossary*. Retrieved from http://ncate.org/Standards/UnitStandards/Glossary/tabid/477/Default.aspx
- Nguyen, H. T. K., & Nguyen, D. T. (2018). Globalization and bank performance in Vietnam. *Malaysian Journal of Economic Studies*, *55*, 49-70. doi:10.22452/MJES.vol55no1.3
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18, 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Normore, A., Hamdan, K., & Esposito, M. C. (2019). A cross-cultural perspective on leadership development programmes. *Journal of Educational Administration & History*, *51*(1), 1-4. doi:10.1080/00220620.2018.1508129
- Northouse, P. (2013). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Nunes, I. M., Felix, B., & Prates, L. A. (2017). Cultural intelligence, cross-cultural adaptation and expatriate performance: A study with expatriates living in Brazil. *Revista de Administração*, 52(3), 219-232. doi:10.1016/j.rausp.2017.05.010
- Oates, J. (2015). Use of Skype in interviews: The impact of the medium in a study of mental health nurses. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(4), 13-17. doi:10.7748/nr.22.4.13.e1318
- Obal, M., & Kunz, W. (2016). Cross-cultural differences in uses of online experts. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 1148-1156. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.08.030
- O'Cathain, A., Hoddinott, P., Lewin, S., Thomas, K. J., Young, B., Adamson, J., ...

  Donovan, J. L. (2015). Maximising the impact of qualitative research in

  feasibility studies for randomized controlled trials: guidance for researchers. *Pilot*and Feasibility Studies, 1(32), 1-32. doi:10.1186/s40814-015-0026-y
- Ogrean, C., & Herciu, M. (2016). Some insights on the changing architecture of the world's top 100 multinationals. *Studies in Business & Economics*, 11(3), 90-106. doi:10.1515/sbe-2016-0038
- O'Neill, J. R. J., & Nalbandian, J. (2018). Change, complexity, and leadership challenges. *Public Administration Review*, 78, 311-314. doi:10.1111/puar.12917
- Orange, A. (2016). Encouraging reflexive practices in doctoral students through research journals. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 2176-2190. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Owen, G. T. (2014). Evolution of a background check policy in higher education. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(39), 1-17. Retrieved from http://nova.edu/

- Ozertugrul, E. (2015). A comparative analysis heuristic self-search inquiry as self-knowledge and knowledge of society. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, *55*, 1-15. doi:10.1177/0022167815594966
- Packard, T., & Jones, L. (2015). An outcomes evaluation of a leadership development initiative. *Journal of Management Development*, *34*, 153-168. doi:10.1108/JMD05-2013-0063
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Paolucci, N., Dimas, I. D., Zappalà, S., Lourenço, P. R., & Rebelo, T. (2018).

  Transformational leadership and team effectiveness: The mediating role of affective team commitment. *Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *34*, 135-144. doi:10.5093/jwop2018a16
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(1), 1-7. doi:10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Pasricha, P., Singh, B., & Verma, P. (2017). Ethical leadership, organic organizational cultures and corporate social responsibility: An empirical study in social enterprises. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *151*, 941-958. doi:10.1007/s10551-017-3568-5

- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Paulin, D., & Suneson, K. (2015). Knowledge transfer, knowledge sharing and knowledge barriers—three blurry terms in KM. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 10, 81-91. Retrieved from http://ejkm.com
- Petronytė-Kvedarauskienė, D., & Gudaitė, G. (2016). Relationship with authority in narcissism. *International Journal of Psychology: A Biopsychosocial Approach / Tarptautinis Psichologijos Zurnalas: Biopsichosocialinis Poziuris*, 19, 71-88. doi:10.7220/2345-024X.19.4
- Potrafke, N. (2015). The evidence on globalization. *World Economy*, 38, 509-552. doi:10.1111/twec.12174
- Pradhan, S., & Jena, L. K. (2019). Does meaningful work explain the relationship between transformational leadership and innovative work behavior? *Vikalpa: The Journal for Decision Makers*, 44, 30-40. doi:10.1177/0256090919832434
- Prasad, B., & Junni, P. (2016). CEO transformational and transactional leadership and organizational innovation. *Management Decision*, *54*, 1542-1568. doi:10.1108/MD-11-2014-0651
- Presbitero, A. (2016). It's not all about language ability: Motivational cultural intelligence matters in call center performance. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28, 1-16. doi:10.1080/09585192.2015.1128464
- Presbitero, A., & Toledano, L. S. (2018). Global team members' performance and the roles of cross-cultural training, cultural intelligence, and contact intensity: The

- case of global teams in IT offshoring sector. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29, 2188-2208. doi:10.1080/09585192.2017.1322118
- Preuss, L., Barkemeyer, R., & Glavas, A. (2016). Corporate social responsibility in developing country multinationals: Identifying company and country-level influences. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 26, 347-378. doi:10.1017/beq.2016.42
- Qi, H., Smith, K. A., & Yeoman, I. (2018). Cross-cultural event volunteering: Challenge and intelligence. *Tourism Management*, 69, 596-604. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2018.03.019
- Quintana, T. A., Park, S., & Cabrera, Y. A. (2015). Assessing the effects of leadership styles on employees' outcomes in global luxury hotels. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 129, 469-489. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2170-3
- Ramsey, J. R., Rutti, R. M., Lorenz, M. P., Barakat, L. L., & Sant'anna, A. S. (2017).

  Developing global transformational leaders. *Journal of World Business*, 52, 461-473. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2016.06.002
- Rana, S., Ardichvili, A., & Polesello, D. (2016). Promoting self-directed learning in a learning organization: Tools and practices. *European Journal of Training & Development*, 40, 470-489. doi:10.1108/EJTD-10-2015-0076
- Raso, R., B. C. (2016). Leaders with style. *Nursing Management*, 47(8), 6. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000488860.39076.f1
- Ravasi, C., Salamin, X., & Davoine, E. (2015). Cross-cultural adjustment of skilled migrants in a multicultural and multilingual environment: An explorative study of foreign employees and their spouses in the Swiss context. *The International*

- Journal of Human Resource Management, 26, 1335-1359. doi:10.1080/09585192.2014.985328
- Ray, K., Decker, S., Mitsch, B., & Rocchetti, R. (2017). Creating a sustainable advantage through team building. *Employment Relations Today (Wiley)*, 44, 45-50. doi:10.1002/ert.21625
- Reichard, R. J., Serrano, S. A., Condren, M., Wilder, N., Dollwet, M., & Wendy, W. (2015). Engagement in cultural trigger events in the development of cultural competence. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *14*, 461-481. doi:10.5465/amle.2013.0043
- Reilly, P. (2015). Managing across borders and cultures. *Strategic HR Review*, *14*, 36-41. doi:10.1108/SHR-07-2014-0042
- Ridder, H. G. (2017). The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business Research 10*, 281-305. doi:10.1007/s40685-017-0045-z
- Robinson, O. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rodriguez, R. A., Green, M. T., Sun, Y., & Baggerly, H. B. (2017). Authentic leadership and transformational leadership: An incremental approach. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, *11*, 20-35. doi:10.1002/jls.21501
- Roebuck, D. B., Bell, R. L., Raina, R., & Lee, C. E. (2016). Comparing perceived listening behavior differences between managers and non-managers living in the

- United States, India, and Malaysia. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *53*, 485-518. doi:10.1177/2329488415572789
- Romainville, C. (2016). Cultural diversity as a multilevel and multifaceted legal notion operating in the law on cultural policies. *The International Journal of Cultural Policy: CP*, 22, 273-290. doi:10.1080/10286632.2014.959510
- Rowley, C., Oh, I., & Jang, W. (2019). New perspectives on East Asian leadership in the age of globalization: Local grounding and historical comparisons in the Asia Pacific region. *Asia Pacific Business Review*, 25, 307-315. doi:10.1080/13602381.2018.1557424
- Sacavém, A., Martinez, L. F., da Cunha, J. V., Abreu, A. M., & Johnson, S. K. (2017).

  Charismatic leadership: A study on delivery styles, mood, and performance. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 11, 21-38. doi:10.1002/jls.21519
- Salmon, J. (2015). Using observational methods in nursing research. *Nursing Standard*, 29(45), 36-41. doi:10.7748/ns.29.45.36.e8721
- Sattayaraksa, T. & Boon-itt, S. (2016). CEO transformational leadership and the new product development process: The mediating roles of organizational learning and innovation culture. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 6, 7-30. doi:10.1108/LODJ-10-2014-0197
- Saunder, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). Research methods for business students.

  Harlow, UK: Pearson Education Limited.
- Schedlitzki, D., Ahonen, P., Wankhade, P., Edwards, G., & Gaggiotti, H. (2017).

  Working with language: A refocused research agenda for cultural leadership

- studies. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 19, 237-257. doi:10.1111/ijmr.12100
- Schlägel, C., & Sarstedt, M. (2016). Assessing the measurement invariance of the fourdimensional cultural intelligence scale across countries: A composite model approach. *European Management Journal*, *34*, 633-649. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2016.06.002
- Schneider, A., & Schröder, T. (2012). Ideal types of leadership as patterns of affective meaning: A cross-cultural and overtime perspective. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 75, 268-287. doi:10.1177/0190272512446755
- Schneider, M. (2012). Your role in protecting research participants. *Nursing*, 42(1), 15-17. doi:10.1097/01.NURSE.0000408479.75208.1d
- Schoefer, K., Wäppling, A., Heirati, N., & Blut, M. (2019). The moderating effect of cultural value orientations on behavioral responses to dissatisfactory service experiences. *Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services*, 48, 247-256. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.02.009
- Sealey, L. J., & Hathorn, D. (2014). The lived experience of Honduran and USA nursing students working together in a study abroad program. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(48), 1-20. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/
- Seidle, B., Fernandez, S., & Perry, J. L. (2016). Do leadership training and development make a difference in the public sector? A panel study. *Public Administration*\*Review, 76, 603-613. doi:10.1111/puar.12531

- Sheng, M. L., Hartmann, N. N., Qimei, C., & Chen, I. (2015). The synergetic effect of multinational corporation management's social cognitive capability on tacit knowledge management: Product innovation ability insights from Asia. *Journal of International Marketing*, 23(2), 94-110. doi:10.1509/jim.14.0094
- Shirley, J. D., Fujiao X., & Ben, L. K. (2014, April). 2014 U.S. business needs for employees with global expertise. Paper presented at the Research Conference on National Needs and Policy Implications, Williamsburg, VA.
- Smith, J. A. (2015). *Qualitative psychology: A practical guide to research methods* (9th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Söderhjelm, T. M., Larsson, G., Sandahl, C., Björklund, C., & Palm, K. (2018). The importance of confidence in leadership role: A qualitative study of the process following two Swedish leadership programmes. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *39*, 114-129. doi:10.1108/LODJ-12-2016-0307
- Stern, S. (2013). Cross-cultural orientation on leadership styles in the Caribbean islands of Barbados, Jamaica, and Trinidad and Tobago (Doctoral dissertation).

  Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI 3597283).
- Stewart, D., Verbos, A. K., Birmingham, C., Black, S. L., & Gladstone, J. S. (2017).
  Being Native American in business: Culture, identity, and authentic leadership in modern American Indian enterprises. *Leadership*, 13, 549-570.
  doi:10.1177/1742715016634182

- Stone, D. L., & Deadrick, D. L. (2015). Challenges and opportunities affecting the future of human resource management. *Human Resource Management Review*, 25, 139-145. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2015.01.003
- Sucher, W., & Cheung, C. (2015). The relationship between hotel employees' cross-cultural competency and team performance in multinational hotel companies.

  \*International Journal of Hospitality Management, 49, 93-104.\*

  doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.05.007
- Sudha, K. S., Shahnawaz, M. G., & Farhat, A. (2016). Leadership styles, leader's effectiveness, and well-being: Exploring collective efficacy as a mediator. Vision: The Journal of Business Perspective, 20, 111-120. doi:10.1177/0972262916637260
- Sugiyama, K., Cavanagh, K. V., Van Esch, C., Bilimoria, D., & Brown, C. (2016).

  Inclusive leadership development. *Journal of Management Education*, 40, 253-292. doi:10.1177/1052562916632553
- Sukanya, R. (2015). The challenges of cross-cultural Issues in human resource management: A descriptive analysis. *Journal of Commerce & Management Thought*, 6, 100-109. doi:10.5958/0976-478x.2015.00007.5
- Tellado, I., Lopez-Calvo, L., & Alonso-Olea, M. J. (2014). Dialogic design of qualitative data collection for researching the mirage of upward mobility. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20, 856-862. doi:10.1177/1077800414537207

- Teoh, S., & Yazdanifard, R. (2015). Globalization of retailing and related cross-cultural issues. *International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics*, 2, 1088-1109. Retrieved from http://ijmae.com
- Thill, J. V., & Bovée, C. V. (2015). *Excellence in business communication* (11th ed.).

  Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Pearson Prentice-Hall. ISBN: 978-0-13-354417 6
- Thomas, E. & Magilvy, J. K. (2011) Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*, 151-155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Thomas, M., & Rowland, C. (2014). Leadership, pragmatism, and grace. *A Review Journal of Business Ethics*, 123, 99-111. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1802-3
- Thompson, B., Kirby, S., & Smith, K. (2016). Culture shapes the evolution of cognition.

  Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America,

  113, 4530-4535. doi:10.1073/pnas.1523631113
- Tran, V., Porcher, R., Falissard, B., & Ravaud, P. (2016). Point of data saturation was assessed using resampling methods in a survey with open-ended questions.

  \*\*Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 80, 88-96. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.07.014\*
- Trochim, W., Donnelly, J., & Arora, K. (2015). *Research methods: The essential knowledge base* (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Tsai, C.-J., Carr, C., Qiao, K., & Supprakit, S. (2019). Modes of cross-cultural leadership adjustment: Adapting leadership to meet local conditions and/or changing followers to match personal requirements? *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30, 1477-1504. doi:10.1080/09585192.2017.1289549

- Tsan, M. F., & Tsan, L. W. (2015). Assessing the quality of human research protection programs to improve protection of human subjects participating in clinical trials. *Clinical Trials*, 12, 224-231. doi:10.1177/1740774514568688
- Tsang, E. W. K. (2014). Case studies and generalization in information systems research:

  A critical realist perspective. *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 23, 174186. doi:10.1016/j.jsis.2013.09.002
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services [HHS]. (2014). *Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. Retrieved from http://hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Ullah, M. W., & Murad, M. W. (2016). Understanding the influences of the 'word culture course' on students' attitude and perception: An empirical study. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 50, 245-259. doi:10.1353/jda.2016.0128
- Uwuigbe, L. (2014). Experience of Nigerian managers in maximizing returns from information technology investments (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3641275)
- Vaiman, V., & Brewster, C. (2015). How far do cultural differences explain the differences between nations? Implications for HRM. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 26, 151-164. doi:10.1080/09585192.2014.937969
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 6, 100-110. doi:10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100

- Van Cauter, L., Verlet, D., Snoeck, M., & Crompvoets, J. (2017). The explanatory power of the Delone & McLean model in the public sector. A mixed method test. *Information Polity*, 22, 41-55. doi:10.3233/IP-170404
- Van Dierendonck, D., Sousa, M., Gunnarsdóttir, S., Bobbio, A., Hakanen, J., Verdorfer,
  A. P., & Rodriguez-Carvajal, R. (2017). The cross-cultural invariance of the servant leadership survey: A comparative study across eight countries.
  Administrative Sciences (2076-3387), 7, 1-11. doi:10.3390/admsci7020008
- Varaki, B. S., Floden, R. E., & Kalatehjafarabadi, T. J. (2015). Para-quantitative methodology: Reclaiming experimentalism in educational research. *Open Review of Educational Research*, 2, 26-41. doi:10.1080/23265507.2014.986189
- Vértesy D. (2017). Preconditions, windows of opportunity and innovation strategies:

  Successive leadership changes in the regional jet industry. *Research Policy*, 46,
  388-403. doi:10.1016/j.respol.2016.09.011
- Volz-Peacock, M., Carson B., & Marquardt, M. (2016). Action learning and leadership development. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, *18*, 318-333. doi:10.1177/1523422316645884
- Walden University. (2014). About us. Retrieved from http://waldenu.edu/about
- Walden University. (2015a). *Social change*. Retrieved from http://catalog.waldenu.edu/content.php?catoid=117&navoid=32335
- Walden University. (2015b). Office of research & sponsored programs: *Research*symposium. Retrieved from

  http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/orsp/researchsymposium

- Waldman, D. A., & Balven, R. M. (2015). Responsible leadership: Theoretical issues and research directions. *The Academy of Management Perspectives*, *30*, 19-29. doi:10.5465/amp.2014.0016.test
- Walker, J. L. (2018). Do methods matter in global leadership development? Testing the global leadership development ecosystem conceptual model. *Journal of Management Education*, 42, 239-264. doi:10.1177/1052562917734891
- Walshe, C., Ewing, G., & Griffiths, J. (2014). Using observation as a data collection method to help understand the patient and professional roles and actions in palliative care settings. *Palliative Medicine*, 26, 1048-1054. doi:10.1177/0269216311432897
- Wang, G., & Hackett, R. D. (2016). Conceptualization and measurement of virtuous leadership: Doing well by doing good. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 137, 321-345. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2560-1
- Waters, J. (2015). Snowball sampling: A cautionary tale involving a study of older drug users. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *18*, 367-380. doi:10.1080/13645579.2014.953316
- Watson, F. A. (2016). Lessons learned on approaches to data collection and analysis from a pilot study. *Nurse Researcher*, 24(1), 32-36. doi:10.7748/nr.2016.e1444
- Willgens, A. M., Cooper, R., Jadotte, D., Lilyea, B., Langtiw, C., & Obenchain-Leeson,
  A. (2016). How to enhance qualitative research appraisal: Development of the methodological congruence instrument. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 2380-2395.
  Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu

- Williams, S., & Turnbull, S. (2015). Developing the next generation of globally responsible leaders. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 17, 504-521. doi:10.1177/1523422315599623
- Winterbottom, M., Boon, H., Mior, S., & Caulfield, T. (2014). Informed consent for chiropractic care: The patient's experience. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 20, A140-A141. doi:10.1089/acm.2014.5376.abstract
- Wong, S. I., & Berntzen, M. N. (2019). Transformational leadership and leader—member exchange in distributed teams: The roles of electronic dependence and team task interdependence. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 92, 381-392. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2018.11.032
- Wong, V. C., & Wyer, Robert S., Jr. (2016). Mental traveling along psychological distances: The effects of cultural syndromes, perspective flexibility, and construal level. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 111, 17-33. doi:10.1037/pspa0000048
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2015). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS.ti and NVivo, 1994-2013.

  Social Science Computer Review, 34, 597-617. doi:10.1177/0894439315596311
- Wun, T., Payne, J., Huron, S., & Carpendale, S. (2016). Comparing bar chart authoring with Microsoft Excel and tangible tiles. *Computer Graphics Forum*, *35*, 111-120. doi:10.1111/cgf.12887

- Wyrick, C. (2015). The impact of diversity on global leadership performance. *Equality*, *Diversity & Inclusion*, 34, 561-563. doi:10.1108/EDI-02-2015-0008
- Xu, F., Caldwell, C., Glasper, K., & Guevara, L. (2015). Leadership roles and transformative duties preliminary research. *Journal of Management Development*, 34, 1061-1072. doi:10.1108/JMD-12-2014-0156
- Yadong, L., & Qinqin, Z. (2016). Competing in complex cross-cultural world. *Cross Cultural & Strategic Management*, 23, 386-392. doi:10.1108/CCSM-01-2016-0020
- Yahaya, R., & Ebrahim, F. (2016). Leadership styles and organizational commitment:

  Literature review. *Journal of Management Development*, *35*, 190-216.

  doi:10.1108/JMD-01-2015-0004
- Yang, I. (2016). Lost overseas? The challenges facing Korean transformational leadership in a cross-cultural context. *Critical Perspectives on International Business*, 2, 121-136. doi:10.1108/cpoib-09-2013-0036
- Yao, C., & Huang, P. (2018). Effects of leadership style on job satisfaction and intention to stay in shipping industry. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 83, 796-801. doi:10.2112/SI83-130.1
- Yin, R. K. (2011). *Qualitative research from start to finish* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Gilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and method* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks CA: Sage.

- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research: Design and method* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks CA: Sage.
- Zorn, S. F., Bellman, S., Robinson, J. A., & Varan, D. (2016). Cultural differences affect interactive television advertising. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 22, 3-17. doi:10.1080/13527266.2013.833539

## Appendix A: Interview Questions

I gave each participant the opportunity to answer the following open-ended questions in each interview. The central research question was: What cross-cultural strategies do business leaders need to expand their business operations into global markets?

## Interview questions

- 1. What are the major cross-cultural leadership challenges you faced leading employees from culturally diverse backgrounds when expanding into global markets?
- 2. What key barriers have you faced when leading employees from various culturally backgrounds when expanding into global markets?
- 3. What cross-cultural leadership strategies do you use to overcome these key barriers when expanding into global markets?
- 4. What cross-cultural leadership strategies do you use to motivate employees with diverse cross-cultural backgrounds in your company when expanding into global markets?
- 5. How do you measure the effectiveness of your motivation strategies?
- 6. What cross-cultural leadership strategies did you use to address the key risk factors that could affect the success of employees with diverse cultural backgrounds when expanding into global markets?
- 7. What other aspects, which were not mentioned in the questions above, do you consider important to mention?

## Appendix B: Interview Protocol

**Interview**: Local retail leaders' strategies used to lead workers from cross cultural environments because of the rise of globalization.

- A. I will hold the interview at a location convenient to the participants probably not at their workplaces.
- B. The face-to-face or the Skype interviews will begin with a brief introduction and an overview of the research topic.
- C. I will present my appreciation to the participant for attending the interview and demonstrate my concern about the sensitivity of their time.
- D. I will remind the participants that the interview will remain confidential.
- E. I will inform the participants that the interview will be recorded for accuracy and reliability purposes.
- F. During the interview, I will observe the participants' body languages and ask them follow-up questions as needed to get more in depth with the answer they provided.
- G. I will thank the participants at the end of the interviews and explain the next step, which is member checking and schedule a follow-up date and time with them.
- H. After I have concluded the study, transcribed and recorded findings, I will share a brief synthesis of the individual questions.
- I. I will bring probing questions related to other information that I may have found noting the information related to adhering to IRB approval.
- J. I will walk through each question, read the interpretation, and ask the participants if I miss anything and they have some additions.

K. At the conclusion of the study, I will provide the participant with a summary of the study findings.

Appendix C: Email Invitation to Participants

Dear {Participant},

My name is Yao Kossi. I am a doctoral candidate at Walden University. I would like to extend an invitation to you to participate in my research study. The purpose of my study is to explore cross-cultural leadership strategies local retail business leaders use to expand business operations into global markets. I hope to receive at least 6 volunteers to participate in this multiple case study.

If you are interested in participating, please review the attached informed consent form and feel free to ask any questions. You may reply to my local number, or notify me in person. The first 3 volunteers will be accepted as potential subjects. If you accept and are selected for this study, I would invite you to an informal meeting in a mutual location to discuss the purpose of the study. I will also review the informed consent form with you so that you have a thorough understanding of your participation in this study. If I receive more volunteers than the required amount or collected a sufficient amount of data, I will notify you by email of your status as a participant.

Thank you in advance for your consideration.

Respectfully,

Yao Kossi

**Doctoral Candidate** 

Doctor of Business Administration: Homeland Security